
 

 

 

NOTICE OF MEETING 
 

REGULATORY COMMITTEE 
 

Monday, 4th January, 2016, 7.00 pm - Civic Centre, High Road, 
Wood Green, N22 8LE 
 
Members: Councillors Peray Ahmet (Chair), Vincent Carroll (Vice-Chair), 
Dhiren Basu, David Beacham, John Bevan, Clive Carter, Natan Doron, 
Makbule Gunes, Toni Mallett, Peter Mitchell, James Patterson, James Ryan and 
Elin Weston 
 
Quorum: 3 
 
1. FILMING AT MEETINGS   

 
Please note this meeting may be filmed or recorded by the Council for live or 
subsequent broadcast via the Council’s internet site or by anyone attending 
the meeting using any communication method.  Although we ask members of 
the public recording, filming or reporting on the meeting not to include the 
public seating areas, members of the public attending the meeting should be 
aware that we cannot guarantee that they will not be filmed or recorded by 
others attending the meeting.  Members of the public participating in the 
meeting (e.g. making deputations, asking questions, making oral protests) 
should be aware that they are likely to be filmed, recorded or reported on.  By 
entering the meeting room and using the public seating area, you are 
consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and sound 
recordings. 
 
The Chair of the meeting has the discretion to terminate or suspend filming or 
recording, if in his or her opinion continuation of the filming, recording or 
reporting would disrupt or prejudice the proceedings, infringe the rights of any 
individual, or may lead to the breach of a legal obligation by the Council. 
 

2. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   
 

3. URGENT BUSINESS   
 
It being a special meeting of the Committee, under Part 4, Section B, 
paragraph 17 of the Council’s Constitution, no other business shall be 
considered at the meeting. 
 

4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST   
 
A member with a disclosable pecuniary interest or a prejudicial interest in a 
matter who attends a meeting of the authority at which the matter is 
considered: 



 

 

 
(i) must disclose the interest at the start of the meeting or when the interest 
becomes apparent, and 
(ii) may not participate in any discussion or vote on the matter and must 
withdraw from the meeting room. 
 
A member who discloses at a meeting a disclosable pecuniary interest which 
is not registered in the Register of Members’ Interests or the subject of a 
pending notification must notify the Monitoring Officer of the interest within 28 
days of the disclosure. 
 
Disclosable pecuniary interests, personal interests and prejudicial interests 
are defined at Paragraphs 5-7 and Appendix A of the Members’ Code of 
Conduct 
 

5. WOOD GREEN INVESTMENT FRAMEWORK & AREA ACTION PLAN: 
BROAD OPTIONS FOR REGULATION 18 CONSULTATION  (PAGES 1 - 
100) 
 
To consider four broad development options and the preferred option for how 
regeneration might take place in Wood Green and to recommend Cabinet 
approve release of the Wood Green Area Action Plan: Issues and Options 
Report for public consultation. 
 

6. PLANNING SERVICES 2015 REVIEW  (PAGES 101 - 146) 
 
To consider a report on the work of the Planning Service in 2015. 
 

7. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   
 
15 February 2016 
 
 

 
Maria Fletcher 
Tel – 020 8489 1512 
Fax – 020 8881 5218 
Email: maria.fletcher@haringey.gov.uk 
 
Bernie Ryan 
Assistant Director – Corporate Governance and Monitoring Officer 
River Park House, 225 High Road, Wood Green, N22 8HQ 
 
22 December 2015 
 



 

Page 1 of 21  

 
 

 
Report for:  Regulatory Committee 4th January 2016 
 
Item number:  
 
Title: Wood Green Investment Framework & Area Action Plan: 

Broad Options for Regulation 18 Consultation 
 
Report  
authorised by :  Lyn Garner, Director Regeneration, Planning & Development 
 
Lead Officer: Dan Hawthorn, Assistant Director for Regeneration 

Matthew Patterson, Head of Strategic Planning & Policy 
 
Ward(s) affected: Principally Noel Park but also Alexandra, Bounds Green, 

Harringay, Hornsey and Woodside. 
 
 
Report for Key/  
Non Key Decision: Key 
 
 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 

 
1.1 In October 2014 Cabinet agreed to commission an Investment Framework (IF) 

for Wood Green: a comprehensive and consistent plan that will determine how 
to fulfil the area‟s potential and to secure the investment needed to enable this.  
This approach will also enable and compel the Council to take a well-informed 
decision on its own accommodation and strategic use of its own land and 
property assets in the area. 
 

1.2 Alongside the Investment Framework it was proposed that an Area Action Plan 
(AAP) be prepared in parallel that would provide the planning policy framework 
and give statutory weight to the spatial development option to be progressed.  
 

1.3 Production of an Issues and Options document represents the first stage in the 
production of the AAP. This draws on the work and consultation undertaken to 
date on behalf of the Council by Fluid Design Ltd, supported by AECOM and 
DTZ (now Cushman and Wakefield), who have been commissioned to prepare 
the Investment Framework. The Issues and Options document will outline a 
number of broad development options, including a preferred option, for how 
growth and development might be accommodated within Wood Green to deliver 
upon the strategic objectives for the area.   
 

1.4 This report asks members to consider four broad development options and the 
preferred option for how regeneration might take place in Wood Green and 
seeks approval to carry out public consultation on these growth options through 
publication of the draft of the Wood Green Area Action Plan: Issues and Options 
Report (the „Wood Green AAP‟).   

 

Page 1 Agenda Item 5



 

Page 2 of 21  

1.5 The proposed consultation, under Regulation 18 of the Town & Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Act 2012, is part of the statutory plan 
making process.  It is expected that statutory consultation will take place 
between February and March 2016. Following public consultation, officers will 
analyse the comments received and will continue to engage key landowners 
and stakeholders (such as the GLA and TfL) in refinement of a final 
development option to be taken forward into a final draft of the Wood Green 
AAP. This final draft will then be reported back to Cabinet and Full Council to 
seek approval for pre-submission publication and submission to the Secretary 
of State for independent examination in public. 

 
1.6 This report also asks Members to approve the revised budget to complete the 

Wood Green Investment Framework to put in place the necessary staff and 
resources to manage the project effectively through to completion of the AAP 
and to commence the implementation stage. 
 

 
2. Cabinet Member Introduction 
 
2.1 Wood Green is at the heart of our borough and is home to a strong, diverse and 

mixed community.  
 

2.2 We know that in the coming years, many challenges and opportunities will 
present themselves. Crossrail 2 will revolutionise connectivity; development of 
the National Grid land with over 1,000 new homes will bring a whole new 
community or residents; while the continuing reduction in council staff because 
of government cuts will mean that many of the suite of municipal offices along 
Station Road and the Civic Centre simply aren‟t needed and can be re-
developed for other uses.  At the same time, we have a town centre which 
many residents feel does not serve their needs and an urban environment 
which can feel congested, badly designed and sometimes unsafe.  

 
2.3 It is clear that significant changes will come to Wood Green.  As a council we 

must be on the front foot, leading and shaping these changes to make sure that 
they deliver our residents‟ ambitions for the area and secure a strong and 
successful future for Wood Green. We must seize the opportunities open to us, 
and use them to tackle the problems and concerns raised by residents. 

 
2.4 To make this happen, we have been working with residents, businesses, local 

community groups, local councillors and wider stakeholders, to listen to 
people‟s ambitions for the area, but also to understand local concerns.  On the 
basis of this engagement, the architecture firm, Fluid, has summarised the 
options into four choices.  This paper proposes complete transformation as the 
preferred option – rebuilding part of the town centre, connecting the area more 
easily to Alexandra Palace and Park, creating a modern state of the art library 
and bringing thousands of new homes and new jobs.  

 
2.5 We want to know whether residents, businesses and councillors agree that 

what is being proposed is the best way to build a bright future for Wood Green, 
and this paper authorises the next stage of engagement.   The decisions we 
make about Wood Green – homes, the town centre, businesses and open 
space – will shape the area‟s fortunes for decades to come.   It is critical that we 

Page 2



 

Page 3 of 21  

make the right decisions and I hope that residents, businesses, community 
organisations and councillors will get fully involved in this consultation.  

 

 
 
3. Recommendations  

 
Regulatory Committee are asked to: 

 
3.1 Note the content of the draft Regulation 18 Wood Green Area Action Plan: 

Issues and Options Report (attached at Appendix 1). 
 
3.2 Recommend to Cabinet that the draft Regulation Wood Green Area Action Plan: 

Issues and Options Report is approved for publication and public consultation 
for a period of at least 6 weeks commencing in February 2016. 

 
 
4. Reasons for decision  
 
4.1 Haringey faces considerable challenges in planning for long term growth. 

Following the publication of the Further Alterations to the London Plan, the 
Borough‟s housing target has risen from 830 net new dwellings per year to 
1,502. In parallel, the borough has a target to increase employment levels by 
29% over the next 20 years. 

 
4.2 The Wood Green area (which includes the Chocolate Factory and Clarendon 

Road sites) is identified in the London Plan and the Haringey Local Plan as a 
Growth Area able to accommodate a significant portion of the borough‟s future 
development needs. Development opportunities have been identified in the Site 
Allocations DPD for sites along the railway, Clarendon Road, Coburg Road and 
the Council‟s own landholdings, including the Civic Centre, Station Road sites 
and the Wood Green Library site. However, at the moment there is no 
comprehensive long-term strategy for the future of the Metropolitan town centre 
and its hinterland and no policy framework in place to co-ordinate these 
development opportunities. 
 

4.3 The Investment Framework and Wood Green AAP are required to ensure there 
is a clear and structured plan for delivering change within this area that delivers 
on Council‟s and the community‟s aspirations for the place and maximises the 
benefits to be achieved from new development and strategic investment in 
infrastructure.  
 

4.4 Public consultation is an important statutory requirement in the preparation of 
the Local Plan and the documents cannot progress to submission stage of the 
process (to the Secretary of State for public examination) without carrying out 
this round of consultation. It is important the Council consults on these 
documents at the earliest opportunity to avoid delaying the adoption of the 
DPDs. 
 

5. Alternative options considered 
 

Page 3



 

Page 4 of 21  

5.1 If an Investment Framework and Area Action Plan were not developed and 
adopted, it is expected that the market will respond to increasing demand for 
residential and commercial development.  This risks jeopardising the council‟s 
ability to achieve a coherent placemaking approach and would be likely to see 
piecemeal, undesirable and sub-optimal development in the area.   

 
5.2 Proceeding without clear planning policy also risks the loss of Wood Green‟s 

current Metropolitan Town Centre status, as the developers and investors 
respond to short term commercial demands which may not correspond with 
longer-term, more coherent placemaking aspirations. The balance is likely to 
continue to shift in favour of convenience (everyday) versus comparison 
(destination) shopping, jeopardising the GLA threshold for Metropolitan Town 
Centre status. 

 
5.3 Without clear and adopted planning policies and a coherent regeneration 

programme, the Council will have reduced control over future development of its 
own land and property assets in Wood Green, limiting what can be achieved in 
delivering the council‟s housing and employment targets. 

 
5.4 Options regarding the content and timetable for the production of Haringey‟s 

Local Plan, including the Wood Green Area Action Plan, were considered in 
January 2015 by Cabinet  in the context of agreeing the revised Local 
Development Scheme. Therefore, no further options in respect of the 
preparation of an Area Action Plan or valid alternatives are considered in the 
context of preparing this report.  
 

5.4 All local development plan documents must comply with the requirements of 
Section 19 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (as amended) 
and Regulation 18 of the Town & Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) 
Act 2012.  There is therefore no alternative to consulting in accordance with 
these provisions.   

 
6. Background information 
 

Strategic Context 
6.1 The Council‟s Corporate Plan identifies Wood Green as one of the council‟s two 

priority regeneration areas, alongside Tottenham. The Haringey Strategic 
Policies DPD and the London Plan (2015), identifies the Wood Green area as a 
focus for considerable growth and development in the borough over the period 
of the Local Plan to 2026. Work on site opportunities, and the grant of planning 
permission on the Clarendon Road site, indicate that the area offers significant 
opportunity for urban renewal and intensification, providing the impetus to 
support economic development of the town centre. There is scope to provide at 
least 4,600 additional homes and 4,000 jobs on development sites in and 
around the town centre, including Council owned sites.  Further development 
potential will be supported by Crossrail 2, which is proposed to serve the area 
by 2030 with either new stations at Turnpike Lane and at Alexandra Palace, or 
one station located centrally within Wood Green. Comprehensive 
redevelopment of key sites should reinforce the Metropolitan Town Centre 
status, with improvements to connectiveity, urban realm, civic uses, social 
infrastructure and improvements to the range and quality of the retail and 
leisure offer to serve the wider area. 

Page 4



 

Page 5 of 21  

 
 Investment Framework and Area Action Plan 
6.2 To ensure development and growth takes place in a managed and coordinated 

manner and delivers the best outcomes for local residents and businesses, in 
October 2014 the Council‟s Cabinet agreed to commission an Investment 
Framework for Wood Green: a comprehensive and consistent plan that will 
determine how to fulfil the area‟s potential and to secure the investment needed 
to enable this.  This approach will also enable – and compel – the Council to 
take a well-informed decision on its own accommodation and strategic use of its 
own land assets in the area. 
 

6.3 Alongside the Investment Framework (IF) it was proposed that an Area Action 
Plan (AAP) be prepared in parallel that would provide the planning policy 
framework and give statutory weight to the spatial development option to be 
progressed.  
 

6.4 The IF and AAP are also essential in delivering priorities 4 and 5 of the 
Corporate Plan around securing inward investment, job creation, training and 
economic growth alongside accelerating housing delivery. 
 

6.5 Development on the scale planned for in Wood Green – underpinned by the IF 
and AAP - will also yield significant uplift in council tax and business rate 
income for the Council, providing a valuable income source in the context of 
central government funding reductions to allow the Council to continue to 
support its statutory obligations to children and vulnerable adults.   
 

6.6 Importantly, the Investment Framework and AAP will also help inform proposals 
for the Council‟s own land interests in the Wood Green area (on three clusters 
at the Civic Centre, River Park House/Station Road, and the Library site). This 
will ensure that decisions are based on a well-evidenced proposition that has 
regard to achieving the best possible development on those sites and 
maximising the wider regeneration objectives. In November 2015, the Cabinet 
agreed that these three clusters of Council land would very likely be included in 
the first phase of development undertaken by the Development Vehicle.  
 

6.7 Timing is also critical, with announcements on Crossrail 2 moving forward 
following TfL consultation and Government announcements in  autumn 2015, 
enhanced market interest in the area already demonstrable and an increasingly 
urgent need for a long-term council accommodation strategy. The Council has a 
relatively narrow window in which to establish and define its role as the „place 
leader‟ for Wood Green. 
 

6.8 The Wood Green IF and AAP is being prepared jointly with the Mayor of 
London‟s team at the Greater London Authority (GLA).  Its purpose is to give 
effect to the area‟s strategic identification as a growth area by setting out the 
policies, proposals and site allocations required to deliver and manage growth 
and development in the area in a comprehensive manner, ensuring it delivers 
the social, environmental and economic outcomes sought for the area. These 
include: 
 

Page 5



 

Page 6 of 21  

 Higher density and higher quality residential and mixed use development 

providing a minimum of 4,600 new homes and the creation of up to 4,000 

jobs; 

 Strengthening the role and function of Wood Green town centre as a 

prosperous Metropolitan centre within London; 

 Rejuvenation of the High Street and regeneration of former utilities & 

industrial sites ensuring that new employment led redevelopment 

contributes to the town centre‟s long-term growth and vitality; 

 Creating a clear context for development on key sites, including Council 

owned property interests; 

 Improving the amenity and connectivity of the High Street, and widening 

the town centre beyond the High Street itself; 

 Improving the image and perception of Wood Green ensuring the place 

has a clear narrative for its future and how this is to be achieved; 

 Increasing the area‟s „visibility‟ in a London context to ensure Wood 

Green secures appropriate levels of investment from private and public 

sector partners; 

 Ensuring new development and growth is matched by investment in 

infrastructure serving the area and the rest of the borough. 

 
Area Action Plan: Issues and Options 

6.9 The Issues and Options document represents the first stage in the AAP‟s 
production. It draws on the work and consultation undertaken to date on behalf 
of the Council and the GLA by Fluid, who have been commissioned to prepare 
the Investment Framework for the area. The Issues and Options document 
outlines four strategic development options, including a preferred option, for 
how growth and development might be accommodated within Wood Green to 
deliver the strategic objectives for the area. The options have been developed 
by a professional design team led by Fluid, supported by AECOM and 
Cushman & Wakefield, based upon a detailed analysis of the existing character 
and land uses across the area, a review of policy and the evidence base, and 
through the collation of issues, concerns and opportunities raised through 
consultation with landowners, businesses, residents and other users of the town 
centre and informed by the draft Housing Strategy and Economic Development 
& Growth Strategy. These evidence based documents will be made available to 
view on the Council‟s website as and when they are finalised. 

 
Summary of the four strategic development options are: 
  
6.10 Option 1: High Street Rejuvenation 

 
This option delivers the smallest degree of overall change and targets the 
rejuvenation of the high street by promoting a mix of retail, service and leisure 
provision, complemented by residential development. Though this is the most 
modest proposal it is worth noting that the minimum provision of new town 
centre houses (4,600) and additional employment floorspace of 34,067m2 

represents a considerable scale of development in its own right. 
 

Page 6



 

Page 7 of 21  

6.11 Option 2: Residential Led Town Centre 
 

This option proposes a mid range level of change through pursuing a residential 
led regeneration approach that seeks to bring about wider change by growing 
mixed and balanced communities and a demand economy. The scenario 
anticipates a more tightly defined town centre heart with the council front office 
located on the high street in this proposal, on the current site of the library, 
which could also be incorporated in the new development. The council back 
office and civic accommodation would be located on Coburg Road. Residential 
development is fully encouraged in this scenario, achieving 5,000 new homes, 
both on the full range of town centre sites, including (above retail and other 
uses) and 41,793m2  of additional employment floorspace along the high street 
down to Turnpike Lane, and as a proportionately higher mix within the proposed 
live/work development of the creative quarter.  
 
6.12 Option 3: Comprehensive Redevelopment 

 
This option is as that promoted by Option 4 below but with the key difference 
being that the area is served by two Crossrail 2 stations (Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace). This arrangement would not permit the intensification of 
change described in Option 4 below but it would still support comprehensive 
redevelopment tackling all key town centre sites and provide 55,049m2 of 
employment floorspace and 5,500 new homes. Under this option the heart of 
the town centre begins to expand westward into Clarendon Road, with the 
Council‟s front and back office functions being relocated in the vicinity of the 
existing Wood Green library near a major new public space. There is the 
opportunity for a new cultural/educational institution to be located on Coburg 
Road to become part of the overall mix of active uses in this area set within a 
more pedestrian friendly and permeable urban town centre environment. This 
option may also necessitate the redevelopment of the shopping mall to allow for 
an „opening-up‟ of the High Street to the development that will take place 
around Clarendon Road and to accommodate a significant amount of housing. 
 
6.13 Option 4: Complete Transformation 

 
This option promotes a complete transformation of the town centre through 
significant interventions aimed at unlocking the development potential of the 
wider town centre area through radical changes in the layout of existing urban 
blocks. It promotes shifting the heart of the town centre further down High Road 
to benefit from a new Crossrail 2 station that will be located below a new public 
square in the vicinity of the current library, at the heart of the new town centre. 
Around this square taller buildings would be located while the depth of both 
sides of the High Road would expand to provide larger retail floorplates with 
greater potential for residential above. Under this option The Mall would be 
redeveloped to maximise the uplift of the Crossrail 2 station while the Hornsey 
Water Treatment Works site is identified as a long-term opportunity to 
strengthen and cement better links with Alexandra Park and Palace. This option 
places an emphasis on economic regeneration, striving to significantly increase 
and enhance the amount of workspace and retail spaces (57,048m2 
employment floorspace) while also delivering a significant uplift in housing at 
5,500 new homes above the baseline minimum of 4,600. Under this option the 
Council‟s front office is relocated to the vicinity of the existing Wood Green 

Page 7



 

Page 8 of 21  

library while back-office and civic functions anchor a new mixed-use quarter 
centred around Coburg Road and including the Chocolate Factory and 
Clarendon Road, creating more logical and legible east-west linkages. North of 
Station Road high-density residential development lines both Station Road and 
High Road and then transitions in scale into the existing suburban hinterland. 

 
6.14 The Preferred Option 

The 4 options outlined above have been assessed in relation to their potential 
contribution to enhancing the town centre‟s performance (maintaining its 
Metropolitan Town Centre status) and delivering increases in both housing and 
employment.  Option 4 most closely meets the strategic objectives for 
regeneration and growth in and around Wood Green town centre.  If a new 
Crossrail2 station is located in central Wood Green, option 4 is most compatible 
with the scale of growth and densisties of land uses for both residential and 
commercial development over a 15 year period. 
 

6.15 Testing the Preferred Option 
The purpose of the Issues and Options stage is to invite public and stakeholder 
views and comments on the alternative spatial development options, enable 
consultees to offer up further information, and to test the preferred option as the 
most appropriate option on which to prepare the final document. To assist 
consultees, the AAP includes details on development and land use distribution 
across the area for each option, an indication of the resulting built form, an 
analysis of likely performance against the strategic objectives for the area, and 
delivery implications, including infrastructure requirements. A Sustainability 
Appraisal (SA) will be undertaken of the AAP, the purpose of which is to identify 
the potential positive and negative social, economic and environmental impacts 
likely to arise as a result of implementing the various development options 
proposed. The SA is to be published alongside the Issues and Options Report, 
to assist consultees in making an informed decision about which option they 
might prefer.  
 
Stages and Status of the Area Action Plan 

6.16 At an early stage of the plan-making process - providing opportunity for the 
community and stakeholders to comment on different spatial development 
options – the Issues and Options consultation document is a material 
consideration but with limited weight.   
 

6.17 Following the close of consultation, the analysis of comments made and the 
Council‟s response to these will be reported to the Regulatory Committee for its 
consideration, prior to further work being undertaken on the next stage of the 
Area Action Plan – the preparation of the pre-submission document.   

 
6.18 The next stage, once consultation feedback has been considered, will be 

preparation of the pre-submission version. This represents the version of the 
AAP that the Council would wish to adopt if it could. The pre-submission version 
– once approved by Cabinet - is again published for consultation and subject to 
independent examination, and begins to carry more material weight in the 
consideration of planning applications. Eventually the AAP will be formally 
adopted (expected September 2017) and will form part of the borough‟s 
statutory Local Plan to be used to set the development blue print for the area, 

Page 8



 

Page 9 of 21  

against which the appropriateness of new development proposals will be 
appraised.  
 
Relationship with other Local Plan documents 

6.18 The Wood Green AAP is to give effect to the spatial strategy and strategic 
policies for the borough as set out in the Core Policies DPD. As necessary, the 
AAP will include development management policies and site allocations specific 
to delivering the development and land use outcomes sought for the Wood 
Green area and the places within it.  The policies are likely to either 
complement or replace the borough-wide policies contained in the Development 
Management Policies DPD, while the site allocation in the AAP will supersede 
those currently set out in the Site Allocations DPD. 
 

6.19 The timing of the stages in preparing the Wood Green IF and AAP are set out 
below:   
 

Item Dates 

Stage 2 Consultation – Specific group workshop 
Presentation of strategic objectives and principles 

October 2015 

Community Liasion Group - Feedback & review 27th October 2015 

Public Consultation– Exhibition displaying feedback from 
early consultation & presentation of Objectives and 
Emerging Principles 

17th-21st November 
2015 

Councillor Workshop - Feedback and review 8
th
 December 

CAB meeting – Presentation of options & draft Cabinet 
Report  

8
th
  December 2015  

Regulatory Committee  4th January 2016 

Cabinet Meeting 19 January 2016 

Regulation 18 Statutory Public Consultation February – March 2016 

Final IF report End May 2016 

Cabinet Meeting Regulation 19 & IF sign off September 2016 

Submission & Independent Examination of the AAP January – July 2017 

Adoption of AAP by Secretary of State September 2017 

 
Consultation and engagement to date  

6.20 In June 2015 the Council appointed Soundings, a consultation agency to deliver 
a range of public, resident and stakeholder consultation events on Wood 
Green‟s Future over and above the statutory public consultation on the Area 
Action Plan.  The intention was to capture the views and concerns of the widest 
possible group of stakeholders, including those who may not normally respond 
to statutory consultations. 

 
6.21 During summer 2015, pop up consultation events were held outside the Vue 

Cinema, outside Wood Green library and in Lymington Avenue.  These events 
involved asking residents and passersby their views of Wood Green, what is 
positive, negative and what they think needs to change.  Over 250 views were 
collected on canvass cards and analysed to inform the next stage of 
consultation.   

 
6.22 A walk and talk event took place in September which collected residents views 

on specific spatial and behavioural issues in the town centre. 
 

Page 9



 

Page 10 of 21  

6.22 A Community Liaison Group was formed in September 2015. This is a more 
focused group made up of representatives of tenants and residents 
associations, police, housing associations and community groups.  This group 
will act as a soundingboard for the emerging regeneration plans.  

 
6.23 18,000 flyers with information about the events and links to the Wood Green‟s 

Future webpages were distributed to residential and business addresses in 
Wood Green. An on-line survey was made available on the council‟s webpage 
and referenced on the publicity. 

 
6.24 During November 2015 a series of public exhibitions and focused workshops 

took place in Wood Green library and in community venues (including Sky City 
Community Centre).  At these events, more detailed exhibition boards were 
available, providing feedback on the initial consultation in summer 2015 and 
asking residents and visitors to respond to specific issues under the following 
eight headings: 

 
1. Belong 
2. Live 
3. Shop 
4. Enjoy 
5. Work 
6. Connect 
7. Respect 
8. Quick wins 

 
6.24 Four smaller focused workshops were also held during November which were 

able to focus on specific key sites. The Soundings and Fluid teams also 
undertook a series of stakeholder meetings and interviews with landowners, 
tenants and businesses to test and record views and issues on the emerging 
options. 

 
6.26 Summary of responses to public consultation November 2015 
 

1. Background/general observations 
Over 300 people attended the Wood Green‟s Future exhibition and associated 
events. Additional consultation events included a drop-in at Sky City, four focus 
sessions at the Karamel Café, Sandbunker Community Centre, the West Indian 
Cultural Centre and the Library and the first formal meeting of the Community 
Liaison Group, attended by 29 people, comprising a good number of 
representatives from local residents‟ associations and community organisations.  

 
The main exhibition took place at Wood Green Library over five days between 
17th and 21st November. This was a good location. It was consistently busy on 
all days, both with passers-by and those who chose to come along as a result 
of the 18,000 flyers dropped to residential addresses. 

 
As was expected, there were a wide range of responses, concerns and queries, 
but overall comments were mostly positive and enthusiastic about the prospect 
of change recognising the need to enhance the town centre and unlock its 
potentials. Some were cautious about the benefits for Wood Green and for local 
residents.  

Page 10



 

Page 11 of 21  

 
Some residents were sceptical about the word „regeneration‟ and associated it 
with gentrification and were concerned that the result of Wood Green being 
regenerated would mean local people would be „priced out‟ of shopping or living 
in the area.  

 
A few consultees asked about how the development and regeneration will be 
paid for, some assuming it would come from the council‟s budgets.  Others 
expressed concerns that the council will be “gaining financially at the expense 
of existing WG residents” by selling off its assets. 

 
There were concerns about CR2 and other development causing disruption and 
congestion for existing residents, the town centre “being a building site for 5-10 
years”. 

 
Definition of Wood Green AAP area - some concerns from residents living 
outside the boundary that they may miss out on benefits of regeneration but still 
have to endure the disruption that the project would entail. 

 
2. Housing  
There were many questions and concerns about the future of housing. Most 
consultees understood the need to provide new housing in significant numbers 
to respond to the housing crisis, but were worried about the impact on 
affordability and access to decent housing for them and their family. A number 
of respondents want to see a better range and mix of housing to reflect a 
balanced community. Residents met on the Sky City estate expressed the need 
for improved housing conditions but at the same time were unsure about the 
impact of any redevelopment of The Mall and the prospect of an increase in 
rents. 
 
The Traveller‟s community have specific concerns about development of the 
Civic Centre site (a specific consultation session will be organised via Haringey 
Travelling Peoples Team).  

 
3. Crossrail2 route 

Routing of Crossrail 2 through Wood Green (either at Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace or the alternative Wood Green central option) was on the 
whole seen as an exciting and positive prospect. There was support for the 
Wood Green option, but also views that this would involve disruption and 
congestion for existing residents.  Several people asked why CR2 in WG and 
not in for instance, Muswell Hill. Some concerns about impact of CR2 
construction on existing homes – e.g. noise, dust, traffic disruption potential 
subsidence or structural problems to their houses due the tunnelling. 

 
Many consultees understood the need to protect the future economy of Wood 
Green, and to provide more housing and jobs, but asked what is there to protect 
them as existing residents from negative impacts and increased cost of housing 
and shopping. 

 
4. Social dividend  

Page 11



 

Page 12 of 21  

Some people thought that the real test of whether regeneration worked or not 
would be if you could demonstrate what local residents on low incomes gained 
from it. 

 
To this end there were quite a few requests for incorporating leisure and 
community facilities: 

 

 Swimming pool (convertible to other uses eg dance floor / events space) 

 Leisure Centre (though it was noted that the White Hart Lane Centre is close 
by) 

 Gym (subsidised for local people) 

 Homelessness services (food, shelter, showers, employment advice) 

 Community centres 

 Youth services and activities 

 Mental health services 

 Range of services for older people (e.g. podiatry) 

 Accessibility for those with disability generally 
 
It was argued that investment in these services will reap future rewards in 
combating social isolation, improved health, well-being and reduction in ASB 
and crime. 

 
It was generally agreed that the area needs more places to socialise for the 
whole community, more evening activities and that as well as more and varied 
food and beverage offer, the provision of public spaces that are „free‟ to use is 
important. Some suggested that a modernised and multi-functioning library 
could fulfil this social role. 

 
5. Culture, heritage and identity 

People are proud of living in Wood Green, whilst agreeing it needs to change to 
address current issues. Many attendees were interested to see the number of 
local assets identified, including the multi-cultural markets whilst others were 
proud to see their space displayed, showing the value of promotion in changing 
perceptions of the area. The majority agreed that enhancing local assets such 
as the architecture, shop fronts, cultural activities and identities, multi-cultural 
food and local production, as well as greenery and nature is important.  

 
In general people felt the area lacks a cultural focus even though it is ethnically 
diverse. Some people suggested that there is a need for small cultural venues 
such as a theatre, a music space or art gallery. A number of people noted the 
area‟s historical link to art and technology (Hornsey Art School and Lotus car 
factory) and that this should be reflected in the areas future distinctive identity.  

 
6. Town centre/shopping 

Most agree the current shopping offer is poor quality and monotonous with too 
many value stores, betting shops and fast food outlets, many residents chose to 
shop elsewhere. Generally people want to see greater variety and quality and 
the return of department stores such as M&S. They also want to see a mix of 
independent shops such as florists, furniture, DIY and health shops as well as 
nationwide retailers and higher end shops. Others said there was a need for 
alternative activities on the High Street such as cultural and social enterprises. 

Page 12



 

Page 13 of 21  

Younger people in particular are not attracted to the High Street as it lacks 
activities and leisure options, with few places to hangout. Lack of good evening 
economy means the town centres feels different after 7pm, making it an 
unpleasant and unsafe environment. Many local people have told us that they 
avoid the town centre at night time for eating out and entertainment because 
they don‟t feel safe and choose to go elsewhere.  

 
There were some comments about businesses taking greater responsibility for 
maintenance and repair of shabby shop fronts and forecourts. 
 
Many people recognised the issues created by the Mall building and many felt 
that opening the centre of Wood Green and creating traditional blocks with a 
mix of shops, leisure and communities activities and housing on the top would 
be a very good idea. Some concern was raised about the feasibility and impact 
of such a big and bold transformation. Others commented that they would 
support major change so long as new and suitable housing for Sky City 
residents and adequate car parking solutions (such as underground) are 
provided. A few feel that the bridge provides a safe and weather proof crossing 
and were concerned about pedestrian safety should the area be re-developed.  

 
7. Public and green spaces 

Many people told us the High Street is not pedestrian friendly and is considered 
dangerous, especially for the disabled. There is a lack of seating areas, space 
for activities, use of public art as well as a lack of green space stopping people 
spending more time and enjoying the High Street. 
Many people felt there is a real shortage of parks and open spaces around 
Wood Green but the existing parks and certain areas around public buildings 
are underused or misused. They need to be better designed and should offer 
more outdoor activities and events to support the social life of the community.  
A few said that it was very important to improve the connection with Alexandra 
Park which they consider is a wonderful conservation area, by making the route 
there more attractive. 

 
8. Parking and Transport 

A large number of people would like to see the High Road made more 
pedestrian and cycle friendly. Options mentioned range from excluding cars and 
motorcycles and allowing pedestrian crossing everywhere to at least adding 
cycling lanes and reducing the speed limit to 10km/h. 
Others are concerned that reducing traffic on the main road will increase rat 
running and bring more cars and busses onto residential streets. 
A lot was said about the bus garage and the demand for a bus station. Some 
said there is no need to have a bus garage in the centre. Others said that a real 
bus station would help decrease congestion on the roads. Some participants 
suggested a good location for a new bus station would be the site of the 
existing Bingo Hall and/or Vue Cinema and others that the existing bus garage 
could be re-developed with housing or other functions built above. 

 
9. Work/Chocolate Factory 

Many said the Chocolate Factory could be a major place in Wood Green to 
create jobs and provide education, especially around the theme of “making”. 
Suggestions are: a new chocolate factory, light industry for local production, 
recycling workspace, spaces for start-ups and spaces to expand into. 

Page 13



 

Page 14 of 21  

 
Most agreed the Chocolate Factory should be made more accessible by 
celebrating the history of the area and promoting the current creative uses with 
better signage, more direct routes, a better visual link and more public activities 
such as the children‟s playground and Karamel Café.  

 
A number of participants have said that the area could help make Wood Green 
unique and innovative with new shops or new houses located there. 
Suggestions include: colourful buildings and pavements, a waste art shop, 
outlet shops selling local products, a “Made in Wood Green” label.  
 

10. New Connections 
People generally support the idea of new and improved east west links 
especially to address dangerous crossings and to access Alexandra Palace. 
Several participants said that street lighting should be improved whilst others 
mentioned that the hill up to Alexandra Palace is a barrier to movement and 
more buses are needed, or other solutions. 

 
11. Other – Quick Wins  

Generally people are supportive of measures to improve the environment with 
many concerned about pollution and air quality. It is suggested that the creation 
of more parks, tree planting in the centre and green roofs and rooftop gardens 
would help address this.  
People understand that this is a long-term project and that there is a need to 
improve things in the short term using „Quick Wins‟. Some people suggested 
that such „meanwhile projects‟ could be developed involving young people or 
students of architecture and design.  People would like to see BBQs in parks, 
vacant buildings used for the homeless, and support for start-ups.  

6.27 Wood Green Business Forum 
The newly-formed Wood Green Business Forum has provided a business voice 
to respond to the emerging regeneration proposals. 

 
6.28 The responses to these consultation and stakeholder exercises were analysed 

and used to develop 4 broad options and the preferred option (outlined above), 
which will be subject to statutory public consultation in February/March 2016. 

 
Proposed Consultation 

 
6.29 A six week programme of public consultation is scheduled from February to 

March 2016. Consultation on the AAP will be undertaken in accordance with the 
standards set out in the Council‟s Statement of Community Involvement, which 
was recently reviewed and updated.  

 
6.30 Community engagement specialists Soundings are working with the council to 

facilitate a range of opportunities for local residents and businesses engage 
with and input into the process over and above the statutory Regulation18 
consultation. 

 
6.31 This will include a public exhibition in Wood Green library setting out the options 

as well as smaller more focused workshop in a range of community and faith 
venues to reach the widest possible cross-section of the community.  

Page 14



 

Page 15 of 21  

Consultation will include notification to affected landowners and occupiers, as 
well as statutory bodies and those organisations, residents and community 
groups registered on the Council‟s Local Plan database. The documents will be 
made available on line at a dedicated webpage 
[www.haringey.gov.uk/woodgreenregeneration], and hard copies at Council 
buildings (River Park House, the Civic Centre, all Council Libraries) and at a 
series of proposed meetings and presentations.   

 
6.32 This round of Regulation 18 public consultation is to build on previous public 

consultation undertaken during development of the IF report in summer/autumn 
2015 to ensure that the public and other consultees have an opportunity to have 
formal input into shaping the outcomes of the policies prior to Regulation 19 
publication.  

 
 
Relationship with other Local Plan documents 

6.33 The Wood Green AAP is to give effect to the spatial strategy and strategic 
policies for the borough as set out in the Core Policies DPD. As necessary, the 
AAP will include development management policies and site allocations specific 
to delivering the development and land use outcomes sought for the Wood 
Green area and the places within it.  The policies are likely to either 
complement or replace the borough-wide policies contained in the Development 
Management Policies DPD, while the site allocation in the AAP will supersede 
those currently set out in the Site Allocations DPD.  
 
Resource Implications 

6.34 As part of the Cabinet approval to the Investment Framework approach in 
October 2014, members were also asked to note the funding position and 
support the process for securing external funding. The Cabinet report also 
noted that the funding sources were not confirmed at the time of the report, and 
that the project should only proceed once sufficient funding for each element of 
the project was secure.  It was explicitly highlighted in the report that there was 
a risk that not all funding required to fully deliver this project can be externally 
sourced and thus Cabinet may need to agree more funding at a later date. 

 
6.35 The current and projected funding position is shown in the table below: 

 

Budget Requirement / Projected Spend 2015/16 2016/17 

  £000s £000s 

Investment Framework 462 165 

Resources/professional fees 261 401 

Traffic and transport modelling based on preferred option 40   

Disbursements (consultation materials, internal legal and planning 
fees, surveys etc) 

27 68 

Contingency/other 10 60 

Total 800 694 

      

Existing Funding     

New Homes Bonus returned -300   

Page 15



 

Page 16 of 21  

Section 106 -30 -10 

Existing budgets -100 -90 

Advisory Group contribution -60 -35 

Urban Renewal Fund Bid approved -275   

Total -765 -135 

      

Gap 35 559 

 
6.36 In September 2015 the project reached the point where the options to secure 

external funding had been explored via detailed discussions with landowners 
and other key stakeholders that form an Advisory Group to the project. Council 
funding required between October 2015 and January 2016 for modelling and 
consultation was therefore agreed by the Chief Operating Officer under 
delegated authority.   Further Council funding is therefore now required to 
produce a complete Investment Framework and Area Action Plan, and put in 
place the necessary staff and resources to manage the project effectively 
through to completion of the AAP and then begin the implementation stage. 
 

6.37 The forecast costs include provision for the posts of Programme Manager and 
Business Engagement Manager to continue until the end of 2016/17 in order to 
start the detailed planning for implementation of the Investment Framework 
proposals as the next stage of work together with other expected project costs 
such as feasibility studies, valuation advice, disbursements (consultation 
materials, internal legal and planning fees, surveys etc) and contingency, plus 
additional planning support costs required to take the AAP through to 
completion. 
 

6.38 The total funding gap of £559,000 (to programme end in March 2017) could be 
reduced if further contributions can be secured from an Advisory Group of major 
local landowners, although the Council would need to be assured that this 
funding does not come attached with unacceptable conditions.  It would be 
further reduced in the event that contingency provisions and other provisions for 
fees are not fully required.   
 

7. Contribution to strategic outcomes 
 

7.1 The Investment Framework and Area Action Plan are essential in delivering 
upon priorities 4 and 5 of the Corporate Plan, i.e. securing inward investment, 
job creation, training and economic growth alongside accelerating housing 
delivery.  Wood Green is identified in Priority 4 as one of the council‟s 
regeneration priority areas, alongside Tottenham.   
 

7.2 Development on the scale planned for in Wood Green – underpinned by the 
Investment Framework and Area Action Plan - will also yield significant uplift in 
council tax and business rate income for the council providing a valuable 
income source in the context of central government funding reductions to allow 
the council to continue to support its statutory obligations. 
 

8. Comments from Regulatory Committee 

 

Page 16



 

Page 17 of 21  

8.1 To be included following Special Regulatory Committee meeting on 4th January 
 
 
9. Statutory Officers comments (Chief Finance Officer (including 

procurement), Assistant Director of Corporate Governance, Equalities) 
 
Finance 
To date the Wood Green Regeneration project has largely been funded from 
external sources with limited budget required from the Council as outlined in the 
Table at 6.34. The main external source was GLA grant funding in the form of 
returned New Homes Bonus monies, but some funding has also been received 
from the Advisory Group. The main Council funding was an approved bid 
against the Urban Renewal Reserve that enabled the project to progress to this 
stage. 

 
In order to fund the project through to the end of 2016-17 and completion of the 
Investment Framework and AAP a further £594k of funding is required. 
Although the service will endeavour to secure further external funding that may 
reduce that amount it is necessary, it is appropriate that this is agreed in 
principle from the Urban Renewal Reserve to give certainty of funding.  

 
Completion of the Investment Framework and AAP is expected to be a 
significant step in assuring that Wood Green can make a significant contribution 
to Council priority 4 around Economic Growth. As central government grant is 
expected to completely disappear in coming years, the Council will be wholly 
dependant on Council Tax and Business Rates income to fund it‟s activities in 
the future and thus Housing and Business growth is fundamental to the 
Council‟s long-term financial viability. 

 
Procurement 
The Consultant has been appointed in accordance with the procedures under 
the ADUP GLA Framework Agreement – Lot 1 Urban Strategies and Area 
Plans. 
 
The Construction Procurement Group (CPG) have no reasons preventing the 
Chief Operating Officer from approving the recommendations. 

 
Legal 
 
The Assistant Director of Corporate Gorvernance has been consulted on the 
preparation of this report and comments as follows: 

 
The  Wood Green AAP, when adopted, will form part of the Local Plan  which is 
a statutory development plan against which any subsequent applications for 
planning permission within the relevant areas would be tested. 

 
That being the case, there is a formal process set out in the Town and Country 
Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 to be complied with, the 
first stage of which is the Regulation 18 consultation with such of the specific 
consultation bodies as the Council consider may have an interest in the subject 
of the proposed Wood Green AAP, along with such of the general consultation 
bodies as the Council considers appropriate and such residents or other 

Page 17



 

Page 18 of 21  

persons carrying on business in the Council‟s area from which the Council 
considers it appropriate to invite representations. This exercise should also be 
carried out in accordance with the Council‟s Statement of Community 
Involvement. 

 
There is a requirement that the Alterations to the Local Plan (and this includes 
the Wood Green AAP) must be in conformity with the London Plan and in 
preparing the Wood Green AAP, the Council must take into account any 
representation made to them in response to the Regulation 18 consultations. 

 
Under the Localism Act 2011 there is placed on plan making authorities a 
statutory duty to co-operate with adjoining authorities and prescribed bodies 
and persons in the preparation of development plan documents and local 
development documents. This duty requires active and constructive 
engagement with those parties and to have regard to the activities of those 
parties. 

 
Thereafter the documents must be published pursuant to Regulation 19 by the 
Council, together with other “proposed submission documents”, before they can 
be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate for examination. This provides a 
formal opportunity for the local community and other interests to consider and 
comment on the documents, which the Council would like to adopt. 

 
There is recent authority which sends out a stark warning to Councils preparing 
local plans which rely on pre-National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
housing figures which held that the policy change brought about by the NPPF is 
“radical” and that it cannot be met simply by transposing the Planning Policy 
Statement 3 (PPS3) approach – balancing need, demand and other questions 
of policy. Paragraph 47 of the NPPF requires plan-makers to take a discrete 
step which was not required under PPS3: the express identification of a figure 
for full objectively assessed housing need. In taking that first step, the Court 
accepted that earlier figures from regional strategies can form a relevant 
starting point, but must be regarded with “extreme caution”. The Court also 
confirmed that “the needs assessment, objectively arrived at, is not affected in 
advance of the production of the Local Plan, which will then set the requirement 
figure” applies to plan-making as well as to decision-taking. 

 
In carrying out the consultation the Council must follow the  general principles of 
consultation set out by the Supreme Court: 

• That consultation must be at a time when proposals are still at a 
formative stage; 

• That the proposer must give sufficient reasons for any proposal to permit 
intelligent consideration and response; 

• That adequate time must be given for consideration and response; and 
• That the product of consultation must be conscientiously taken into 

account in finalising any statutory proposals. 
 

In short, in order to achieve the necessary degree of fairness, the obligation is 
to let those who have a potential interest in the subject matter know in clear 
terms what the proposal is and exactly why it is under positive consideration, 
telling them enough (which may be a good deal) to enable them to make an 

Page 18



 

Page 19 of 21  

intelligent response. The obligation, although it may be quite onerous, goes no 
further than this. 
 
Equality 
The Council has a public sector equality duty under the Equalities Act (2010) to 
have  due regard to: 
a) tackle discrimination and victimisation of persons that share the 

characteristics protected under S4 of the Act. These include the 
characteristics of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage and civil 
partnership, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (formerly 
gender) and sexual orientation; 

b) advance equality of opportunity between people who share those 
protected characteristics and people who do not; 

c) foster good relations between people who share those characteristics and 
people who do not 

 
The Area Action Plan: Issues & Options publication clearly sets out information 
on the current population profile and characteristics of the Wood Green area. 
This contextual information has been factored into the four options that are 
being put forward for consultation, and its presentation will help inform 
consultees when considering their response.  
 
Following the end of the consultation on the Area Action Plan: Issues and 
Options publication, and subject to a decision to move onto the next stage of 
developing a formal Area Action Plan, a full Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) 
will be undertaken to accompany the Sustainability Appraisal into the preferred 
option. This EqIA would assess the potential impact of the preferred option for 
Wood Green Regeneration on different groups of residents, and put forward 
measures and actions that would mitigate any potential adverse impacts and 
enhance equality of opportunity and good relations for all groups.   
 

 
10. Use of Appendices 

 
Appendix 1 – Wood Green AAP Issues & Options Report  
Appendix 2 – Consultation Programme 
 

11. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 
The following documents were used in the preparation of this report: 
 

 Sustainability Appraisal 

 Wood Green Investment Framework evidence studies 

 Local Plan 

 Site Allocations DPD 

 Haringey SCI 2008 (Updated 2011) and revision consultation version 

 Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 

 Town and Country Planning (Local Planning) (England) Regulations 2012 

 The National Planning Policy Framework 2012 

 The Localism Act 2011 

Page 19



 

Page 20 of 21  

 
Background Documents 

 
Decision Making Report – Wood Green Investment Framework & Area Action 
Plan (Approval to January Cabinet, 30th October 2015. 

 
Cabinet Paper - An Investment Framework for Wood Green, 14th October 2014 

 
Haringey‟s Local Plan Preferred Option, Site Allocations DPD 
Consultation Document, February 2015 
 

 
Websites 

LBH site – Overview of 
regeneration activities in Wood 
Green 

http://www.haringey.gov.uk/regeneration/woo
d-green 

LBH site – Local Plan: Site 
Allocations DPD 

http://www.haringey.gov.uk/planning-and-
building-control/planning/planning-
policy/local-development-framework-ldf/local-
plan-site-allocations-dpd 

Crossrail 2 Consultation hub https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/crossrail/2 

Haringey Council is not responsible for the contents or reliability of linked web 
sites and does not necessarily endorse any views expressed within them. 
Listing should not be taken as endorsement of any kind. It is your responsibility 
to check the terms and conditions of any other web sites you may visit. We 
cannot guarantee that these links will work all of the time and we have no 
control over the availability of the linked pages. 

Page 20

http://www.haringey.gov.uk/regeneration/wood-green
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/regeneration/wood-green
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-development-framework-ldf/local-plan-site-allocations-dpd
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-development-framework-ldf/local-plan-site-allocations-dpd
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-development-framework-ldf/local-plan-site-allocations-dpd
http://www.haringey.gov.uk/planning-and-building-control/planning/planning-policy/local-development-framework-ldf/local-plan-site-allocations-dpd
https://consultations.tfl.gov.uk/crossrail/2


 

Page 21 of 21  

 

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



WOOD GREEN’s FUTURE // Stakeholders Consultation Plan by Soundings
C

O
N

SU
LT

A
TI

O
N

So
u

n
d

in
g

s 
Fl

u
id

 l 
A

EC
O

M
 l 

D
TZ

N
et

w
o

rk
 R

ai
l

H
ar

in
g

ey

Crossrail 2

R
EL

EV
A

N
T 

P
R

O
C

ES
SE

S
Update 08.10.2015

Site Allocations 
Developmentt PlanArea Action Plan (AAP)

AUGUSTJUNE JUNEJULY SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAYMAYFocus

Activity
and
Stepstones

Residents 
and 
Community

Retailers
and 
Businesses

Ward
Councillors

2016

29

21

20

Network Event

Public
17   18   19   20   21     9       10     11 24

m
ap

pi
ng

st
ak

eh
ol

de
rs

de
ve

lo
pi

ng
 

op
ti

on
s

fin
e 

tu
ni

ng
 a

 p
re

fe
re

d 
op

ti
on

testing the plan

testing 
options

finalising the plan

choosing

an option

understanding
issues and aspirations

choosing principles 

and objectives

AUGUSTJUNE JUNEJULY SEPTEMBER OCTOBER NOVEMBER DECEMBER JANUARY FEBRUARY MARCH APRIL MAYMAY
2016

Ward Councillors 
Workshop

Library

POP
UPs

18

Green Rooms
Launch

...

......

Business 
Forum

...

Business 
Forum

POP
UP

7

CM

Ward Councillors 
Workshop

8

CM

Ward Councillors 
Workshop

22

CM

Ward Councillors 
Workshop

20

CM

Ward Councillors 
Workshop

24

CM

W&T

CLG

POP
UP

ROAD 

SHOW

EXH

WS

Type 
Consultation Event

Walk & Talk

Community
Liaison 
Group

Pop-up
Event

Options
Road Show

Plan
Exhibition

Workshop

121 Meeting

Consultation
Meeting

Existing Event

CM

Targeted
Stakeholders

W&T CLG CLG CLG

CM CM CMPOP
UP

ROAD 
SHOW

5

Small Businesses
Saturday

POP
UP EXH

P
R

O
C

E
S

S
 P

L
A

N
N

IN
G

P
R

IN
C

IP
L

E
S

 &
 S

C
E

N
A

R
IO

S

P
R

E
F

E
R

E
D

 O
P

T
IO

N

F
IN

A
L

 R
E

P
O

R
T

WS

CAB

24>1

Cabinet
Meeting

CAB

8>19

Cabinet
Meeting

15 31

REG 18 STATUTORY CONSULTATION 

REG

15>17

Regulatory
Committee

Meeting
(Draft Cabinet)

REG

4>10

Regulatory
Committee

Meeting
(SLT)

P
age 23



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report - December 2015 - Rev. 7

Issues and optIons RepoRt 

Page 25



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

2

Date Issued to Revision By Checked by Description of amendments

24/07/15 LBH / ASu ASp NA

07/08/15 LBH 1 ASu ASp Updated to incorporate comments received from LBH

25/08/15 LBH 2 ASu SM Updated to include additional option (Options 1A / 1B created)

07/09/15 LBH 3 ASu SM Updated to incorporate comments received from LBH and reflect 
latest options

02/12/15 LBH 4 ASu ASp Updated to reflect latest options and information used for costing

04/12/15 LBH 5 ASu ASp Inclusion of C&W alterations and amendments to wording to reflect 
the ‘Decentralised Energy Hub’

08/12/15 LBH 6 ASu ASp Option 4 updated to reflect latest thinking

21/12/15 LBH 7 ASu SM Updated to include final client comments prior to cabinet issue

Page 26



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

3

Contents

Introduction
Why Prepare an AAP
Purpose and scope of the issues and options document
Status of the document
Consultation

Policy Context
National policy
Regional policy
Haringey’s Local Plan

Portrait of the area
Demographics
Stage one social infrastructure framework outputs
Relationship with surrounding area
Land use
Urban character
Character Areas
Transport and movement
Housing need
Property and economic context
Town centre health

Key Issues, Challenges and Drivers
SWOT Analysis for AAP area
SWOT Analysis for character areas

Spatial Vision and Strategic Objectives
Vision
Objectives

Spatial Development Strategy Options
Generating the options
Methodology and assumptions
Delivery requirement
Potential development sites
Option 1 - High Road rejuvenation
      - Description
      - Outputs
      - Implications
      - Visual distribution
      - Delivery Implications
      - Feasibility and deliverability
Option 2 - Residential led town centre
Option 3 - Comprehensive redevelopment 
Option 4 - Complete transformation

Assessment of the Options
Delivery of strategic targets
Town centre health
Urban renewal & Intensification

Page 27



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

4

Introduction

Wood Green is the borough’s main town centre, and is also 
home to the Council’s main civic offices. It is one of only 12 
Metropolitan town centres across London and plays a vital 
role in meeting residents’ retail, leisure and civic needs. It has 
excellent transport connections to central London, via the 
Piccadilly line, and to the rest of Haringey and beyond via a 
network of bus routes. Wood Green’s accessibility is proposed 
to improve further by 2030 with the arrival of Crossrail 2 serving 
the area. To the west of the High Road lies a number of strategic 
brownfield and regeneration sites, offering significant potential 
for new jobs and homes as well as better connections between 
the High Road and Alexandra Palace. These complement 
other prime redevelopment sites within the town centre, which 
offer opportunities to diversify the retail and commercial offer, 
further improve the urban realm, provide for new or enhanced 
community facilities, and deliver much needed housing. 

All of these elements have led the Council to identify Wood 
Green as an area for significant growth and development within 
the Borough and as one of two regeneration priorities in the 
Council’s Corporate Plan. It is a location that can accommodate 
change and has capacity to do so. However, such change must 
be managed in a clear, coordinated and comprehensive manner.

As set out in the Strategic Policies Development Plan Document 
(DPD), Growth Areas such as Wood Green are not just about 
providing for new development and physical growth, they are 
also about regeneration and the realisation of the social benefits 
and improvements to the overall quality of place that new 
development can deliver. The Council and the Greater London 
Authority (GLA), in partnership with Transport for London (TfL), 
are therefore preparing a joint Area Action Plan and Investment 
Framework for Wood Green. The purpose of the Area Action 
Plan is to provide a detailed and proactive policy framework 
to guide development, regeneration and investment decisions 
across the area over the next fifteen years and beyond. 
The role of the Investment Framework, which is underway 
and has helped to test options presented here, is to help 
better understand the financial practicalities of delivering the 
preferred option, including matters such as land assembly, land 
acquisition, disposals, the cost of relocating the council to new 
premises and the cost of infrastructure. 

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

WGIF Boundary

Figure Ground Plan

Existing buildings / Structures

Wood Green AAP / IF Boundary

Hornsey

Turnpike 
Lane

Wood GreenAlexandra 
Palace

Page 28



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

5

Why Prepare an AAP
Over the past decade there has been much discussion about 
the future of Wood Green, its metropolitan town centre, the 
quality of the retail and leisure offer, its traffic dominated 
environment, and the development potential of a number of 
sites within the area, including the Clarendon Road development 
and the Chocolate Factory site. Various studies have been 
commissioned, and projects undertaken – such as the recent 
public realm enhancements - to respond to particular issues or 
concerns, but to date no clear and comprehensive overall plan 
has emerged or been prepared for the area as a whole. As a 
result, development and investment has taken place on an ad 
hoc site-by-site, scheme-by-scheme basis in the absence of an 
understanding of how these schemes might contribute to the 
delivery of a shared vision for how the area, and places within it, 
could look and feel in the future.

While the alterations to the Strategic Policies DPD establishes 
the broad amount of development to be provided for within the 
Wood Green area, further and more explicit detail is required 
about how the development requirements will be distributed 
across the area, when it should take place, its resultant form and 
function, and how wider community and sustainability outcomes 
will be co-ordinated and their delivery secured. 

The preparation of an Area Action Plan provides the opportunity 
to engage the community and stakeholders in the consideration 
of such matters in a formal and structured process. It is 
expected that, through consultation, the final Area Action Plan 
will establish a more detailed vision and specific objectives 
for the component parts of the Wood Green area, and will set 
out the policies, proposals and site allocations required to 
ensure growth and development is promoted and managed to 
deliver the vision and the social, environmental and economic 
outcomes sought for the area.

Overall, the aim of preparing the Area Action Plan is to have 
a single, statutory plan that provides clarity and certainty to 
landowners, developers, service providers and the community 
about how places and sites within the Wood Green area will 
develop, and against which investment decisions can be made 
and development proposals can be assessed.

Page 29



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

6

Introduction

Purpose and scope of the Issues and Options 
document
The Issues and Options stage represents the first stage in 
the Area Action Plan’s production. It identifies the key issues, 
challenges and opportunities facing the area and sets out four 
different spatial development options, including a preferred 
option, for how these challenges might be addressed and 
opportunities realised.

The purpose of the Issues and Options stage is to invite public 
and stakeholder views and comments on the four spatial 
development options being proposed, to enable consultees to 
offer up further information of relevance to the development of 
the Plan, and to confirm whether they consider the preferred 
option as the most appropriate option on which the Council 
should progress with preparing the final detailed Area Action 
Plan.

To assist consultees, the Issues and Options Consultation 
document also includes details on the local and policy context, 
the likely distribution of development and land use that would 
result from implementing each option, an indication of the 
resulting built form, an analysis of likely performance against 
strategic objectives for the area, and delivery implications, 
including land assembly and infrastructure requirements. 

The publication of this document is also accompanied by a 
series of more detailed evidence base studies that delve further 
into specific issues of relevance to the area, including economic 
vitality, employment & workspace, transport & parking, central 
energy, and place making. These studies have helped to inform 
the development of the four broad strategic options.

In addition, a Sustainability Appraisal is being undertaken, 
the purpose of which is to identify the potential positive and 
negative social, economic and environmental impacts likely 
to arise as a result of implementing the various development 
options proposed.

All of the detailed evidence base studies and the Sustainability 
Appraisal have been published alongside this document, 
and comments on these are also invited. These supporting 
documents have been made available for inspection at the same 
locations as the Area Action Plan. The Council would encourage 
all consultees to read these alongside the Issues and Options 
Consultation document to enable you to make an informed 
decision about which option you might prefer.

However, it is equally important to note that the strategic 
objectives and policy direction for the Wood Green area, 
together with minimum targets for the creation of new jobs, 
employment floorspace and new homes to be provided within 
this strategic Growth Area, have been established through the 
adoption of the Haringey Strategic Policies DPD as updated 
with recent alterations. These matters are therefore not subject 
to further amendment through the preparation of the Area Action 
Plan.

Status of the document

The Area Action Plan is a Development Plan Document (DPD) 
that will form part of the suite of planning documents that will 
make up the Council’s Local Plan. In the hierarchy of Local Plan 
documents the Area Action Plan sits below, and will need to 
conform with, the adopted Strategic Policies DPD.

As stated above, the Issues and Options Consultation document 
represents an early and more informal stage of the Plan’s 
development. As such, none of the spatial development strategy 
options, including the Council’s preferred option as identified in 
this document (option 4), carry any commitment or weight.

Page 30



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

7

Consultation, views sought and how to respond

The Council is interested to hear the views of residents, 
businesses, landowners, local community groups and other 
stakeholders on the four spatial development options being 
put forward, and whether you consider the Council’s preferred 
option is the right one on which to progress to the next stage 
the Area Action Plan’s production.

This document and all supporting documentation can be found 
on the Council’s website at:

www.haringey.gov.uk/woodgreenaap

Hard copies of this Issues and Options Report and supporting 
documents are available for inspection and short term loan from 
the Council’s offices - River Park House, 225 High Road, Wood 
Green, N22 8HQ and the Civic Centre, High Road, Wood Green 
N22 8LE, and at all public libraries in the Borough. A summary 
and questionnaire can also be obtained at the above locations 
and downloaded from the Council website.

During the six week consultation period, a series of drop in 
events in are planned. The times and locations of the drop in 
events are set out in the notification letter and are also available 
on the Council’s website. These events will be informal and 
enable the public to come in and receive a presentation on the 
options and discuss these, and any other issues of relevance to 
the Issues and Options Report, with officers.

Comments on the document can be made in the following ways:

Email:  localplans@haringey.gov.uk
Post:  Planning policy
 River Park House
 225 High Road 
 Wood Green N22 8HQ

• By filling in the questionnaire and sending it back using the 
prepaid envelope provided; or

• By attending one of the consultation workshop events 
advertised in the covering letter, the public notices and on 
the Council’s website.

If you require further information on the Issues and Options 
Report please contact the Haringey Planning Policy Team on 
0208 489 1479 or ldf@haringey.gov.uk

Next steps

The next stage of the Plan’s preparation will be to consider the 
responses received to consultation, and accordingly revise the 
development strategy to be progressed in the final draft of the 
Plan (the Regulation 19 stage). This will involve development 
and refinement of the chosen spatial development option and 
will include proposals for identified development sites across the 
Wood Green area, urban design guidance, infrastructure, public 
realm and land assembly proposals that will help deliver the 
vision for the Wood Green.

Once the Council has prepared the final draft of the Plan, it 
will be published for a further round of public consultation, 
proposed for summer 2016. At the close of that consultation, 
the Council will identify any revision to the publication document 
to give effect to responses made and will prepare a schedule of 
changes ready for the examination in public. The examination in 
public will then be held by an independent Planning Inspector 
(anticipated towards the end of 2016) who will consider whether 
the plan is ‘sound’ (i.e. has met the legal requirements for 
preparing the Plan and it is based upon robust evidence), and 
will hear outstanding objections. Once the Council receives the 
Inspector’s report, if ‘sound’ the Council can formally adopt 
the AAP as part of the Local Plan and begin to implement its 
policies and requirements. 

It should be noted that even before adoption by the Council, the 
Town centre AAP will begin to be a material consideration for 
processing town centre planning applications. This is generally 
considered to be once the Preferred Option has been consulted 
upon and agreed.

Page 31



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

8

Policy Context

National Policy
Haringey’s Local Plan, whilst reflecting local needs and 
circumstances, must be consistent with national policy set out 
in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF). In preparing 
the Issues and Options Consultation document, the Council has 
taken account of the NPPF, including recent amendments to its 
supporting guidance.

Regional Policy
The London Plan (2015) is the overarching spatial development 
strategy for London. It provides the strategic, London-wide 
context within which all London boroughs must set their detailed 
local planning policies. Accordingly, the Area Action Plan will 
seek to give effect to, and must also be in general conformity 
with, policies of the London Plan.

A key purpose in bringing forward the Area Action Plan is to 
give effect to the future designation of the Wood Green area as 
an Opportunity Area in the next iteration of the London Plan. 
Currently, the London Plan designates Haringey Heartlands / 
Wood Green as an Area of Intensification with potential to deliver 
up to 2,000 jobs and 1,000 new homes as part of a mixed use 
redevelopment. 

Specifically, in relation to the Haringey Heartlands / Wood Green 
Intensification Area, the London Plan (at Appendix 1) states that:

“A range of development opportunities on the railway and 
former industrial lands to the south-west of Wood Green town 
centre with significant potential for improvement building on 
the area’s industrial heritage. Phases of residential and mixed-
use development at Hornsey waterworks sites have been 
completed. Other key sites with development potential include 
the Clarendon Road gas works and adjacent Coburg Road 
industrial area. Mixed-use regeneration of these sites adjacent 
to Wood Green town centre should support delivery of the full 
range of uses. Site assembly and provision of better links with 
the town centre and Alexandra Park are key to comprehensive 
development. Opportunities should be explored to redevelop 
parts of Wood Green town centre for high-density, mixed-use 
schemes and strengthen pedestrian connections to the town 
centre and library. Any new development and infrastructure 
bought forward in this area must avoid adverse effects on any 
European site of nature conservation importance (to include 
SACs, SPAs, Ramsar, proposed and candidate sites) either 
alone or in combination with other plans and projects.”

As the area develops, there will also be an opportunity to 
expand development around the Chocolate Factory site, along 
Station Road and up to the Civic Centre site in the north, 
increasing capacity, variety and pedestrian linkages. With the 
potential for Crossrail 2 to serve the area, sites within the town 
centre will also be expected to do more by way of improved 
retail provision, accessibility, and additional housing. 

To realise the development potential of this area, the London 
Plan encourages boroughs to work with the Mayor to progress 
and implement planning frameworks for each. This Area Action 
Plan is therefore being prepared jointly with the GLA and will 
show how the Wood Green area and the relevant specific 
policies of the London Plan will be realised.

Haringey’s Local Plan
The Wood Green Growth Area forms a crucial and signifiicant 
component of Haringey’s spatial strategy for managing the 
Borough’s growth and development over the next fifteen years 
and beyond.

Haringey’s Strategic Policies DPD establishes the following 
aspirations for the Haringey Heartlands / Wood Green Area:

• To increase capacity and the variety of uses within the area;
• To bring back into use underused brownfield land, 

maximising its capacity for housing and employment 
growth;

• Provide additional open space, play areas and community 
facilities to meet the needs of residents in the area;

• To achieve physical and visual integration of the Heartlands 
with the wider area to benefit local communities and ensure 
sustainable development meeting both local and strategic 
objectives;

• De-commissioning of the gas holders and decontamination 
of the land in order to bring forward redevelopment;

• To promote a business relocation strategy to provide the 
impetus for land assembly;

• Improve pedestrian linkages between Wood Green centre 
and Haringey Heartlands; and

• The provision of green infrastructure projects to address a 
range of environmental issues affecting the area.

Informed by the draft Site Allocations DPD, the development 
potential of the Haringey Heartlands / Wood Green area has 
been revised with Strategic Policy 2 stating that the area is 
to accommodate a minimum of 4,600 net new homes and a 
significant number of jobs jobs.

In addition to the Strategic Policies DPD, the Area Action Plan 
will also need to give effect to, and implement the policies and 
proposals of other Council, and partner strategies, plans and 
programmes, including those for heath and housing.

Page 32



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

9

Summary
In summary, to reflect the Strategic Policies DPD, national 
and regional planning policy, as well as local initiatives and 
strategies, the Area Action Plan:

• Gives effect to the ambitions of the London Plan to upgrade 
the designation of the area from an ‘Area of Intensification’ 
to an ‘Opportunity Area’ through an uplift in both jobs and 
housing provision;

• Gives recognition to, and seeks to strengthen, the role of 
the Metropolitan Centre designation for Wood Green town 
centre through provision for greater activity, diversification 
of uses and additional retail capacity;

• Translates the strategic policies of the Haringey Local Plan 
into a number of realistic, measurable and enforceable 
policies to guide development within the area;

• Seeks to ensure that the balance between different land 
uses is sustainable, attracts investment and results in urban 
form, appearance and character that local businesses, 
residents, and developers can support; 

• Regenerates the area west of the High Road and ensures 
employment led redevelopment of the underemployed 
utilities and industrial land, contributing to its long-term 
growth and vitality; 

• Seeks improvements to the amenity and connectivity of the 
High Road with the Cultural quarter and Alexandra Palace; 

• Plans for and maximises the accessibility benefits to be 
secured through Crossrail 2 serving the area; and

• Promotes high quality, safe and accessible development 
that retains and promotes a strong sense of community.

Page 33



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

10

Portrait of the area - Demographics

This text sets out Census information for the Wood Green ‘Area 
of Study’, which comprises five Lower Layer Super Output 
Area’s (LLSOAs) closely aligned to the AAP Boundary. These are 
set out below and illustrated opposite.

• Haringey 007A 
• Haringey 016A 
• Haringey 016B
• Haringey 016C 
• Haringey 016D 

Population
The population of the Study Area is 8,263. (Source: 2011 
Census)

Age Structure
The Study Area has an above average proportion of working 
age population (74%) compared to London (69%) and England 
(65%).

The area also contains a below average proportion of children 
(17%) as well as people aged 65 and over (9%) when compared 
to London and the national average. 

Marital Status
At 55%, the majority of Wood Green (Study Area) residents are 
single, higher than proportions in London (44%) and England 
(47%).

The number of married people is significantly lower in Wood 
Green (28%) compared to London (40%) and England (47%).

Household Composition
Aligning to the marital analysis above, the Study Area contains 
an above average number of one person households (36.4%), 
the majority of which are aged under 65. This accounts for the 
area’s below average proportion of family households (45%), 
compared to the London average of 53.5%. 

Ethnicity
Wood Green’s population is very diverse. The Study Area 
contains a relatively low proportion people of white ethnic 
backgrounds (57%), compared to London (60%) and England 
(85%), and above average proportions of black ethnic groups 
(19.4%). At 12.5%, the proportion of Asian ethnic groups are 
also high, but not has high as London (18.5%).

Religion
The religious identity of Wood green is also diverse. The 
proportion of Christians residing in the Study Area (46%) is 
below that of London (48%) and England (59%). However, at 
almost 18%, the Muslim population is far more prevalent in 
Wood Green than that in London (12%) or England (5%). 

Housing Tenure
Of the 3,477 households in the Wood Green Study Area, a 
significantly lower proportion are owner-occupied households 
(27.8%), compared to London (48.3%) and England (63.3%), 
although there is a higher proportion of shared ownership 
households (4%). 

Proportions of Social Rented (33.5%) and Private Rented 
(33.1%) households are all above London and national 
averages.  

Haringey 016C

Haringey 016B

Haringey 007A

Haringey 016D

Haringey 010D

Haringey 016A

Reproduced from Ordnance Survey digital map data © Crown copyright 2015. All rights reserved.

This document has been prepared by AECOM for the sole use of our Client (the "Client") and in accordance with generally accepted consultancy principles, the budget for fees and terms of reference agreed between AECOM and the Client. 
Any information provided by third parties and referred to herein has not been checked or verified by AECOM,  unless otherwise expressly stated in the document. No third party may rely upon this document without the prior and express written agreement of AECOM.

CONSULTANT

§
AECOM
Mid City Place, 71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6EA
+44 (0)20 7645 2000 tel
+44 (0)20 7645 2099 fax
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green Investment
Framework

KEY

FIGURE TITLE

Wood Green
Site Boundary

SCALE

1:8,000 @ A3

0 210 420 630 m

Chk'd App'd

Date

Design GIS

AD AD

PH MP

JULY 2015

Site Boundary

LSOAs within Study Area

LSOAs

LSOA’s within AAP 

Qualifications
At 37.4%, the Study Area contains a relatively strong proportion 
of highly qualified people (having a qualification equal to NVQ4 
or above), in line with London (37.7%) and higher than England 
(27.4%). Similarly, at 19%, the proportion of people with no 
qualifications is marginally higher than the London average 
(17.65), but lower than the national average (22.5%). 

The Study Area contains 250 students (3.7% of its total 
population), above that in London (2.5%) and England (1.8%). 

Industrial Structure
Forming the largest employment sector, 13.2% of the Study 
Area population work in the wholesale and retail trade, broadly 
in line with London’s average. 

A significant proportion of people are also employed in 
accommodation and food service activities (11.7%), significantly 
higher than that in London (6.3%) and England (5.6%). 
Education (11%) and Human health/social work (10.1%) also 
have a significant presence in Wood Green. 

Occupations
Despite making up almost 37% of its total population, the Wood 
Green Study Area has a lower than average proportion of people 
in highly-skilled managerial and professional occupations, 
compared to 34% in London.

It also has a higher than average proportion of people in low 
skilled ‘elementary’ occupations (13.6%) compared to London 
(9.6%).

Page 34



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

11

Portrait of the area - Stage one social infrastructure framework outputs

Population Impact from Proposed Development
The tables below present the Proposed Development population 
by specific age cohorts estimated to be generated by the four 
options.

Population from 
Scheme

Option
1

Option
2

Option
3

Option
4

Total Units 4,600 5,000 5,500 6,000

Total Population 8,995 9,777 10,754 11,732

Population Age Profile
Option

1
Option

2
Option

3
Option

4

0-3 546 594 653 713

4-10 657 715 786 857

11-15 431 468 515 562

16-17 154 167 184 201

18-19 147 160 176 192

20-24 351 381 419 458

25-29 683 742 817 891

30-34 1,131 1,229 1,352 1,475

35-39 1,050 1,141 1,255 1,369

40-44 908 987 1,086 1,184

45-49 758 824 907 989

50-54 552 600 660 720

55-59 425 462 508 554

60-64 373 406 446 487

65-69 260 282 311 339

70-74 215 234 257 280

75+ 353 384 422 461

Total Population 8,995 9,777 10,754 11,732

Education Facilities
Early Year Provision Option

1
Option

2
Option

3
Option

4

Early Year Places (2-4 yr) 157 171 188 205

Early Year Facilities (52 Place) 3 3 4 4

Primary School Provision
Option

1
Option

2
Option

3
Option

4

Primary School Children 600 652 717 783

Primary Form Entries 3 3.1 3.4 3.7

Secondary School Provision
Option

1
Option

2
Option

3
Option

4

Secondary School Children 389 423 465 508

Secondary Form Entries 2.6 2.8 3.1 3.4

Healthcare Facilities
Healthcare Provision Option

1
Option

2
Option

3
Option

4

General Practitioners 5 6 6 6.5

Dental Surgeons 5 5 6 6

Combined Primary Care (sqm) 1,049 1,141 1,225 1,368

Acute Healthcare Beds 18 20 21 22.9

Extra Housing Care Beds 20 22 24 26

Community space and indoor sports

Community Provision Option
1

Option
2

Option
3

Option
4

Flexible Community Space (sqm) 585 635 699 763

Library Space (sqm) 270 293 323 352

Swimming Pool Lanes 2 3 3 3

Sports Courts 3 3 4 4

Open space and recreation

Open Space and Recreation 
Provision

Option
1

Option
2

Option
3

Option
4

Public Open Space (ha) 15.29 16.62 18.28 19.94
Including:

Playing Pitches (ha) 5.13 5.57 6.13 6.7

Children’s Play (ha) 1.79 1.94 2.14 2
Separate Provision:

Allotments (ha) 2.16 2.35 2.58 2.8

Social Infrastructure Impact Analysis
The infrastructure requirements presented in this section 
represent the total demand when the strategic development 
sites are fully occupied for each option. 

However, the study area and wider impact area social 
infrastructure baseline has not yet been fully finalised and as 
such the current and future capacity and potential surplus 
capacity of facilities is not defined. Therefore the infrastructure 
requirements set out below represent a gross figure which will 
need to be rationalised to incorporate the existing context, and 
any underused capacity. The Wood Green AAP Infrastructure 
Assessment Report will be published on the Council’s website.

Page 35



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

12

Portrait of the area - Relationship with surrounding area

A406

A109

A504

A504

A406

A406

A105

A504

A105

A105

MANOR HOUSE

FINSBURY PARK

TURNPIKE LANE

WOOD GREEN

BOUNDS GREEN

SEVEN SISTERS

TOTTENHAM HALE

BLACKHORSE ROAD

FINSBURY PARK

HARRINGAY

HORNSEY

ALEXANDRA
 PALACE

BOWE’S PARK

CHURCH HILL

HARRINGAY
GREEN LANES

SOUTH
TOTTENHAM

SEVEN
SISTERS

BRUCE
GROVE

WHITE HART
LANE

STAMFORD
HILL

BLACKHORSE
ROAD

A109

A504

A406

A406

A105

A105

BOWE’S PARK

A109

A504

A105

DESIGNATED OPPORTUNITY AREA
IN LONDON PLAN

MAJOR MIX_USE F&B OFFER
   WITH LARGE CATCHMENT

MAJOR STRATEGIC GREEN
OPEN SPACE WITH LONDON_WIDE
CATCHMENT

METROPOLITAN CENTRE
WITH LARGE RETAIL FOOTPRINT

SIGNIFICANT
AVAILABLE SITES _
A MAJOR REGENERATION
OPPORTUNITY

MAJOR MIX_USE F&B OFFER
   WITH LARGE CATCHMENT

TO CENTRAL LONDON

MUSWELL
HILL

CROUCH
END

LEA
VALLEY

Strategic Connections

Wood Green High Street

Retail Frontages / Town centres

Strategic Open Spaces/ Parks

Wood Green to Kings Cross -
16 mins
Via Piccadilly line

Wood Green is located in North London at the heart of the 
borough of Haringey. With central London a 15 minute journey 
away via Kings Cross, and the planned 24 hour service on the 
Piccadilly Line underground, it has recently been identified as a 
major area for the provision of London’s housing needs. 

An established high street (The High Road), boasting a large 
retail footprint servicing shoppers from the neighbouring areas, 
has led to the designation of Wood Green as a ‘Metropolitan 
Centre’ in the London Plan; a status which very few other town 
centres enjoy. Wood Green is also the civic hub of the area, 
housing public services and the Council offices for the Borough. 
In the past, Wood Green also accommodated a number of 
factories due to its proximity to the main east coast rail line and, 
in earlier periods due to the presence of the New River. These 
facilities have now been re-located outside of the town centre or 
shut down leaving spaces and buildings that are redundant and 
available for redevelopment. Some of these are already adapted 
into mixed use workspaces that have resulted in the emergence 
of a new character area between the rail line and town centre. 

Though having evolved as a small hamlet at the base of a 
large forest, today there is a lack of open space and green 
infrastructure within Wood Green. The area would benefit from 
better connections to Alexandra Park, its large open space, 
culture and leisure amenities which stand adjacent to, but are 
difficult to access from Wood Green town centre. Across from 
the park, Muswell Hill is a thriving self-sufficient local community 
with residential neighbourhoods and an affective high street. 
Towards the east is Downhills Park which forms the focus of a 
large residential neighbourhood. The eastern edge of Haringey 
is formed by Tottenham Hale, which is undergoing a huge 
transformation currently identified as a major opportunity area 
within London Plan. 

Wood Green is very well connected and serves as an extension 
of the north-south connection from Finsbury Park, Manor 
House, Green Lanes and Turnpike Lane. This route is a direct 
connection between these neighbourhoods which changes 
in character travelling north, from the food and beverage hub 
in Green Lanes to Turnpike Lane to the Retail intensive High 
Road in Wood Green. With its strategic location, abundant 
connections, existing amenities & facilities and site availability, 
Wood Green has the potential for major regeneration in the near 
future.

Page 36



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

13

Portrait of the area - Land use

Wood Green is focussed around its main artery, named the 
High Road, which connects Wood Green underground at its 
northern end and Turnpike Lane underground at its southern 
end. The High Road is a thriving street with retail uses on both 
sides all along its length. The Council library and the Mall form 
the centre of the High Road. The Mall is a mixed use facility 
with recreation and leisure uses and residential above two 
floors of retail. Towards the east and west of High Road are 
residential neighbourhoods in the form of Victorian terraces or 
detached and semi-detached houses.  Further east or west, 
the residential types changes to apartment blocks and higher 
density, contemporary housing. Further north-west, towards the 
railway line, is a cluster of employment uses including storage 
sheds and small manufacturing units which represent the last 
remains of a cluster of factories that developed in this area with 
the coming of the railways and the New River before it. This area 
also comprises empty sites, redundant infrastructure in the form 
of gas holders, some commercial buildings and workspaces. 
Further north towards Wood Green Common, are a number of 
educational facilities fronting Wood Green Common. 

Commercial uses and Council Offices front Station Road 
between the Common and the station. Other infrastructure and 
public amenities are present here in the form of the Arriva Bus 
depot and former telephone exchange at Green Ridings House. 
The northern-most end of Wood Green town centre is the oldest 
and has many listed buildings such as St. Michaels church, 
around which the hamlet of Wood Green grew in the 17th 
century. This area still retains much of the character of a small 
village with more open spaces, large houses and educational 
facilities for the community. 

Light industry off Coburg Road Retail activity on the High Road

Commercial
Community / Culture / Education
Employment / Commercial
Green space

Infrastructure / Transport
Residential
Retail
Retail with Resi Above

Page 37



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

14

Portrait of the area - Urban Character

History
Wood Green began as a small hamlet at the base of Tottenham 
Wood in the 13th century. The strategic desire lines were always 
towards Central London, particularly Smithfield market. In the 
17th century, New River was constructed in Wood Green in 
order to bring fresh water from Hertfordshire. 

The road pattern that currently exists today was laid out at the 
beginning of the 19th century. With the establishment of railways 
Wood Green became the home of working class families 
commuting to Central London, while also attracting its own 
factories to the area. More distinct character areas developed 
to the east of the High road with the construction of Noel Park 
and the population increased with the extension of the Piccadilly 
line. In 1965 the reorganization of London Government provoked 
the council to consider the commercial center of Wood Green 
resulting in the Wood Green Central Area scheme that would 
deliver the Shopping City, Library, Sandlings Housing on the 
former Noel Park Goods Yard and River Park House.

Wood Green today lacks a certain ordering of its buildings and 
key spaces. Like many areas the urban grain has been informed 
by natural patterns such as the Moselle River whose culverted 
line can still be traced along the northern edges of Parkside 
Malvern and Noel Park, and former land ownership lines which 
can be seen in the ordering of housing in Parkside Malvern. 
However, the area’s physical form has changed little over time 
with the High Road remaining a constant and defining spine 
with the interstitial areas heavily influenced by the lines of both 
existing and historic transport infrastructure.

Urban structure and character

Housing adjacent to retail block Factory in Cultural quarter

Great Northern Railway
Former Palace Gates Railway
Key Roads

Ordinance survey map from 1912

Line of the New River
Line of the Moselle River
Historic land ownership line

The figure ground plan shows the broad urban structures and 
forms that exist in the area and the disconnections that occur 
within it. At the centre is the High Road (shown in pink) typified 
by its large retail blocks which reinforce a one-dimensional 
north-south route and disrupt potential east-west connections.

To the south is a pocket of former industrial buildings and a gas 
works which in places have been re-appropriated to provide 
employment and creative spaces. It is typically inward looking 
and noticeably disjointed from the High Road and the rest of the 
Town centre.

Surrounding these two areas are Victorian and Edwardian 
residential areas organised as terraces around well structured 
street patterns. Again, the relationship between these and the 
other two areas are weak both in terms of physical scale and 
form as well as connectivity.

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

WGIF Boundary

Figure Ground Plan

Existing buildings / Structures

Retail dominance
Employment / creative

Residential

Figure ground plan

Page 38



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

15

Key boundaries
The Investment Framework boundary is the same as that used 
for the Area Action Plan and sits across three wards; Woodside, 
Noel Park and Bounds Green. It captures the High Road from 
the Civic Centre in the north to Turnpike Lane underground and 
bus station in the south. The western edge is defined by the 
great northern railway line (the east coast mainline), and the east 
loosely by the Noel Park estate.

The Town centre boundary captures all retail activity on the 
High Road including all of the Mall and Morrisons supermarket. 
Its western boundary extends towards the Cultural quarter to 
include Iceland supermarket, the industrial units behind Hornsey 
Park Road and those at Bittern Place to the east of Silsoe Road.

The edges of the Cultural quarter are defined by Western, 
Coburg and Mayes Roads. The designated local employment 
area captures all units within the Cultural quarter with the 
notable exception of Olympia industrial Estate.

Running west from the underground station, Turnpike Lane is 
identified as a local shopping centre until it meets  Wightman 
Road.

Pedestrian movement

Penstock foot tunnel Alley leading to High Road - North of Mall

East-west pedestrian connections between Lordship Lane and 
Turnpike Lane are in short supply with a number of barriers 
contributing towards the problem.

The East Coast mainline disconnects Wood Green from 
Alexandra Park to the west. There are two locally recognised 
connections with the first being a narrow pedestrian bridge at 
Alexandra Palace station and the second the Penstock foot 
tunnel, which is unwelcoming due largely to its limited width 
and lack of security that passive surveillance would offer. 
Once through the foot tunnel the route to Alexandra Palace is 
circuitous with the reservoirs and reed beds presenting a further 
barrier.

Key east-west links across the High Road are restricted to 
north and south of the Mall. Both of these routes are indirect, 
limiting intuitive way finding and they are further impaired 
by unwelcoming alleyways that have a negative effect on 
pedestrian experience. 

Severance
Existing east-west routes
Major roads 

Poor quality public realm
Internal links (daytime only)
Poor quality pedestrian crossings

AAP / IF Boundary
Town centre boundary
Ward boundaries

Cultural quarter Boundary
Local shopping centre – Turnpike Lane
Local employment areas

WOODSIDE

NOEL PARK

HARRINGAy

HORNSEy

ALExANDRA

BOUNDS GREEN

Page 39



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

16

Public spaces

Portrait of the area - Urban Character

Greenspaces and waterways
The AAP and Investment Framework boundary includes part 
of Ducketts Common and a small piece of land to the east of 
Barratt Gardens fronting Tower Terrace. Surrounding spaces 
include Alexandra Park and the old railway line between Park 
Avenue and Station Road which is not publicly accessible. 
Existing green spaces are not linked, suffer from poor setting, 
access, restricted use and poor visibility. An open space 
deficiency has been identified at the heart of the AAP area 
and new and improved spaces should be provided alongside 
development. The railway embankment ecological corridor is 
seen as an area for increased pedestrian access. Alexandra 
Palace Park offers a major green destination, however 
connections from Wood green are limited (via Penstock foot 
tunnel and the station bridge) and hidden. The New River 
footpath runs on the western side of the railway but access is 
restricted. The New River is culverted below Trinity Gardens 
and is visible at the southern end of Nightingale Gardens as it 
passes below Station Road. It may be possible to establish a link 
towards the reservoir here. 

Investment Framework / AAP Boundary Metropolitan Open Land

Significant Local Open LandCulverted line of Moselle River

New River Ecological Corridor

4 5

6

7

8

9

10

2

1

11

3

Open Space Deficiency - Small local level

Open Space Deficiency - Local level

Open Space Deficiency - Both of the above

1 - Alexandra Park
2 - Hornsey water treatment works
3 - Wood Green Common
4 - Barratt Gardens
5 - Tower Terrace
6 - Former Palace Gates railway line

7 - Nightingale Gardens
8 - Trinity Gradens
9 - Name unknown
10 - Woodside Park
11 - Ducketts Common

Moselle River
New River
Open space deficiency

Metropolitan open land
Significant local open land
Ecological corridor

1 - Alexandra Park
2 - Water treatment works
3 - Wood Green Common
4 - Barratt Gardens
5 - Tower Terrace
6 - Former railway line
7 - Nightingale Gardens
8 - Trinity Gardens
9 - Name unknown
10 - Woodside Park
11 - Ducketts Common

Wood Green Library Hollywood Green public space and frontage

Former railway crossing, Park Avenue New River running under Station Road

This diagram illustrates all public space, including green space, 
throughout Wood Green. The High Road is congested with very 
few pockets that provide respite and dwell space. Exceptions 
are Hollywood Green and the library which despite recent 
improvement works are poorly defined, lack an overarching 
identity and are victims to the wider streetscape. Frontage to 
Green Riding House and the northern edge of Station Road 
have more generous public space but are dominated by out-
dated hard landscaping and a lack of active frontage.

There is an obvious absence of appropriate spaces to sit away 
from the busyness of the High Road offering a ‘continental’ use 
pattern aligned with the demographic of the area.

The area’s lack of depth is visible in the typical footpath pattern 
surrounding the High Road but notably to the west where there 
is no public space around the vicinity of the cultural quarter.

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

WGIF Boundary

Existing Public Space

Public Space (external)

External public space Green space

Page 40



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

17

Active Frontages
The issue of blank and inactive frontages beyond Wood Green’s 
High Road is well documented and its extent is illustrated here. 
The vibrant High Road and more locally orientated Turnpike 
Lane represent the only significant areas of active frontage 
throughout the AAP area. Aside from being inactive, most 
elevations behind the High Road have a detrimental effect on 
their surroundings most commonly because of a scale and 
materiality unsympathetic to its context and hostile security 
treatment along key boundaries.

Some areas around the Cultural quarter, Karamel Restaurant 
and the Duke of Edinburgh pub offer some active frontages 
but aside from this, most activity is hidden from the casual 
observers view. There are areas of commercial frontage but their 
relationship with the streetscape is poor.

Parkside Malvern represents one of the stronger character areas 
and the importance of frontage (albeit residential) is evident 
here.

Views and vistas

WGIF Boundary

Building Frontages

Blank / in-active facades

Residential frontage

Blank / in-active frontages
Residential frontage

Active frontage
Commercial / office frontageHigh Road frontage High Road back-ends, Bury Road

Alexandra Park from the Mall carpark Gasholder seen from Coburg Road

A number of buildings offer visual reference points. Positive 
buildings include St Michael’s Church, which whilst on a 
prominent line, is weakened by heavy foliage and clutter from 
street signage and furniture. The former Barratts Sweet Factory 
is a key marker on an important threshold. The redundant 
gasholders on the Clarendon Road development site are also 
highly visible, and their removal may emphasise the need for a 
landmark or significant building in this location as a wayfinding 
device. Views towards Alexandra Palace are restricted at street 
level with many sight lines impeded by the railway embankment 
although the radio mast is visible from Lordship Lane. Long 
distance views are possible from the roof of The Mall carpark 
and upper floors of River Park House. Other less favourable 
structures include the Mall, most prominently the bridge that 
obscures key views on the High Road. At 12 storeys, River Park 
House can be seen from numerous locations. Areas of high 
footfall, such as the western side of the Mall, have limited sight 
lines towards the Cultural quarter suggesting a more legible and 
intuitive street pattern would be of value.

Visual reference points
Vistas from high level

Obstructions to views High level views 
of Alexandra Palace*Obstructed views

Key view lines No views achieved

St Michael’s ChurchSt Michael’s Church

Gasholder

Mall bridge

River Park House

Barratts Factory

Gasholder

Mall bridge

River Park House

Barratts Factory
Alexandra

Park

*

*

Page 41



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

18

In general there is a limited number of listed buildings within 
the AAP area. The highest listing (Grade II*) is for the interior of 
the Dominion Centre on the High Road, formerly the Gaumont 
Cinema. Its strong brick and white stone frontage is the most 
important external element, but it is starting to fall into a state 
of disrepair, and its rear elevations form an enclosing brick box 
that offers little of benefit to the surrounding streetscape. Other 
buildings and structures are Grade II listed. Notably St Michael’s 
Church adjacent to the Civic Centre. Listed structures include 
the brick tunnel entrance to the New River on Park Avenue.

Key conservation areas influencing the AAP are Wood Green 
Common and Trinity Gardens. The first is dominated by areas of 
green space that were originally one large common. It includes 
the embankment of the former Palace Gates Railway Line and 
educational buildings such as Alexandra Primary School which 
alongside neighbouring residential streets are of architectural 
merit. The latter covers Trinity, Nightingale and Crescent 
Gardens, beneath which the culverted New River runs.

Conservation, heritage and built assets

Portrait of the area - Urban Character

Negative impact streetscape
Aside from the more obvious buildings that fail to contribute 
towards the areas character such as the Mall, this diagram 
identifies a series of secondary buildings of negative impact. 
They are non-aspirational buildings that create poor arrival 
points or fail to strengthen key spaces and should be 
considered for redevelopment if an opportunity arises. One 
example is the Grand Palace near the Civic Centre, which 
although outside the AAP area, has an adapted façade which 
fails to contribute towards the green space it fronts.

Poor quality pedestrian environments are predominantly 
caused by traffic and obstructions presented by the bus depot, 
surface level carparks and service yards, congested High Road 
pavements and various cul-de-sacs where a lack of frontage 
encourages anti-social behaviour and fear of crime.

3

1

2

4

A B

C

D F

E

H

I

J

G

K

Grade II Listed Buildings
Conservation Areas

Conservation Areas
1 - Trinity Gardens
2 - Wood Green Common
3 - Noel Park
4 - Hornsey Water Works
Listed Buildings
A - Braemar Avenue Baptist Chapel
B - Memorial Drinking Fountain
C - Primary School & School House
D - Church of St Michael
E - No.7 & 9 Bounds Green Road
F - War Memorial
G - Tunnel Entrance to New River
H - Wood Green Station
I - Former Gaumont Cinema
J - Church of St Mark & Parish Hall
K - Turnpike Lane stationFormer Gaumont Cinema St Michael’s Church

Negative impact public realm
Negative impact buildings not 
addressed in options

Areas of negative frontage

Page 42



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

19

Buildings of value and local assets

Land ownership

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

Investment Framework / AAP Boundary

LBH Ownership

Private Freeholder

Site Ownership

LBH Ownership
Private freeholder

Other buildings of valueThe Green Rooms Art deco frontage on Gladstone Avenue

Notable, unlisted, buildings that make a significant contribution 
to the area’s character include the Green Rooms and key 
elements within the Cultural quarter such as the 1930’s 
Chocolate Factory buildings. The Civic Centre to the north of 
the High Road was built between 1955-58 and is a locally listed 
building. Key street frontage has also been identified including 
the northern edge of Trinity Gardens, the retained frontage 
in front of Bury Road carpark which includes the façade of 
the former Empire Cinema and the northern end of the High 
Road alongside the Victorian and Art Deco buildings that 
define the route towards Noel Park. Notable uses that add a 
stronger presence to the area include the well-used Big Green 
Independent Bookstore, Coffee Republic which has become a 
local ‘landmark,’ street markets and the Mall’s Market Hall; an 
under utilised asset reflecting the areas diversity. Effort is needed 
to enhance these assets as Wood Green has a poor overall built 
character and urban environment considering its Metropolitan 
Town centre status.

The diagram opposite illustrates the high level of council 
ownership that offers the potential for the areas to be influenced 
without complex land assembly issues. Within LBH ownership 
are a number of sites with potentially good land value that can 
help unlock the potential of the identified options. Areas such as 
the Mall currently sit in private ownership but are seen as critical 
sites that have the potential to significantly alter the urban 
character of Wood Green and therefore rely upon acquisition 
or the owners shared ambition as regards building a better and 
more successful town centre.

The highlighted area has been identified as a key threshold 
critical to improving connections between the High Road, the 
Cultural quarter and Alexandra Palace beyond. A more detailed 
understanding of private land ownership is being pursued.

Page 43



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

20

Portrait of the area - Character Areas

View towards St Michaels Church

The locally listed Civic Centre sits within the Trinity Gardens 
Conservation Area at the northern most end of the AAP 
boundary and there is a slower paced and more residential 
orientated atmosphere compared with other character areas. It 
holds two listed buildings and a monument, the latter being a 
War Memorial that sits on the eastern edge of the High Road. 
The area suffers from poorly defined edges and low quality 
public realm that weakens the setting of key buildings. The area 
connects to a wider green network via Trinity Gardens. A key 
view is afforded towards St Michaels Church from the south as 
you approach the site along the High Road.

The facade of River Park House

A key arrival point to Wood Green, this area sits around two 
key arteries, Station Road leading towards Alexandra Palace 
and the High Road which is the key north-south route in the 
area. The southern stretch of the character area features typical 
Victorian buildings that are a key part of the areas historic fabric. 
Hollywood Green in front of the cinema at the intersection of 
these arteries is under utilised but should be one of the areas 
most significant pieces of public realm. The western frontage 
of the High Road above the intersection is defined by River 
Park House, the entrance to Wood Green Bus Garage and 
Green Ridings House, all of a different scale and offering little 
frontage or sense of arrival. The streetscape on Station Road is 
congested and suffers from level changes but has a number of 
opportunity sites and potential access from the disused railway 
line behind William Hill.

1 Civic Centre & Trinity Green 2 High Road North

1 - Civic Centre & Trinity Green
2 - High Road North
3 - High Road South
4 - Parkland & Morrisons
5 - The Mall
6 - Cultural quarter
7 - Clarendon Road development
8 - Wood Green Common

A number of character areas have been identified within the AAP 
boundary that each offer a different quality of space, history, 
urban form or land use pattern. Initial impressions of a retail 
dominated High Road are compared against areas that are often 
hidden, such as the Cultural quarter which offers workspace for 
many small businesses as well as the former industrial lands of 
the Clarendon Road development.

Wood Green generally has a poor overall built form and 
character for a Metropolitan Town centre and there is a lack 
of public space that could provide the area with a focus and 
identity. Movement is typically centred along the High Road 
with poor connections restricting movement to the east and 
west. The following pages explore these areas in more detail 
and provide context to the AAP and character area “Strength, 
Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats” (SWOT) analysis which 
informs the options and makes suggestions for how change 
can be brought forward in each area. For a full analysis of the 
existing context please refer to the Urban Character and Place 
Making Study.

9 - Turnpike Lane Station & 
      Ducketts Common
10 - Turnpike Lane
11 - Parkside Malvern
12 - Lordship Lane
13 - Noel Park Estate
14 - Green Lanes

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

Identified Character Areas

Character Areas

1

2

4

6 5

7
3

11 9

8
13

12

14

10

Page 44



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

21

View east from Parkland Road

This area is arguably at the heart of Wood Green and a key 
threshold between the High Road and Cultural quarter. However, 
it is typical of Wood Green’s back-end problem. Dominated by 
the service yards and rear-end functions, it lacks active frontage 
or identity. Morrison’s car park forms the key arrival point from 
either Station Road or the High Road, the later journey made 
via an unwelcoming alleyway to the south of the library. There 
is a low-rise housing development sitting behind Mayes and 
Parkland Roads, offering a more domestic scaled space, albeit 
one that severs connections between the High Road and 
Cultural quarter. Fronting Wood Green Common is a modest but 
characterful Victorian terrace whilst the Duke of Edinburgh pub 
and former Barratt’s Sweet factory sit on the threshold with the 
Cultural quarter. 

4 Parkland & Morrisons

 Karamel restaurant and gallery

The Wood Green Cultural quarter was first designated in the 
1998 Unitary Development Plan as an area that could support 
employment space, create jobs and improve links within the 
surrounding area. The area was once home to Barratt’s sweet 
factory that moved out in 1980. Its building on Clarendon 
Road is now one of the areas most prominent, outward facing 
buildings. There is a lot of activity happening here but little 
evidence of it with frontages generally quite inward looking. The 
key building at the heart of the quarter is the chocolate factory, a 
five storey 1930’s conversion with a smaller 1980’s three-storey 
addition to the south which provides workspace to a number of 
creative industries. Other uses include The Karamel Restaurant 
which brings social life to Wood Green and sits within another 
important site, the Celtic Bakers wholesale bakery, Alexandra 
Primary School and a household waste site.

6 Cultural quarter

Market Hall within The Mall

Built in the late 1970’s, The Mall occupies the site of the former 
Noel Park and Wood Green Railway Station. According to a 
recent GLA healthcheck the High Road and Mall attract 220,000 
visitors each week. The Mall is split by the High Road allowing 
street frontage to many stores; a bridge at first floor links the 
two halves. The distinctive red Southwater brick was selected 
to blend in with the surrounding streetscape but its scale 
exaggerates areas of blank frontage and contributes towards a 
‘back-end’ problem, an issue not helped by numerous service 
yards and unintuitive alleyways.

To the west, the centre is six storeys high with shops on the 
lower levels and housing above. An internal route connects 
this side with the High Road, passing through the busy market 
hall, a space which reflects the area’s diversity and which adds 
vibrancy.

5 The Mall

A market stall on Brampton Park Road

The High Road here appears to revert to a typical Victorian 
typology with market stalls occupying side streets. However, 
on the south-eastern edge, traditional units conceal the Empire 
Development, built as part of the Central Area scheme in 1975. 
This sits across Dovecote Avenue which forms a pedestrian 
approach but which severed an east-west link leading towards 
Noel Park. A supermarket and car park sit below low-rise 
housing intended to show how commercial development could 
be brought forward without housing loss. The south-eastern end 
of the High Road supports larger floor plate retailers.

3 High Road South

Page 45



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

22

Artist’s impression of proposals

The Great Northern Railway Embankment that is recognised 
as an ecological corridor defines the western edge of the 
Clarendon Road development. The Moselle River is culverted 
below, running east-west across the site before turning 
northwards and passing beneath the industrial site behind 
Hornsey Park road.

In 2009 outline planning approval was granted for significant 
residential led development but a revised application with an 
increased number of residential units is expected. The area is 
largely characterised by redundant light industrial land to the 
north and a well used but utilitarian business estate to the south. 
Activities here include a button manufacturer and yoga centre. 
The area is home to two gas-holders which will be demolished 
to make way for the new housing.

7 Clarendon Road development

Well used shops on Turnpike Lane

Identified as a local shopping centre, Turnpike Lane is a low rise 
High Road with a messy and slightly disorganised appearance 
typical of a well used and functional area. Commercial units are 
typically organised along the southern edge of the street with 
the northern edge adjacent to Parkside Malvern predominantly 
catering for residential use. Predominant use classes are A1 
and A3 with speciality shops and a food offer spreading up 
from Green Lanes to the south. On the northern edge of the 
road towards the underground station, commercial units have 
taken advantage of a larger forecourt between the footpath and 
premises to either provide outdoor displays or seating.

10 Turnpike Lane

Portrait of the area - Character Areas

Outdoor gym in Ducketts Common

Tube and bus stations reinforce this areas identity as a local 
transport hub, a status set to take on greater importance if 
Crossrail 2 arrives. Sitting around a key route towards Tottenham, 
it is an important thoroughfare, which has a significant impact 
upon pedestrian experience. The tube was part of the Piccadilly 
line extension and set new aesthetic standards. Designed by 
Charles Holden in the 1930s it is a well-preserved example of 
modernist London Transport architecture and is Grade II listed. 
The bus station was covered in 1968 as part of a “reshaping 
plan” but was removed as part of development in the late 1990s. 
Ducketts Common is well used with provisions such as an 
urban gym. Paths pick up desire lines allowing pedestrians to 
avoid congestion around the station. As a transport interchange 
of some significance, consideration will need to be given to 
enhancing Piccadilly line and bus line interfaces and impacts on 
development scenarios.

9 Turnpike Lane Station & Ducketts Common

New River Path, threshold with Heartlands High School

Sitting to the east of Station Road within a conservation 
area, this once abutted Tottenham Wood. It is bisected by a 
straight footpath and enclosed by railings and the brick wall of 
Heartlands High School to the west. This area is open grassland 
with a playground whilst the east side, Barratt Gardens, was laid 
out between 1912 and 1930. It features a pergola with a series 
of paths radiating from a central area with a drinking fountain 
dedicated to C W Barratt whose factory stood on the corner 
of Mayes Road. The council completed improvement works in 
2011 including improved lighting, railings and planting. London 
plane trees line the north, east and part of the south sides. The 
New River runs beneath Station Road and can be seen passing 
under the railway tracks to the west.

8 Wood Green Common

Page 46



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

23

Parkside Malvern sits to the south of the AAP area, bordered by 
the Mall and High Road and Turnpike Lane and Clarendon Road 
development. The area is made up of Victorian and Edwardian 
terraced housing. Despite its proximity to Wood Green residents 
typically identify themselves with Hornsey, perhaps as a result 
of street patterns that generally shift visits in this direction as 
opposed to toward the High Road. Alexandra and Burghley 
Roads run north-south through the centre of the area, and aside 
from one alleyway, do not afford east-west connections between 
the two sides. Alleyways are not uncommon particularly along 
the rear of retail units serving the High Road. An active residents 
group has made efforts to improve these. Although housing 
does not face the site directly, the threshold with the Mall is 
uncomfortable in terms its blank frontage and scale. On Hornsey 
Park Road, Lime Treed open space sits at the proposed entrance 
to the Clarendon Road development and as one of the only green 
spots it is a point of contention.

11 Parkside Malvern

Lime Trees Open Space on Hornsey Park Road

Housing on Salisbury Road

Noel Park estate is recognised as a conservation area and 
consists of 2,200 dwellings built between 1883 and 1907 on 
farmland belonging to Dovecote House. The project took 
advantage of the opening of a station on the Palace Gates 
branch line in 1878, which provided a convenient route to the 
factories of east London. Five types of houses were built and are 
easily recognisable at key junctions by turret-like gables. It has 
been suggested these were designed to resemble dovecots in 
reference to the farm they replaced. Residents were entertained 
at the Empire Theatre from 1912 but no public houses were 
permitted on the estate. Noel Park & Wood Green station closed 
in 1963 and was demolished in the 1970s to make way for 
The Mall and Bury Road Carpark which severed the historic 
Dovecote Avenue route between the estate and High Road. The 
old goods yard became the site of the Sandlings development.

13 Noel Park Estate

The Salisbury

Although not immediately adjacent to Wood Green the heart of 
Green Lanes to the south of Turnpike Lane offers a precedent 
for how the High Road offer and environment could be 
strengthened. Green Lanes runs north-south through Harringay 
but at the junction with Turnpike Lane temporarily changes its 
name and runs through Wood Green as ‘High Road’, resuming 
its identity at Lascotts Avenue. It’s a historic route for taking 
cattle to Smithfield market with its name derived from land such 
as Ducketts Common where the animals could graze en route. 
Today it has a strong Turkish and Kurdish community, seen in 
the large number of speciality shops and restaurants that define 
the vibrant High Road. One key landmark as approached from 
Turnpike Lane is The Salisbury, a listed pub on Grand Parade.

14 Green Lanes

Housing on Lordship Lane

Lordship Lane is a key arrival point and important bus route 
linking Wood Green to Tottenham High Road via Lordship 
Recreation ground and Bruce Castle park. Historically it was the 
first connection between these two area and in 1904 tram tracks 
were laid to improve the journey, terminating at Bruce Castle.

Residential units from a mixture of periods form the primary 
street frontage. Notable buildings include the Mecca Bingo Hall, 
which has been identified for redevelopment, Hollywood Green 
cinema and Wood Green crown court. This substantial building 
was originally a school, built in 1865 in a Gothic style. In 1974 it 
began life as a law court before being rebuilt in 1989 following 
a fire. Its impressive roof is clearly recognisable on the areas 
skyline when viewed from a vantage point such as the Mall 
carpark.

12 Lordship Lane

Page 47



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

24

Public Transport Accessibility 
The area is well served by public transport and this is demon-
strated by the Public Transport Accessibility Level (PTAL) score 
which is predominately 6-6b (excellent) across the study area 
lowering to 4 (medium) in the far west around the gas works.  
Opportunities to increase PTAL in the limited areas where it falls 
below 6 will be explored in the forthcoming Investment Frame-
work.  This is likely to be through the opening up of new pedes-
trian links where buildings currently prevent access.

Underground 
The study area is located on the Piccadilly London Underground 
line and features two stations.  Wood Green in the north of the 
study area and Turnpike Lane to the south.  Both stations are 
located in Zone 3 with Turnpike Lane also being a major bus 
interchange in North London.  No step free access is available at 
the stations; however, opportunities for addressing this through 
the proposals being developed for Crossrail 2 could change this 
in future.

In September 2015, TfL will begin operating a 24-hour service 
on the Piccadilly Line. This will further enhance the public 
transport offering in Wood Green and support the evening and 
night time economy in the area. 

Rail 
To the west of the study area, Alexandra Palace railway station 
is located on the Great Northern Main Line and provides 
connections to the national rail network. This station is operated 
by Thameslink and provides connections towards Moorgate and 
the City in the south and Welwyn Garden City and Hertford in 
the north. To the south west of the study area Hornsey railway 
station offers similar connections to that of Alexandra Palace. 

Both railway stations are located outside of the study area and 
due to the severance effect created by the railway line have 
limited connectivity.  Alexandra Palace is connected to the 
study area via Station Road which connects with High Road 
and Wood Green Underground Station to the east.  However, 
the pedestrian route from Wood Green to Alexandra Palace 
features a mixture of footway surfaces and is not considered to 
be of a particularly high standard.  Opportunity therefore exists 
to enhance this east-west connection between stations and on 
towards the Park.

Crossrail 2
The Crossrail 2 safeguarding proposals currently include an 
alignment that would deliver two stations within the vicinity 
of the study area at Alexandra Palace and Turnpike Lane 
Underground Station.  As the railway would be in a tunnel below 
the AAP study area consideration has been given to the type of 
development that is feasible factoring in its presence.

Following discussions between the London Borough of 
Haringey and Transport for London a further option to provide a 
single Crossrail 2 station within the AAP area near Wood Green 
Underground station is being explored.  If this option were to 
be carried forward it would enable a more coherent and denser 
town centre and a stronger east-west route to be formed.  TfL 
carried out public consultation on the plans in Autumn 2015.  It 
should be noted that changing the stations that are served by 
Crossrail 2 will impact the alignment of the route and therefore 
the safeguarding within the study area may change over time.

Bus 
Many bus routes serve the AAP study area, providing 
connections across Central and North London.  The majority 
of services are operated by Arriva. Bus stops in the study area 
are concentrated along High Road, Station Road/Lordship 
Lane, and Turnpike Lane. However, the majority of routes can 
be accessed from the bus interchange at Turnpike Lane station.  
Bus facilities in the study area are of relatively good standard 
with many stops featuring shelters, timetable information and 
disabled friendly kerbing.

The majority of the study area already features a reasonable 
PTAL score and bus based public transport is measured with 
reference to the number of services and stops located within 
640m walking distance.  The bus stops on High Road are 
located within 640m walking distance of the sites in the west 
of the study area and therefore these stops are accessible.  It 
is our intention that through the options clearer, more direct 
pedestrian routes could be delivered from the development 
plots in the west to the High Road which would further improve 
the accessibility of the sites.

Road Network
The A105 High Road runs on a north-south axis through the 
study area and is part of the Transport for London Strategic 
Road Network (SRN) linking Wood Green with the City. The 
High Road also runs through the Metropolitan Centre of Wood 
Green and as such is a busy High Road environment with 
a concentration of retail on both sides that results in high 
pedestrian footfall.  Coupled with several bus routes and high 
volumes of through traffic means that the road is very congested 
with slow moving traffic a feature throughout much of the day 
and evening.  High Road is recognised as a congestion hotspot 
in the borough, however, there are limited alternative north-
south corridors and opportunities to improve highway capacity 
are likely to be limited. A major public realm enhancement has 
recently been introduced on the High Road which has improved 
the environment for all users.

There are two east-west A class roads that runs through the 
study area. The A504 Turnpike Lane to the south of the study 
area, which connects with Turnpike Lane Underground Station 
and bus interchange, and the A109 Lordship Lane towards 
the north of the study area, which connects with Wood Green 
Underground Station. The remainder of the road network is 
made up of predominately residential streets.  Some of these 
feature traffic calming to reduce the potential for rat-running and 
on-street car parking is controlled through a Controlled Parking 
Zone (CPZ).

Parking 
A parking survey was undertaken by Transport for London in 
2010.  The study area of the 2010 survey was comparable to 
that of the AAP study area and as such, in the absence of a 
more up to date survey which is scheduled for the Autumn, 
has been used to inform this baseline study.  Within the AAP 
study area there are approximately 2,650 off-street retail parking 
spaces and approximately 3,017 on-street parking spaces, of 
which 1,123 spaces (23% of total on- and off- street parking) are 
for residential permit holders. The 2010 parking survey reveals 
that throughout the week a maximum occupancy of 54% was 
reached throughout the off-street car parks surveyed suggesting 
that ample capacity exists within the existing parking provision 
to cater for additional demand.

Portrait of the area - Transport and movement

Page 48



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

25

A CPZ covers the on-street areas within the study area and 
restricts parking to residents, shoppers and essential users.  
There are three controlled zones which are tailored towards the 
respective land uses in the zone’s area.  

Walking and Cycling 
There is currently only one north-south cycle route within the 
study area along High Road, with no other direct alternative 
routes on quieter streets. East-west walking and cycling 
connections across the study area are also limited with no direct 
routes that connect the development opportunity sites on either 
side of High Road. 

Analysis of walking distances and the areas which are within 
960m of each train and underground station in/around the study 
area reveals that Wood Green Underground Station provides 
access to a large number of potential development sites. While 
several development opportunity sites are in close proximity 
to Alexandra Palace station, the Great Northern Main Line also 
creates significant severance, limiting movements between the 
study area, the station and areas to the west. 

The Council and Transport for London have undertaken 
significant work to improve the public realm and streetscape 
in Wood Green to create a greener, brighter, and safer town 
centre. Over £4 million has been invested to de-clutter 
footways and open spaces between Wood Green and Turnpike 
Lane Underground Stations to make the High Road a more 
welcoming place for residents.

Constraints 
• Limited direct and continuous east-west and north-south 

walking and cycling routes across the study area that 
connect to key destinations; 

• Severance to east-west walking and cycling opportunities 
created by the busy High Road, and Great Northern Main 
Line;

• Congestion on High Road detracting from the pedestrian 
and cycle environment;

• Peak time congestion on the Piccadilly Line and Great 
Northern services restricting growth on these routes.

Opportunities
• Increased public transport accessibility and connectivity 

with a new Crossrail 2 station(s) at either Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace or Wood Green; 

• An improved High Road that provides an attractive urban 
realm; 

• Rationalisation of parking supply and increase of parking 
utilisation through parking demand measures across the 
study area to enable more efficient use of land and support 
redevelopment (subject to parking surveys being conducted 
in the Autumn); 

• A wide range of bus services accessible throughout the 
study area and two underground stations making public 
transport a viable alternative to the private car; and

• Opportunities through redevelopment to open up east-west 
and north-south connections for pedestrians and cyclists 
and improve the PTAL score to the west of the study area.

Area of Interest

LU Station

Railway Station

Bus Stop

Bus Route

Great Northern Rail Line

Bus Routes:
184, W3 & N91 towards
Barnet, Finsbury Park and
Cockfosters.

Bus Routes :
232, 121, 329, W4, N29, N29 towards Brent,
Enfield and Palmers Green

Bus Routes:
W3, 144 & 243 towards
Edmonton and Waterloo

Bus Routes:
144, 29, N29 & N91
towards Mulswell Hill and
Trafalgar Square

Bus Routes:
123 towards Illford

Bus Routes:
W4, 230 & 67 towards
Tottenham,
Walthamstow and
Algate East.

Bus Routes:
141, 29

WOOD GREEN
Piccadilly Line

TURNPIKE LANE
Piccadilly Line

Hornsey Station
Services to Moorgate, Herford, Gordon

Hill  and Welwyn Garden City

Alexandra Palace Station
Services to Moorgate,

Herford, Gordon Hill and
Welwyn Garden City

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0002

Public Transport Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

Area of Interest

LU Station

Railway Station

Bus Stop

Bus Route

Great Northern Rail Line

Bus Routes:
184, W3 & N91 towards
Barnet, Finsbury Park and
Cockfosters.

Bus Routes :
232, 121, 329, W4, N29, N29 towards Brent,
Enfield and Palmers Green

Bus Routes:
W3, 144 & 243 towards
Edmonton and Waterloo

Bus Routes:
144, 29, N29 & N91
towards Mulswell Hill and
Trafalgar Square

Bus Routes:
123 towards Illford

Bus Routes:
W4, 230 & 67 towards
Tottenham,
Walthamstow and
Algate East.

Bus Routes:
141, 29

WOOD GREEN
Piccadilly Line

TURNPIKE LANE
Piccadilly Line

Hornsey Station
Services to Moorgate, Herford, Gordon

Hill  and Welwyn Garden City

Alexandra Palace Station
Services to Moorgate,

Herford, Gordon Hill and
Welwyn Garden City

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0002

Public Transport Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

Public Transport Network

Great Northern Rail Line
Bus route

Bus stop
Railway station
LUL station

Area of Interest

LU Station

Railway Station

Bus Stop

Bus Route

Great Northern Rail Line

Bus Routes:
184, W3 & N91 towards
Barnet, Finsbury Park and
Cockfosters.

Bus Routes :
232, 121, 329, W4, N29, N29 towards Brent,
Enfield and Palmers Green

Bus Routes:
W3, 144 & 243 towards
Edmonton and Waterloo

Bus Routes:
144, 29, N29 & N91
towards Mulswell Hill and
Trafalgar Square

Bus Routes:
123 towards Illford

Bus Routes:
W4, 230 & 67 towards
Tottenham,
Walthamstow and
Algate East.

Bus Routes:
141, 29

WOOD GREEN
Piccadilly Line

TURNPIKE LANE
Piccadilly Line

Hornsey Station
Services to Moorgate, Herford, Gordon

Hill  and Welwyn Garden City

Alexandra Palace Station
Services to Moorgate,

Herford, Gordon Hill and
Welwyn Garden City

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0002

Public Transport Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

Area of Interest

Signed Cycle Route

Quieter Road Cycle Route

Off Road Cycle Route

Pedestrian Only Cycle
Route Connection

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0003

London Cycle Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

Pedestrian only cycle route connection
Off road cycle route

Quieter Road Cycle Route
Signed cycle route

Area of Interest

Signed Cycle Route

Quieter Road Cycle Route

Off Road Cycle Route

Pedestrian Only Cycle
Route Connection

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0003

London Cycle Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

Area of Interest

Signed Cycle Route

Quieter Road Cycle Route

Off Road Cycle Route

Pedestrian Only Cycle
Route Connection

AECOM
MidCity Place
71 High Holborn
London, WC1V 6QS
+44 (0)20 7061 7000
www.aecom.com

PROJECT

Wood Green
Investment
Framework

I/R

IS
O

 A
3 

42
0 

x 
29

7m
m

ISSUE/REVISION

SHEET TITLE

SHEET NUMBER

PROJECT NUMBER

DATE DESIGN DRAWN CHK'D APP'D

NOTES

La
st

 s
av

ed
 b

y:
 T

U
R

LE
Y

C
(2

01
5-

07
-2

3)
   

  L
as

t P
lo

tte
d:

 2
01

5-
07

-2
3

Fi
le

na
m

e:
F:

\L
O

N
D

O
N

 D
E

V
 P

LA
N

N
IN

G
 L

IB
R

A
R

Y
\P

R
O

JE
C

TS
\6

03
45

44
2 

- W
O

O
D

 G
R

E
E

N
 IN

V
E

S
TM

E
N

T 
FR

A
M

E
W

O
R

K
\D

R
A

W
IN

G
S

\W
O

R
K

IN
G

\1
50

72
3 

A
C

C
E

S
S

IB
IL

IT
Y

 P
LA

N
S

.D
W

G

KEY

60345442

60345442-SKE-0003

London Cycle Network

This drawing is based on '1341-WGIF Base
Map 010615' provided by AECOM Urban
Space and Design.

London Cycle Network

Page 49



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

26

Portrait of the area - Housing need

This section of the AAP sets out the context for housing need 
strategically across LB Haringey, and more locally in Wood 
Green. 

Strategic Housing Need  
As set out in the 2015 London Plan, the Mayor recognises the 
pressing need for more homes in London and to help boost 
significantly the supply of housing. Informed by the need for 
housing set out in the GLA’s 2013 Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA), the London Plan sets out the average 
annual minimum housing supply targets for each borough until 
2025. 

Haringey’s 10-year housing target is 15,019 new homes, or 
1,502 per annum. 

To reflect the new strategic target of 1,502 home per annum 
(2015-2025), LBH recognise a strategic housing need of 19,802 
homes over the plan period to (2011-2026) (Source: Local Plan: 
Alterations to Strategic Policies 2011-2016). 

Borough Objectively Assessed Housing Need
As set out in the 2014 LBH Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA), the demographic based projections 
predict growth in population across Haringey of circa 37,311 
people over the projected period (2011-2026). This translates 
to a need for 20,172 new homes or an annual new housing 
requirement of 1,345 in Haringey, taking into account an existing 
backlog of 8,364 homes.

Wood Green Housing Need
Wood Green’s housing need has accelerated in recent years. 
According to the LBH SHMA, Wood Green’s population grew by 
24% between 2001 and 2011 - the highest rate of population 
growth in Haringey over this period. Translated into housing 
growth, Wood Green saw an increase of 17% new housing over 
the same period, compared to only 5% in more affluent areas 
such as Muswell Hill and Highgate. 

Future housing need is more difficult to define across a smaller 
scale study area such as within the Wood Green AAP boundary. 
The most accurate method of demonstrating future local 
need in Wood Green is to examine ward-level GLA population 
projections for Noel Park. This incorporates Wood Green Town 
centre as well as Noel Park Conservation Area in the east.  

As set out in the table below, Noel Park is projected to increase 
by 8,119 people (or 58%) between 2011 and 2026, based 
on GLA 2014 Round of Demographic Projections (Ward 
projections).

Whilst no household forecast exists for Noel Park ward, a high 
level estimate of the implied increase in households can be 
calculated through the application of the Haringey Average 
Household Size (AHS). Applying the AHS of 2.48 persons per 
household to the population growth of 8,119 to 2026 implies a 
requirement for an additional 3,274 households.

Noel Park Ward Population Projection

2011 14,009

2016 15,353

2021 18,895

2026 22,128

Total Population Growth 8,119

% Growth 58%

Page 50



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

27

Portrait of the area - Property and economic context

In reviewing the property market for key uses around Wood 
Green, databases such as EGi (Estates Gazette Interactive), 
Molior, and Planning Portal have been consulted alongside local 
agents, as well as input from in house Cushman Retail, Leisure, 
Office, Residential and Hotel specialists.

Residential 
The number of new build residential developments in Wood 
Green is comparatively low in comparison to areas in the south 
of the Borough such as Finsbury Park. 

There has been an increase in planning applications for larger 
scale residential development within Haringey in the last 5 years. 
The current strong level of demand for residential property in 
London is felt keenly in areas surrounding Wood Green such as:

• Finsbury Park
• Alexandra Palace
• Muswell Hill 
• Crouch End
• Bounds Green

There are also several speculative / potential residential 
development sites in close proximity to Wood Green. 

The Clarendon Road development is likely to be most significant 
future residential development in the Wood Green area as it has 
the potential to deliver a large number of homes near Wood 
Green and Turnpike Lane Underground stations.  

Retail Use
Retail is a reasonably viable use however at present rental 
levels are relatively low compared to other Metropolitan town 
centres.  An improvement in the retail accommodation, leisure 
offer, public realm, and shopper profile is likely to improve rental 
levels.

Research from EGi shows that currently there is approximately 
85,000 sqft of available retail space on the market in Haringey 
of which the majority (circa 85%) is A1 retail. The majority of 
availability is clustered around the areas of Muswell Hill High 
Street, Wood Green / Turnpike Lane and Bruce Grove. In Wood 
Green it is estimated there is between 20,000 – 25,000 sq ft of 
A1 space currently available.

Within the study area, retail is mostly A1 and clustered around 
the High Road and within The Mall. Research shows there 
is between 20.000 – 25,000 sqft of A1 retail space currently 
available on the market.

In terms of a per annum rental rate in £ psf for High Road retail 
in Wood Green, the evidence shows a wide range of values 
achieved from circa £20 psf up to £55+ psf. Many of these units 
are relatively small (circa 1,000 sqft or less) and therefore a large 
proportion of their floor plate are part of Zone A space, driving 
up the overall £ psf as a result.  

In terms of zone A it is understood from agents that High Road 
units of circa 1,000 sqft typically achieve circa £50 psf ITZA in 
Wood Green. 

Discussions with local agents and landlords identified the High 
Road as a more attractive location than The Mall for potential 
occupiers with the former being more affordable and providing 
larger, more flexible retail units as well as high footfall. That said, 
Wood Green town centre is lacking the 6,000 sq ft units most 
sought after by retailers; while many enquiries, especially for 
A3/A5 space, have resulted in potential occupiers, particularly 
those at the mid to lower end of the market, being put off by the 
limited affordability of retail units.

The Mall is a focus for value driven demand, while demand on 
the High Road is less value and more brand driven.

The future of retail development in Wood Green town centre 
in terms of type, scale and location will be substantially 
determined by the interest of retailers moving into, re-locating 
or expanding there. Improving the quality of Wood Green’s 
town centre by incorporating a higher quantum and variety of 
food and beverage outlets, in particular restaurants, would be 
beneficial to the area.  

The recent and ongoing trend in Wood Green has been the 
decline in middle market retailers (with the likes of Dorothy 
Perkins and Marks & Spencer moving out).

Leisure and Other Retail: A3, A4 and A5
From our analysis, Wood Green’s proportion of leisure 
floorspace against other uses is in keeping with expectations in 
terms of volume provided. 

Wood Green has an under-supplied A3/A5 market characterised 
by strong retail demand.  Wood Green appears to contain a high 
quantity of takeaways in proportion to restaurants and cafes 
when compared with other Metropolitan centres. It is a market 
which is not yet established with limited quality and outdoor 
‘dining’ space.

The mix of restaurants, in particular the proportion of restaurants 
when compared to takeaways or fast food outlets can help 
when determining the classification of the area in terms of the 
quality of tenant mix; areas with high levels of takeaways, fast 
food outlets, and betting shops are generally of a poorer quality 
which will deter more premium retailers and leisure operators.

Page 51



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

28

D2 Leisure - Cinema, Theatres and Nightclubs, 
Gyms
There are currently two cinemas in Wood Green; The Vue and 
Cineworld.  Wood Green is therefore very well served and it is 
not anticipated that there will be viable demand for a further 
cinema unless one cinema was redeveloped for other uses and 
there was a dramatic increase in footfall to Wood Green.  

There has not been any standalone provision of theatres or 
nightclubs in Wood Green identified, which are included as 
a measure of health in the GLA’s London Town centre Health 
Check reports.  This could present an opportunity to further 
enhance the leisure offer in Wood Green.

Gym use is a growing market in particularly the affordable end 
of the market. There are at least three affordable gyms in close 
proximity of Wood Green including The Gym, Easy Gym (within 
the Mall) and Zone Gym. 

There are currently no high end gyms in the Wood Green area 
although typically these types of gym charge membership fees 
at 2/3 times the price of affordable ones. For higher end gyms 
to be viable they require high levels of footfall as well as high 
spending power from the local area

C1:  Hotels
At present there are no branded hotels in Haringey, just small 
independent hotels and B&Bs, the majority of which are found in 
the Finsbury Park area as well as two in the Turnpike Lane and 
Tottenham areas.  United Lodge Hotel is the closest to Wood 
Green, located at the northern tip of Finsbury Park. This hotel 
charges circa £80-120 / night.

In April 2014 the first branded hotel in Haringey was granted 
planning consent for a Premier Inn to be developed by Berkeley 
Square Developments.  The hotel will have an estimated value at 
circa £9.5m (circa £5 – 6k / room key rate). The Premier Inn will 
be located a few meters from Tottenham Hale Station within the 
Tottenham Hale Gyratory.  Premier Inn operates an existing hotel 
on Advent Way in Edmonton 3.5 miles east of Wood Green.

There is hotel demand from budget hotel operators in the wider 
Haringey area (branded). Currently there is an active requirement 
from Premier Inn for a hotel in Finsbury Park (100 beds) and 
Wood Green (80 beds).

Another possible source of demand in Haringey in the future is 
that of conversions from office to hotel. It is unlikely that a prime 
or high specification property will be financially viable to convert 
to a hotel, however a low quality grade B office has the potential 
for a viable conversion. This is very dependent on specification / 
design constraints which can only be assessed on a site by site 
basis.

Health (D1)
In addition to benefiting the local community, the addition of D2 
class space intended for a health centre or GP surgery medical 
can bring the following benefits to the viability of a development:

• Long term leases (up to 15/20 yrs)
• Good rental values 
• Better yields (good covenant strength)
• Typical size  - 2,500 – 6,000 sqft for a GP surgery or health 

centre
• Location more flexible, does not need to be prime pitch 

High Road

Employment Use - Office
Market analysis indicates that Wood Green and the wider 
Haringey area has a very limited established office market i.e. 
office space let on FRI lease terms. However demand has been 
identified for B1a office space that is let on flexible terms such 
as SME workspace. Further details of the typologies of space 
that have been analysed are given in the AECOM-Cushman 
Employment Land and Workspace Study.

Based on analysis within the AECOM-Cushman Employment 
Land and Workspace Study, workspace can broadly be 
separated into the following typologies:

• Artist’s studios
• Co-working spaces
• Start-up and other SME space
• Grow on/move on space
• Corporate office space

When this document refers to workspace, its is referring to 
space within any of the above categories.

In terms of the provision of workspace, about half of all 
workspaces in London are provided through the conversion of 
existing buildings, in particular older industrial stock including 
warehouses and loft style buildings which are attractive to digital 
technology and creative industries.

Wood Green currently only has a small number of flexible 
workspaces that cater for SME businesses, however due to its 
proximity to the above mentioned boroughs and central London, 
combined with its comparative offer of more affordable land 
and rental values, it is likely Wood Green could become a more 
sought after location for SME workspace in the future, primarily 
driven by its comparably lower rental affordability, which is key 
for target SME occupiers. 

Haringey has a large proportion of micro businesses (businesses 
with <10 staff) relative to surrounding London boroughs. A 
significant proportion of these businesses in Haringey come 
from the arts, fashion and creative industry sector (36%). 
Demand for workspace in the future within the borough is 
anticipated to grow within this sector as well as other creative 
sectors. 

Portrait of the area - Property and economic context

Page 52



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

29

Employment Use - Industrial
The Haringey Employment Land Study 2015 (ELS) showed 
evidence of a lack of supply of new build developments catering 
for industrial and warehousing uses in Haringey and that local 
commercial agents have noted high occupancy in the existing 
protected industrial estates. The study also showed a potential 
lack of future availability of B1c/B2 space to meet current 
demand. As identified earlier in the report, SME workspace is 
typically provided within conversions of B class space. With 
potential future constraints on supply of B1c/B2 space, there 
could be a lack of industrial space available to come forward for 
conversion to SME workspace in the future.

In terms of availability, the majority of available B class space 
is industrial (B1c, B2 & B8), a 79% share of the total available 
stock. The analysis shows evidence for good levels of demand 
in Haringey for B1c/B2 units from local businesses operating in 
the Borough, however agents report a lack of supply of suitable 
B1c/B2 stock across the Borough. 

In terms of new B1c/B2 stock supply to meet the demand, there 
is a lack of employment locations with capacity for additional 
B1c/B2 in Haringey, whilst some existing industrial locations 
have planning permission for residential-led development such 
as the Olympia Industrial Estate on Coburg Road.

Demand for B1c/B2 in Haringey is greatest for smaller circa 
2,000 sqft units, often popular with small businesses which 
operate within the North London area. Demand for B8 
warehousing is usually for larger size units of 10,000 sqft plus as 
typical modern operations for warehousing require larger scale 
floor plates for storage, transportation and circulation. 

In respect of competition from neighbouring boroughs, local 
commercial agents acknowledged that local businesses 
looking to expand were looking beyond the Borough and outer 
London towards Hertfordshire, which is considered to offer 
better quality, availability and location for light industrial B class 
premises which meet occupier needs.  

In addition, local commercial agents acknowledged that 
local businesses seeking to expand were looking beyond the 
Borough towards Hertfordshire, which is considered to offer 
better quality, availability and location for light industrial B class 
premises. 

Page 53



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

30

The GLA’s London Town centre Health Check Analysis reports 
(TCHC) (2006, 2009 and 2014) measure the performance of 
town centres as classified in the London Plan. 

Wood Green TCHC Findings Overview
The 2014 TCHC report indicates that Wood Green appears 
to be performing at the lower end of the Metropolitan Town 
Centre thresholds. Total floorspace in Wood Green fell by 3% 
between 2007 (124,700 sqm) and 2012 (120,750 sqm) during 
the economic downturn.

By contrast growth in total floor space occurred over the 
same period in 8 out of the 12 Metropolitan centres including 
in Croydon and Shepherd’s Bush.  On an overall basis, Wood 
Green is ranked 10th out of 12 Metropolitan centre in 2014 (with 
Uxbridge and Harrow below) which is a fall from 8th out of 11 
Metropolitan centres in 2009. This downward trajectory in Wood 
Green’s ranking on key measures indicates the need to address 
a number of issues.

Retail  
Retail is one of the key drivers of economic success, vitality and 
viability of town centres, providing jobs and convenient access 
to goods and services for customers. The 2014 TCHC reports 
states that Wood Green recorded losses of Comparison Goods 
retail floorspace over the period 2007 to 2012 however no 
floorspace figures were quoted.

Comparison goods retail accounts for only 76% of total retail 
floorspace in Wood Green where it falls at the lower end of the 
scale for Metropolitan centres at ninth out of twelve centres 
with 68,702 sqm. Most other Metropolitan centres contain a 
higher percentage. Kingston (94%) and Croydon (85%) have the 
highest levels.

This indicates that Wood Green needs to do more to develop its 
Comparison Goods offer.

Wood Green is outside the top 10 Metropolitan centres for 
comparison goods retail turnover (no turnover data provided in 
TCHC report).

Vacancy Rates
Wood Green’s vacancy rate for July 2014 is 5.92% compared 
against a UK average in the same period of 12.3%. This would 
indicate a fairly healthy shopping market albeit one that is 
geared towards a lower end retail offer.

Leisure
Wood Green ranks 8 out of 12 by quantity of leisure facilities 
available and below the levels of other more comparable sized 
town centres such as Sutton, Ilford and Bromley.  However 
when viewing leisure floorspace as a percentage of total 
floorspace it is at the higher end of the scale compared to other 
Metropolitan centres at 21% which is the highest level overall 
(Shepherds Bush and Hounslow register the same percentage) 
whilst the lowest proportion is Croydon at 14%. This indicates 

that the proportion of leisure floorspace is in keeping with 
expectations. In terms of the quality of the leisure offer, Wood 
Green appears to contain a high quantity of takeaways in 
proportion to restaurants and cafes when compared with other 
Metropolitan centres. 

By analysing the sub categories of leisure facilities, it is clear 
that the number of restaurants, pubs-bars-nightclubs and 
cafes is the main area where Wood Green is lacking. With the 
exception of Wood Green and Ilford, the majority of Metropolitan 
centres recorded increases in A3 floorspace. This indicates a 
potential opportunity for Wood Green to focus on as it appears 
to be significantly behind other Metropolitan centres.

Improving the quality of Wood Green’s town centre by 
incorporating a higher quantity and variety of food and beverage 
outlets, in particular restaurants and cafes, would be beneficial 
to the area and would also assist retail performance since it can 
help in increasing dwell-times and spend in a town centre.

Office
Wood Green does not feature in the ranking for the top 7 
Metropolitan centres for office floorspace nor the top 20 for all 
town centres – which includes CAZ and Major centres - with 
only 35,900 sqm of office floorspace. Many Metropolitan centres 
have experienced a surplus of office space and experienced 
the conversion of offices to residential use under Permitted 
Development Rights which has resulted in the net loss of 
108,000 sq. m of office space in London overall.  This trend is 
likely to continue due to pressure for more office space to be 
converted or redeveloped in coming years.

Housing and Development Capacity
Capacity focuses on the ability of town centres to adapt to the 
changing needs of a population and provide opportunities for 
expansion and redevelopment to cater for projected growth.  Of 
the 21,369 residential units with planning permission 8% were 
on the edge of Metropolitan centres and Wood Green recorded 
the highest number of planned net additional dwellings with 
1,250 net additional units.

It was the only Metropolitan centre to feature on the TCHC 
ranking of the Top 20 centres ranked by housing capacity 
from ‘not started’ planning permissions, ranking 5th. This 
indicates that Wood Green has significant capacity to grow by 
accommodating a large number of dwellings around the town 
centre which would increase its vitality and viability. Such growth 
will provide an opportunity for supporting commercial uses 
such as retail and leisure in the town centre since it will assist in 
increasing catchment population and spend.

Financial Performance
Wood Green has been achieving similar rental levels to Harrow 
and more recently Ilford. Whilst Hounslow and Sutton are in a 
lower rental band than Wood Green, Romford and Uxbridge

Portrait of the area - Town centre health

Page 54



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

31

Metropolitan centres record rents approximately 30% or more 
higher. Kingston and Shepherds Bush record the highest annual 
retail rents in 2012 at approximately £3,700 per square metre, 
with the latter being the only Metropolitan centre to record 
noticeable rental growth since 2006. This compares with Wood 
Green at approximately £1,200 per square metre.

Improving the quality of the retail and leisure offer in Wood 
Green will attract better quality occupiers, stimulate occupier 
demand and drive improved rental levels which in turn improves 
development viability.

Accessibility
As Wood Green already achieves a high PTAL level of 6b, it 
should ensure that public transport is maintained at this level 
and where possible further enhanced. The future arrival of 
Crossrail 2 would further improve Wood Green’s PTAL levels.  
Two station options were being consulted on by TfL at the time 
of writing.

Quality of Environment
Wood Green was not ranked in the top 20 for all town centres 
for access to the highest quality of open space. This is a key 
area where Wood Green could seek to improve on to increase 
the number of visitors to the Centre and help protect its position 
as a Metropolitan Centre.

Developing new proposals for public spaces and public realm 
will be key for future development proposals in Wood Green to 
focus on.

Accidents and Collisions
Wood Green had the 3rd highest number of collisions in 2011 
with the main problem coming from private vehicle collisions. 
This indicates that Wood Green could improve road safety 
through initiatives to what assess the design of key roads and 
junctions in the town centre.

Page 55



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

32

Key Issues, Challenges & Drivers - SWOT analysis for AAP area

Page 56



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

33

A popular restaurant activates the public realm

• High Road vacancy below 5%
• 220,000 visitors /week
• Council and services
• Public transport links
• Proximity of Alexandra Palace
• Identity of residential areas
• Strong community
• Vibrant markets
• Meanwhile use projects

Strengths

Service yards and rear-end functions

• Historical lack of planning
• Poor perceptions of place
• High road dominated by traffic
• Congested pavements
• Town centre lacks depth
• Cultural quarter under utilised
• Fear of crime
• Lack of active frontage
• Lack of east west connectivity
• Negative impact buildings
• Poorly defined and unconnected green space
• Lack of retail choice 

Weaknesses

Former railway line seen on Park Avenue

• A redefined and improved Town centre
• Extensive council land ownership
• Very few heritage constraints
• Crossrail 2 is a spur for greater development, considered 

placemaking and improved connectivity (due around 2030)
• Provision of at least 4,600 new homes and job creation
• Building on the existing assets:
 - Green space – improved, revealed and extended
 - Markets – can be expanded
 - Historic building enhancement
 - Chocolate Factory – creative industries
 - Education and cultural
• Celebrating local mix of cultures
• Creating a real destination in the Cultural quarter
• Training and apprenticeship opportunities
• Re-establshment of Council presence
• Significant public realm contributions
• Quick wins

Opportunities

Dominance of other retail areas

• Negative perceptions
• Future retail offer at an expanded Brent Cross & 

redeveloped Tottenham Hale
• High Road confidence following the departure of M&S
• Mountview departure
• Land ownership & landlord appetite for transformation
• Crossrail 2 not arriving

Threats

Page 57



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

34

Looking west towards St Michael’s Church Looking east along Station Road

1 Civic Centre & Trinity Green 2 High Road North

• Significant buildings that contribute a sense of place 
• Connects to a wider green network
• Loose and poorly defined thresholds
• Poor quality public space
• Improve existing green space and public realm
• Redevelop the telephone exchange and civic centre as a 

residential led scheme
• Reveal and improve the setting of key buildings
• Sensitive nature of Civic Centre redevelopment
• Appetite for relocating the travellers site
• Impact of residential development on parking

S

W

O

T

• Victorian buildings on the High Road provide character
• The proposed meanwhile projects
• Outdated and poor quality buildings
• Dominated by hard landscaping
• Busy and congested streetscape particularly around bus 

depot entrance
• Rationalising / developing the bus depot with pedestrian 

links 
• Support of Arriva (essential in relocating bus depot)
• Station Road reinforced as a key gateway 
• Connecting green networks and public space
• Significant public realm outside the library
• Many poor quality buildings in private ownership
• The need to find an alternative site for the bus depot

S

W

O

T

Character Areas

Key Issues, Challenges & Drivers - SWOT analysis for character areas

1 - Civic Centre & Trinity Green
2 - High Road North
3 - High Road South
4 - Parkland & Morrisons
5 - The Mall
6 - Cultural quarter
7 - Clarendon Road development
8 - Wood Green Common
9 - Turnpike Lane Station & 
      Ducketts Common
10 - Turnpike Lane
11 - Parkside Malvern
12 - Lordship Lane
13 - Noel Park Estate
14 - Green Lanes

Scale - 1:2500 @ A1

Identified Character Areas

Character Areas

1

2

4

6 5

7
3

11 9

8
13

12

14

10

Page 58



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

35

Rear elevation from Noel Park

5 The Mall

4 Parkland & Morrisons

Looking north towards Morrison’s carpark

• Landmark buildings that help define the edges of the 
Cultural quarter

• Arguably at the centre of Wood Green. A key threshold.
• Typical of the back-end problem
• East-west connections are severed
• Add depth to High Road and improve links
• Scope for civic space that reinforces local legibility 
• Potential to celebrate the Moselle River
• Externalise vibrancy by relocating Market Hall here
• Rationalise / redevelop existing service yards
• Support of The Mall owners is essential
• Re-provision of a supermarket such as Morrisons will 

require parking
• Council will need to acquire property

S

W

O

T

Facades conceal activity on Coburg Road

6 Cultural quarter

• Mixed-use identity
• Potential for establishing a creative and social life in Wood 

Green.
• Reputation of existing tenants
• Little outward evidence of activity taking place
• Edge conditions and land use to the west
• Make activity more visible and improved connections
• Attract more creative / cultural occupants to the area
• Increase diversity and encourage business enterprise
• Create sub-areas such as an ‘educational quarter’
• Influence the Clarendon Road proposals
• Current planning application influences key thresholds
• Requires the early involvement of a service provider

S

W

O

T

• Major draw on the High Road
• Improvements by community groups
• Lack of active frontage
• Congested, fast paced streetscape
• The Mall has an unsympathetic impact on streetscape
• Provide a softer and more coherent streetscape
• Improved east-west connections
• Significant townscape and regeneration opportunities would 

be created through redevelopment of The Mall
• Arrival of Crossrail 2 could reduce parking need 
• Changes require owner support
• Phased redevelopment to avoid economic disruption
• Removing the bridge will require an operational shift 
• Existing residents must be considered

S

W

O

T

3 High Road South

Dovecote Avenue now leading to Bury Road carpark

• Market stalls occupying side streets
• High quality historic fabric still evident
•  Independent shops such as Big Green Bookstore
• Rear elevations and service yards
• Severs the historic Dovecote Avenue connection
• Crossrail 2 offers opportunity to alter the urban grain
• Has space to support key anchor stores
• Improved legibility between Mall and High Road
• Crossrail key to large scale redevelopment 
• Re-provision of existing servicing and parking provision

S

W

O

T

Page 59



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

36

Industrial unit and embankment on Western Road

7 Clarendon Road development

• Development will increase footfall through CQ
• Theme of fashion and textile prevalent among businesses
• Will contribute towards targeted housing provision
• Slack and poor quality space
• Develop Iceland & adjacent sites to improve frontage
• Existing businesses could contribute towards identity
• A coherent scheme will require the Clarendon Road 

developer’s support
• Seemingly successful businesses would be affected

S

W
O

T

Key Issues, Challenges & Drivers - SWOT analysis for character areas

Congested streets looking west along Turnpike Lane

10 Turnpike Lane

• A well-established local shopping area
• Supports businesses that reflect Wood Greens diversity
• Low vacancy rate
• Lacks sense of arrival from Turnpike Lane
• Vehicular thoroughfare making pedestrian crossing difficult
• Strengthen the gateway at the eastern end
• Create a stronger relationship with the High Road and tie 

into Wood Green
• Area is distinct from the High Road and a more detailed 

appreciation is needed of the local economy to establish if it 
should remain this way.

S

W

O

T

Cafe and a small street market

9 Turnpike Lane Station & Ducketts Common

• Facilities in common are well used
• Public realm improvements show promise
• Street life and activity around the station from cafes etc
• Badly maintained and non-aspirational buildings
• Edges to common are poorly defined
• Bus station occupies a prominent site
• Redevelopment of the bus station to intensify the site
• Redevelopment of key sites around station to reinforce 

identity
• Enhancement of Ducketts Common
• Requires partnership with Arriva and 
• Key sites that would benefit from redevelopment sit within 

multiple private ownerships

S

W

O

T

Pergola in Barratt Gardens

8 Wood Green Common

• One of last remnants of the ‘green that was Wood Green’
• A strong surrounding use mix including educational and 

institutional buildings that create variety and activity
• Barratt Gardens and its drinking fountain have a historic 

narrative relevant today
• Under used in its current state with a disconnection 

between the various areas of green space
• Fences and edge conditions limit access
• Cluttered landscaping attracts anti-social behaviour
• Improve access to increase use
• Connect various green spaces with one coherent identity
• Chance to include this area within the AAP boundary
• Sits within a conservation area so must be respected
• Potential sentiment surrounding the pegola

S

W

O

T

Page 60



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

37

11 Parkside Malvern

• Good housing stock with a well-defined streetscape
• Home to an active residents group
• Local residents have made improvements to streetscape 

including a pocket park and alleyway upgrades
• Suffers from proximity to the back-end of the Mall
• Alexandra and Burghley Road limit east-west links
• Improved east west-connections with High Road
• Provision of a more sympathetic threshold between retail 

and residential
• Residents typically identify more closely with Hornsey
• Creation of more direct east-west links as opposed to 

alleyway upgrades would require property acquisition and 
is not currently seen as viable

• Concerns over density of new housing developments ie 
Clarendon Road

S

W

O

T

Mural in alley leading to Alexandra Road

Housing facing rear-ends on Bury Road

13 Noel Park Estate

• A strong character area with a clear identity
• Well-planned and structured street pattern
• A modest but well considered public space exists at the 

junction with Westbeech and Bury Road
• Strong gateway along Gladstone Avenue
• Generally disconnected from the High Road in terms of 

physical connections and scale
• Sandlings Estate on the former railway service yard restricts 

east-west connections and residents resent wider use
• Re-establish Dovecoat Avenue link alongside other access 

improvements
• Strengthen existing public spaces as key thresholds
• Sympathetic development in terms of scale and frontage

S

W

O

Retail below Hollywood Green on corner of Lordship Lane

12 Lordship Lane

• Good accessibility with a strong residential focus
• Arrival points could be better defined particularly around 

Hollywood Green
• Well placed to support new residential development

S
W

O

Thriving restaurants

14 Green Lanes

• A vibrant and active High Road
• Caters well for and is defined by the local demographic
• Has a well-established food offer
• Evening culture and activity at night improves the 

perception of safety in comparison with Wood Green
• The growth of betting and gaming shops is seen as a 

problem
• Aside from popular independent food stores there is not 

much diversity in the retail offer
• Few places to pause on the High Road
• Loitering and anti-social behaviour is a common concern
• Narrow and overcrowded pavements
• Offers a precedent for how Wood Greens High Road could 

be strengthened

S

O

W

Page 61



Page 62



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

39

Spatial Vision and Strategic Objectives

Objectives
The vision has informed a series of strategic objectives that will
underpin and be used to test the emerging options. These are:

Improving the Town centre
• Deliver a minimum of 4,600 new homes
• Delivery of a minimum of 1,500 new jobs
• Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer
• Securing an Opportunity Area designation
• Supporting local business / setting up a BID
• Improved evening economy

Placemaking
• Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity
• Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax 

and enjoy
• Enhancements and improved access to green space
• Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green
• Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
• Maximising the benefits of CR2
• Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green
• Creating new and improved east-west connections
• Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers
• Links to Alexandra Palace
• Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
• Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services
• Addressing existing deficits in social & community 

infrastructure
• New and improved library
• Leading the way in sustainability

Vision
The vision is of a reinvented and extended Town centre that 
is authentic and individual with a sense of fun, built upon the 
area’s existing communities, cultures and lifeestyles.

It will be a Town centre that has variety, street life and places 
to shop, meet and socialise supported by high quality public 
spaces and markets, all providing overlooked and safe areas 
for dwelling and rest. A green environment will be delivered with 
planting and trees recalling the forest that once stood here. 

At the heart of the new Town centre new Council 
accommodation will be arranged to provide an efficient and 
high quality service. Flexible and varied workspace will be 
brought forward to help deliver new jobs and support existing 
businesses whilst a refreshed retail offer will help inject new life 
into Wood Green’s very long High Road. 

New homes will be provided alongside cultural, leisure, 
education and health facilities to support and serve new and 
existing community members.

In all the vision is for a Wood Green that allows communities 
to thrive, that is connected and modern yet respectful of its 
heritage. It is a place where locals, visitors, entrepreneurs 
and young people want to be and be seen and a place where 
people of all ages are healthy, happy and able to achieve their 
aspirations.

Page 63



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

40

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Generating the Options

Wood Green stands at the heart of Haringey and is the home 
of the council and its civic centre. It is identified as an area 
for ‘Intensification’ in the London Plan, and is currently one of 
twelve Metropolitan centres in London, with over 100,000 m2 
of retail space spread over approximately 330 retail units, with 
more than 220,000 visitors per week. It has the highest public 
transport accessibility (PTAL) level (6B) and plans for up to two 
new Crossrail 2 stations, and the 24-hour service planned for 
the Piccadilly Line in 2016 will make it even better connected. 
It has many brownfield sites that could be developed and the 
Council owns much land and property in Wood Green, which 
will help assemble land and assets for redevelopment and 
regeneration. Alexandra Palace will receive an overhaul, in part 
supported by £24m Heritage Lottery funding, with proposals 
for a new hotel, BBC Museum and leisure facilities within a 15 
minute walking distance of the town centre. Taken together 
these circumstances suggest that Wood Green is ripe for 
reconsideration and redevelopment.

The future of the town centre is ideally situated to accommodate 
major new housing growth (at least 4,600 new homes) – 
including on land owned by the Council itself. But as a London 
town centre with some of the lowest provision of workspace, 
yet extremely good transport connections, and affordable rents, 
Wood Green is well poised to cater for an influx of employers 
from startups in the short to long term to host SME workspace 
providers in years to come. This could also include health care 
or further / vocational education provision downstream. There 
is already an established retail offer, and this can be improved, 
built upon and diversified to support spending profiles of all 
kinds. The catchment area of Wood Green should include 
affluent neighbourhoods such as Crouch End, Muswell Hill and 
Highgate. The town centre must attract the patronage of these 
neighbourhoods in the future and to do so it will need to change 
its image, without loosing its special characteristics, particularly 
family focused leisure and an eastern European market and food 
offer.

The Council is preparing this Area Action Plan (AAP) to enable 
positive change which will set out detailed planning policy for 
the area including plans to revitalise the town centre, for which 
the creation of more welcoming public spaces, restaurants, 
cafés and places to spend the evening in, will be key.  Alexandra 
Palace, itself part of the wider area renewal, will form an 
interesting local destination.

There are four key ingredients to unlocking Wood Green’s 
potential:

Bringing new high-quality, modern housing
There needs to be a range of new homes for rent, shared 
ownership and private sale that will help more people onto the 
housing ladder and tackle Haringey’s housing shortage

Securing long-term economic growth
To improve the local economy, there should be support for 
existing traders to bring new life to the High Road and new 
businesses should be encouraged into the new town centre to 
create new employment opportunities, a diverse economy and a 
better range of places to shop, eat in and enjoy

Transforming transport links to the rest of London and 
beyond
Proposals to build new Crossrail 2 stations at Turnpike Lane 
and Alexandra Palace or, alternatively a singular, central Wood 
Green station, will greatly cut journey times to the rest of the 
capital (Crossrail 1 and 2 interchange at Tottenham Court Road) 
and will bring huge potential for long-term regeneration in the 
surrounding area. 

Building a new town centre upon new east - west routes
Opening up the heart of Wood Green and anchoring it to 
Crossrail, public spaces, residential quarters and a new ‘Cultural 
quarter’ to the west of the High Road.

Options for Wood Green
Four options have been developed which are driven by big ideas 
but which are made up of a number of distinct developmental 
moves, each informed by new roads and routes that define 
and connect the major development parcels and which greatly 
improve east-west connectivity. Public feedback will be sought 
on both ‘the big ideas’ about the future identity of the town 
centre, and each of the distinct ‘moves’ to build up a thorough 
appreciation of local desires and needs. 

Each option has a suggested level of change and a particular 
focus. 

Option 1 delivers the smallest degree of overall change and 
targets the rejuvenation of the High Road by pursuing a mix of 
retail, service and leisure provision, complemented by residential 
development. 

Option 2 proposes a mid range level of change through pursuing 
a residential led regeneration approach that seeks to bring about 
wider change by growing mixed and balanced communities and 
a demand economy. 

Options 3 and 4 target the complete transformation of the 
town centre, directly tackling some of the greatest obstacles to 
change. These place the emphasis on economic regeneration, 
striving to increase and enhance the amount of workspace and 
quality and mix of retail space while also seeking to deliver a 
very significant level of new housing. 

Option 3 will accommodate the two Crossrail stations and will 
strive for transformation though it will not be able to match the 
complete redevelopment that option 4 describes.

Option 4 is refined to better optimise the singular Crossrail 2 
station which would be located below ground in the vicinity of 
the existing library site and linked to Wood Green underground 
station, to maximise and support redevelopment of the 
extended town centre. 

In all cases the intention is to ‘add depth’ to the town centre 
through the Intensification of the ‘Cultural quarter’ (providing a 
mix of living and new types of workspace) west of High Road. 
However, the level of transformation differs considerably. Option 
1 would take between 5 and 10 years to develop, option 2 
around 15 years and options 3 & 4, which place the greatest 
emphasis on the arrival of Crossrail 2, between 15 and 20 years 
to complete the changes described. 

Page 64



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

41

Methodology and assumptions

The approach has been informed by a thorough literature review 
and the identification of gaps in the evidence base for which 
subsequent studies were commissioned covering the following 
areas:

• Council accommodation
• Place making
• Transport and car parking
• Economic vitality
• Employment and workspace
• Social infrastructure assessment
• Decentralised energy hub

Council Accommodation:
The study has determined the best use of Council assets to 
drive town centre regeneration and optimal locations for front of 
house, back of house, civic and registry council services.

Placemaking:
The placemaking study contains character area studies, 
spatial analyses, connectivity and public realm studies, view 
assessments and an assessment of the site allocations policy* 
to inform a basic spatial plan against which various options and 
land use configurations can be tested. 

Transport and car parking:
The study has assessed the impacts of the Crossrail 2 
infrastructure at the large scale and the parking, servicing 
and bus impacts currently impacting on the town centre with 
strategies for improvement. 

Economic vitality:
The study has identified growth areas, economic obstacles and 
strategies to generate a resilient town centre. Retention of the 
Council in Wood Green is seen to be critical in this connection.  

Employment and workspace:
New patterns of work are emerging in the ‘Cultural quarter’ 
which will complement the main economic activity of retail and 
trading.

Social infrastructure:
This assessment determines (against the target development 
levels of various options and land uses) the needs for social 
infrastructure in the form of children’s centres, schools, health 
facilities and public open space 

Decentralised energy hub:
The study has developed a strategy for delivering power from a 
centralised source to aid sustainable development.

Taken together the new studies and existing Council policies 
and guidance define the parameters for regeneration. The 
opportunities, on the other hand, are suggested by the new 
Crossrail 2 infrastructure, the planned extension to 24-hour 
service of the Piccadilly Line in 2016, the quantity of brown 
field and Council owned land in Wood Green town centre, the 
enormous demand for housing in London, and, on the back 
of a growing demand economy, the opportunity for redefining 
the retail landscape to include a higher quality retail offer. The 
current low rental levels also provide a spur in the short to 
medium term to accommodate startup businesses in Wood 
Green. Low rent is considered one of the strongest drivers 
for business relocation, and this could generate growth in the 
‘cultural quarter’ accommodating new workspaces intermixed 
with residential development.   

*Spatial approach

The Site Allocations Draft policy, which sets out the Council’s 
vision for redevelopment across the borough, including the 
Wood Green town centre area, has been scrutinised against 
the evidence base provided by all the studies, and suggestions 
have been made to consider further connective routes in the 
most critical areas and to maximise the opportunities afforded 
by Crossrail 2. The development plots have been further defined 
by the proposed new movement network and High Road 
configuration, focusing on high levels of connectivity east-
west and north-south. Onto this network a number of public 
open spaces have been grafted at critical junctures to aid the 
placemaking drive, and to build a coherent and highly navigable 
town centre that builds in depth off the High Road. Each plot’s 
optimal land use is then considered and a number of high 
level options are generated, as described later. The relocation 
of the Council’s back and front of house services and its civic 
accommodation is a significant driver in its own right, as Council 
employees and their visitors have a significant impact and set 
of demands that help to stimulate the local economy and local 
footfall. The land that the Council vacates has the potential to 
support significant residential led developments, further raising 
the profile of the town centre and contributing to Council funds.

The team has limited, as absolutely as it can, any assumptions 
implicit in the evaluation and design work to date. However, 
for the avoidance of doubt the team considers the following 
statements of intent to be central to the approach:

• The Council will remain in Wood Green
• Retail will remain an important sector for Wood Green 

although the intention is to improve the quality of the offer, 
attract a more diverse range of quality retailers and to 
encourage other forms of economic activity by forming the 
‘cultural quarter’

• Crossrail 2 will serve Wood Green. Whether this is one 
station or two is not yet known, although the consultant 
team believe a new central station would be most 
beneficial.

• There is a high demand for residential accommodation in 
the locality.

• There will be an opportunity of developing higher density 
residential and mixed use areas based on Wood Green’s 
very high Public Transport Access Levels (PTAL)

• Public appetite for change in the area
• The high connectivity will attract business in many forms.

Team testing and consultation
Throughout the design process the team has worked integrally 
to scrutinize and test the validity and viability of the approach 
and this work is ongoing. Currently the design has focused on 
four options for change, as previously described. These have 
and will continue to be tested with key stakeholders and through 
public consultation leading to a preferred option to take forward. 
At the next stage detailed site analysis will be carried out against 
known quanta, housing numbers and mix, social infrastructure 
needs and public realm requirements to refine the scheme.

Page 65



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

42

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Delivery requirements

Option 2 - Residential led town centre
Assuming that the Council is taking a lead role in delivery, this 
option is likely to require:

• Significant land assembly with the strong likelihood 
of a requirement for CPO’s to achieve comprehensive 
development and new linkages envisaged

• Partial redevelopment of the Mall and reprovision of housing 
on Bury Road

• Funding (e.g. through public borrowing and other public 
sources) and/or funding through the contribution of a joint 
vehicle development partner in order to comprehensively 
deliver proposals required and lever private sector funding.

The Area Action Plan will provide a supportive planning policy 
framework in order to guide development and achieve the 
extent of the proposals envisaged in this option, should it be 
selected as the preferred option. Flexibility may be required on 
certain issues such as affordable housing and new workspace 
provision, in order to secure viable development that can 
contribute to infrastructure and public realm improvements 
in the town centre, and subsidies for new workspaces best 
achieved through market housing. The council, through its 
extensive land holdings, may be able to consider disposing of 
land below its market value in negotiations with developers to 
achieve better returns in terms of affordable housing provision. 
This will be considered in more depth in the Investment 
Framework that will follow in due course. An initial high level 
viability assessment suggests that this option is of lower risk.

In all options there is a long term agreement to reprovide 
accommodation for the Council’s front and back-of-office 
functions and civic accommodation. Option 2 proposes that 
civic and back-of-office function is relocated on Coburg 
Road, and that front-of-house offices be provided on the High 
Road. This may require some land assembly in order to fit 
accommodation requirements (the Council’s current ownership 
in the area may not be sufficiently large to accommodate their 
future office requirements).

Relative to option 1, there will be a slighly higher demand for 
infrastructure upgrades to utilities including water, electricity 
and gas in relation to the sites to be redeveloped for residential 
use. Similarly, transport infrastructure upgrades will be more 
significant to support the proposals in this option to better 
accommodate and exploit the arrival of Crossrail 2.

Relative to option 1, there will be a slightly higher demand for 
social infrastructure upgrades, including education, health, 
community and leisure uses, open space and recreation, and 
emergency uses, as approximately 400 additional homes would 
be delivered over the provision planned for option 1. Option 2 is  
also likely to require some road stopping up orders.

Option 2 also anticipates the temporary relocation of part of 
the Arriva bus depot operations in order to carry out extensive 
development above the retained bus depot.

Option 1 - High Road rejuvenation
Assuming that the Council is taking a lead role in delivery, this 
option is likely to require:

• Some land assembly to achieve the proposals in this option 
though the requirement for Compulsory Purchase Orders 
(CPO’s) could be reduced as a greater amount of delivery 
may be possible via the market, assuming Area Action Plan 
policy support. 

The Area Action Plan will provide a supportive planning policy 
framework in order to guide development and achieve the extent 
of the proposals envisaged in this option, should it be selected 
as the preferred option. Flexibility may be required on certain 
issues such as affordable housing requirements, in order to 
secure viable development that can contribute to infrastructure 
and public realm improvements in the town centre. The council, 
through its extensive land holdings, may be able to consider 
disposing of land below its market value in negotiations with 
developers to achieve better returns in terms of affordable 
housing provision. This will be considered in more depth in the 
Investment Framework that will follow in due course. An initial 
high level viability assessment suggests that this option is of 
lower risk.

In all options there is a long term agreement to reprovide 
accommodation for the Council’s front and back-of-office 
functions and civic accommodation. Option 1 targets Station 
Road on the site of existing Council properties and therefore 
no acquisition issues will arise. A temporary decant process 
will need to be considered to house the Council while its new 
accommodation is being constructed.

Relative to the other options, there will be lower infrastructure 
upgrades to utilities including water, electricity and gas in 
relation to the sites to be redeveloped for residential use. 
Similarly, there will be lower transport infrastructure upgrades to 
support the proposals in this option – and it is less dependent 
on Crossrail 2, though Crossrail 2 would assist in enhancing the 
potential pace and certainty of delivery.

Relative to the other options, lower social infrastructure 
upgrades, such as to schooling and health provision, will be 
required, as the number of new homes brought forward will be 
at the lower end of what is considered possible, though still 
significant. 

Page 66



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

43

Options 3 & 4 - Comprehensive redevelopment 
and complete transformation
Assuming that the Council is taking a lead role in delivery, these 
options are likely to require:

• Significant land assembly with the strong likelihood 
of a requirement for CPO’s to achieve comprehensive 
development and the new linkages envisaged 

• Potential comprehensive redevelopment of The Mall 
including reprovision of all housing above and (to varying 
extents) the Arriva Depot, subject to viability

• Management around impacts on residential areas on Mayes 
Road / Caxton Road

• Funding (e.g. through public borrowing and other 
public and private sources) and/or funding through the 
contribution of a joint vehicle development partner in order 
to comprehensively deliver proposals required

The Area Action Plan will provide a supportive planning policy 
framework in order to guide development and achieve the 
extent of the proposals envisaged in these options, according 
to the selection of the preferred option. Flexibility may be 
required on certain issues such as affordable housing and new 
workspace provision, in order to secure viable development that 
can contribute to infrastructure and public realm improvements 
and subsidies for new workspace. The council may be able to 
consider disposing of land below its market value in negotiations 
with developers to achieve better returns in terms of affordable 
housing provision. This will be considered in more depth in the 
Investment Framework that will follow in due course. An initial 
high level viability assessment suggests that option 3 is of a 
higher risk while option 4 is lower risk.

In all options there is a long term agreement to reprovide 
accommodation for the Council’s front and back-of-office 
functions and civic accommodation. Option 3 proposes 
consolidated provision in new premises on the High Road while 
option 4 suggests that civic and back-of-office functions are 
relocated on Coburg Road, and that front-of-house offices will 
be provided on the High Road. This may require some land 
assembly. There may also need to be agreements with other 
landowners to relocate Council functions in Coburg Road.

Relative to option 2, there will be a higher demand for 
infrastructure upgrades to utilities including water, electricity 
and gas in relation to the sites to be redeveloped for residential 
use, particularly for option 4. Similarly, transport infrastructure 
upgrades will be more significant to support the proposals in 
both options to better accommodate and exploit the arrival of 
Crossrail 2, especially for option 4, which anticipates a central 
station in Wood Green.

Relative to option 2, there will be a higher demand for social 
infrastructure upgrades, including education, health, community 
and leisure uses, open space and recreation, and emergency 
uses, as approximately 500 - 1,000 additional homes would 
be delivered over the provision planned for option 2. Options 3 
and 4 are also likely to require some road stopping up orders to 
create effective new routes and connections.

Community benefit
The community benefits of the Wood Green AAP proposals 
relate to those benefits which are ‘non-statutory’. For instance, 
aspects of the regeneration that are required to create an 
attractive place where people want to live, work and visit. 
Across the four options, those benefits include:

• Access to new local jobs
• A new/expanded retail offer, including new food and drink 

opportunities
• New connection and movement opportunities – both 

locally within Wood Green and further afield to surrounding 
neighbourhoods or central London. For example, new 
connections across the railway to Hornsey, Crouch End and 
Alexandra Park.

• New open space provision   
• Investment into the streetscape and existing open space 

to create a more attractive and safer environment for the 
community. 

Social Infrastructure
The social infrastructure work has established the requirements 
to mitigate the impact of population growth arising from new 
development. Therefore, infrastructure improvements to schools 
and health are not really considered a ‘benefit to the community’ 
as they are a statutory requirement.

Page 67



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

44

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Potential development sites

Six strategic development sites have been identified in addition 
to those set out in the Draft Site Allocations Development Plan 
Document (DPD).

The key sites are viewed as making a significant contribution 
to meeting the growth aspirations set out in the Local Plan and 
Options, delivering new homes, jobs, economic growth and 
improvements to the social infrastructure.

Other identified sites
C1 & C2 - Eastern end of housing between Parkland and 
Mayes Roads
These are identified as a critical threshold between the Cultural 
quarter and High Road and the means by which the most 
important east-west link is provided. Redevelopment of this area 
is critical to the delivery of a functional, coherent and scaleable 
town centre, particularly where the Crossrail 2 station option is 
for the singular, Wood Green station. This will add depth to the 
High Road providing improved connections, significant areas 
of public realm alongside residential and retail uses including 
potential for a purpose built market.

D - Metropolitan Police facilities
Redeveloped for educational use whilst providing a new 
connection towards the Cultural quarter.

E - Industrial unit behind houses to the western edge of 
Hornsey Park Road
Redeveloped to add capacity to new residential development on 
Brook Road.

H - Great Northern Railway Embankment
Area to be re-landscaped to improve pedestrian journey towards 
Alexandra Palace. 

N – Greenwood House, 29 -31 Station Road
Redevelopment of out dated building to improve the streetscape 
on Station Road. Active frontage at ground level with residential 
above.

Q - Vue Cinema
Potential for redevelopment providing a Crossrail 2 entrance 
should it be located centrally in Wood Green.

Discounted sites
A - Travellers Site
B - William Hill
F – Corner of Turnpike Lane and Station Road
G - Turnpike Lane Bus Station
J - Hornsey Water Treatment Works, disused reed beds

Page 68



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

45

SA15

SA16

SA17

SA18

SA19

SA20
SA21

SA22

SA27

SA26

SA28

SA29

SA24

SA25

SA23

SA14

SA13

SA12

SA11

SA10

SA5

PP4

C1
D

OP1

OP2

E

H

N

C2

Q

A

B

K
L

M

G

F

J

Site Allocations and Opportunities

SA 10: LBH Civic Centre
Continuation of the buildings civic role, exploiting the site’s capacity to develop onto the car 
park area, or, subject to an alternative premises for the Council’s civic function being secured, 
redevelopment for residential use.

SA 11: Green Ridings House
Redevelopment of existing telephone exchange and offices for residential led mixed use 
development with some employment use.

SA 12: Wood Green Bus Garage
Reprovision of bus stabling on the site, with the construction of a podium level above, creating 
opportunities for development for a mix of town centre, residential uses, increased 
permeability and a new urban space.

SA 13: Station Road Offices
Redevelopment of existing office buildings to create new residential led mixed use 
development and new road layout.

SA 14: Mecca Bingo
Redevelopment of Bingo Hall for secondary town centre uses with residential above.

SA 15: Morrison’s Wood Green
Redevelopment of the supermarket and car parks to create mixed use development 
comprising of town centre uses on the ground floor, with residential above, and improved 
pedestrian connections within Wood Green

SA 16: Wood Green Library
Redevelopment of the library, shopping centre and Asian Centre to create a new urban 
square with pedestrian and cycling link through to Clarendon Square, enhanced town centre 
uses, a new library and residential development.

SA 17: The Mall
Improvements to the public realm around this site building on the current town centre 
improvements on and around the site to improve the feel of Wood Green as a centre.

SA 18: Bury Road Car Park
Comprehensive redevelopment including fine-graining of road layout for mixed residential-led 
development and a potential new Crossrail station entrance onto Wood Green High Road.

SA 19: 16-54 Wood Green High Road
Comprehensive redevelopment of current High road frontage for mixed use development 
consisting of town centre uses at ground and first floor level, with residential above and a 
potential new Crossrail station entrance onto Wood Green High Road.

SA 20: Westbury & Whymark Avenues
Redevelopment of existing town centre buildings to create landmark building marking 
Turnpike Lane Crossrail Station. Town centre uses at ground level and residential above.

SA 21: Turnpike Lane Triangle
Opportunity for landmark building with a mix of town centre and residential uses adjacent to 
Turnpike Lane tube station.

SA 22: North of Hornsey Rail Depot
Residential enabling development securing improved pedestrian and cycling link to Hornsey 
rail station and the west of the borough and improvements to the New River Path.

SA 23: Wood Green Cultural Quarter (north)
Enhancement of the Wood Green Cultural Quarter including the creation of a new north-south 
link between Clarendon Road and Wood Green Common.

SA 24: Wood Green Cultural Quarter (south)
Enhancement of the Wood Green cultural quarter through improvements to Chocolate 
Factory and Parma House, and the surrounding land. Comprehensive redevelopment of the 
remaining sites for mixed use (employment and residential) development.

SA 25: Wood Green Cultural Quarter (east)
Redevelopment of existing buildings to create mixed use development

SA 26: Clarendon Square Gateway
Creation of new link between Wood Green and Clarendon Square. Mixed use re-development 
of existing buildings to create a legible streetscape.

SA 27: Clarendon Road South
Realign Clarendon Rd and create mixed use development to complement the Clarendon 
Square development.

SA 28: NW of Clarendon Square
Redevelopment of existing buildings with new high density mixed use residential and 
employment development.

SA 29: L/A Coronation Sidings
Creation of a mixed use development including a landmark building marking the entrance to 
Wood Green from Alexandra Palace and the west of the borough.

Current Planning Applications

OP 1: Station Road Meanwhile Uses 
GLA funding secured for meanwhile projects across three vacant buildings and a carpark. 
This includes the Green Rooms Arts Hotel.

OP 2: 122-124 High Road, The Mall Wood Green
Application to develop an office building at Alexandra Court to accommodate a 35-bed hotel 
above an existing retail unit that occupies the ground and first floor.

SA 5: Claredon Square
Outline planning application for demolition of existing structures and redevelopment to provide 
a residential led, mixed-use development.

PP 4: Lymington Avenue
Housing development currently on-site.

Other Identified Opportunities

A - Travelers Site (omitted from plan)
B - Greenside House / William Hill (omitted from plan)
C1 - Eastern end of housing between Parkland and Mayes Roads
C2 - Housing adjacent to Mayes Road
D - Metropolitan Police facilities
E - Industrial unit behind houses to the western edge of Hornsey Park Road
F - Corner of Turnpike Lane and Station Road (omitted from plan)
G - Turnpike Lane Bus Station (omitted from plan)
H - Great Northern Railway Embankment
J - Hornsey Water Treatment Works, (omitted from plan, ambition for pedestrian link retained)
K – Properties to the north of Parkland Road (omitted from plan)
L - Rear of Gaumont Palace (omitted from plan)
M – Wood Green Hall of Residence (omitted from plan)
N - Greenwood House, 29 -31 Station Road
Q - Vue Cinema

DPD Site Allocations

1341 WGIF Site Allocations and Opportunities - 151015

DPD Site Allocations
SA 10: LBH Civic Centre
SA 11: Green Ridings House
SA 12: Wood Green Bus Garage
SA 13: Station Road Offices
SA 14: Mecca Bingo
SA 15: Morrison’s Wood Green
SA 16: Wood Green Library
SA 17: The Mall

SA 18: Bury Road Car Park
SA 19: 16-54 Wood Green High Road
SA 20: Westbury & Whymark Avenues
SA 21: Turnpike Lane Triangle
SA 22: North of Hornsey Rail Depot
SA 23: Wood Green Cultural quarter (north)
SA 24: Wood Green Cultural quarter (south)
SA 25: Wood Green Cultural quarter (east)
SA 26: Clarendon Square Gateway

SA 27: Clarendon Road South
SA 28: NW of Clarendon Square
SA 29: L/A Coronation Sidings

Current Planning Applications
OP 1: Station Road Meanwhile Uses 
OP 2: 122-124 High Road, The Mall Wood Green
SA 5: Claredon Square
PP 4: Lymington Avenue

DPD Site Allocations
Planning Applications / Other Projects
Other Identified Sites
Discounted sites

Page 69



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

46

High Road rejuvenation
better management of the service yards, which impact 
negatively on near-by residential areas. A greater mix of 
uses is anticipated on the rejuvenated High Road e.g. 
leisure, services, community functions, and to support 
and manage this process a Business Improvement 
District (BID) is suggested.

Residential development is focused on sites near the 
current crossroads with retail or community use on the 
lower levels. The Civic Centre, Clarendon Road and 
Mecca Bingo sites are also earmarked for residential 
development.

This option anticipates a 5 – 10 year period of 
redevelopment that would target key Council owned 
sites and critical failing town centre sites to build a better 
town centre that would build opportunities for further 
investment downstream.

Outputs
• At Wood Green underground station a typical range of 

heights will be 6-12 storeys with a possible tower of up to 
25 floors

• At Turnpike Lane taller buildings of 11-15 storeys could 
define the arrival point

• Heights of up 15 storeys could also define the head of the 
Penstock Foot Tunnel

• Full High Road rejuvenation and regeneration with mix of 
uses complementing the retail offer

• New Business Improvement District set up
• Popup retail and street events supported
• Town centre heart developed to the south-west of the 

crossroads, but highly constrained and seen as a boost to 
the more successful elements of the Chocolate Factory 1&2 
and other managed workspaces

• High Road equipped with high speed broadband 
connectivity and WiFi hubs

• Car parking provided in strategic outdoor locations
• Council front and back office services would be located 

below redeveloped Council accommodation on Station 
Road

• Civic accommodation would be provided below the 
redeveloped Council accommodation on Station Road with 
registry office services being located elsewhere away from 
the Councils front and back of house accommodation

• Temporary accommodation will be required for front and 
back council offices. A High Road site will be sought for this 
or a phased decant onto another Council owned site

• Mall fully retained but reclad, re-engineered and 
reprogrammed to reduce 1970’s aesthetic and to bring life 
back out onto the streets. This latter move may include the 
reworking of the major (and central) east-west passage of 
the western wing of the Mall

• Connection from new public space on the High Road to a 
new square north of the Clarendon Road development

• Retail and mixed use avenue connecting from the 
crossroads down to Turnpike Lane with residential 
accommodation above

• Town centre residential development brought forward on 
the Mecca Bingo site, Station Road, the Civic Centre and 
on Clarendon Road sites

This option concentrates efforts on restoring the High 
Road as the key economic generator, linked to a smaller 
live work area in the current Cultural quarter, but with 
an offer that would complement High Road retail with a 
range of cultural, entertainment and community focused 
offers.

This option anticipates a smaller town centre heart than 
the other options, but still with a key connection to the 
High Road near the current library site. The Council front 
and back-of-house services and civic accommodation 
are provided on the lower levels of redeveloped council 
accommodation on Station Road with residential 
accommodation above. Registry office services will be 
located elsewhere away from the Councils front and back 
of house accommodation to reduce the Council floor 
plate in the Station Road redevelopment. The Arriva bus 
depot will be left as it currently stands but with frontage 
improvements pursued.

In this option the High Road is seen as one continuum, 
with larger floor plate trading sought near the current 
library position and the proposed new public square. 
Smaller scale convenience retail would be provided on 
the High Road toward Turnpike Lane. The Mall would be 
retained, but targeted façade, lighting and programming 
changes brought into effect to upgrade the 1970’s 
character of the offer. This would include curating outdoor 
markets, popup street food events and other happenings 
alongside the re-skinning of the building, and the 

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 1

Registry services 
elsewhere

CR2

CR2

Work

Retail / Food & Bev

Residential

Council 

Residential above

Page 70



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

47

Targets 

New homes   4,600

Council HQ   Council front and back office services in new 
                                                            development on Station Road.
                                                            The library will be re-provided on the existing library site
    Registry services located elsewhere

Early year Facilities  3*

Primary Schools   3 additional Entry Forms*

Secondary Schools  2.6 additional Entry Forms*

* These figures are based on high level capacity testing and will require further verification.

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 1

Key public spaces
Development blocks 
New and existing routes 
AAP boundary

Option 1 - Block plan

Page 71



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

48

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 1

Viability issues
Option 1 proposes a scale of transformation less ambitious 
than options 2, 3 and 4. Whilst sites that are largely residential-
focused (such as High Road South) have the opportunity to 
achieve viability, there are likely to be challenges in terms of 
viability that need to be overcome in relation to key initiatives 
such as:

• Sites where a large amount of B1 space is proposed, such 
as the Cultural quarter and Green Ridings House (site B), 
since the values that can be achieved in Wood Green for B1 
space are relatively low relative to costs

• The re-cladding,  refurbishment of existing space and 
new extension to The Mall plus the removal of the existing 
bridge structure will entail a significant cost.

Such challenges could affect the viability of the option and the 
extent to which the option will be able to contribute towards the 
cost of funding broader regeneration benefits.

Examples of other delivery considerations related to this option 
are set out below.

Crossrail 2. This option assumes Crossrail 2 will arrive to serve 
Turnpike Lane and Alexandra Palace.  Should CR2 not be 
delivered, the risk to delivery of option 1 is likely to be less than 
that for other options due to the lower extent of growth that 
option 1 proposes.  Notwithstanding this, delivery of CR2 would 
enhance the values of new development key uses, especially 
residential.

Land assembly – the scale of development under option 1 is 
smaller than that under the other options and it is therefore likely 
that land assembly will be less of an issue in terms of cost and 
timing of development, although the Council may still need to 
use its CPO powers if required. However, key areas where land 
assembly could be required include land along the eastern side 
of High Road down to Turnpike Lane (for the provision of new 
retail units). Careful consideration will also need to be given to 
the level of retail floorspace re-provision to ensure that it aligns 
with the demand profile for Wood Green as well as occupier 
requirements while reflecting evolving trends in retail, for 
example, internet shopping.

Infrastructure.  The proposed increase in scale of new 
residential development may require more modest increases to 
utilities and social infrastructure, such as schools and health, 
compared to options 2, 3 and 4. This option will generate less 
and more modest CIL and other financial contributions. 

Consolidation and re-provision of new Council 
accommodation and functions. Option 1 will consolidate 
and provide new front of house and back of house Council 
accommodation along Station Road.  As the Council already 
owns much of the site, this reduces many of the issues 
around deliverability.   The proposal will require temporary 
accommodation for many Council departments. This will have 
time and cost implications. 

Timescale: 5-10 Years.  The proposals would require a shorter 
timescale to realise than options 2, 3 and 4 due to the more 
modest nature of the development.

Page 72



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

49

5

6

3 7

8 9 10

1 2 3 4

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure 1 - Wood Green Common
2 - Chocolate Factory 1
3 - New public space
4 - Chocolate Factory 2
5 - The redeveloped Civic Centre
6 - Station Road
7 - The Mall retained
8 - St Mark’s Church
9 - Noel Park Estate
10 - Turnpike Lane Station

10

1

3 4 3 2

6

9

8

7

5

Option 1 - looking south

Option 1 - looking north

Page 73



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

50

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 1

Alteration to Town centre boundary
The boundary remains unchanged aside from an extension on 
the western edge towards the cultural quarter to add a degree 
of depth to the town centre and help to encourage retail activity 
that will strengthen this key east-west link.

Assessment against the objectives
The list below illustrates how this option responds to each of 
the strategic objectives, ranked from High, Medium to Low with 
‘High’ indicating the greatest alignment with the objectives and 
‘Low’ the least.

Improving the Town centre
• Delivery of a minimum of 4,600 new homes 
• Delivery of 1500 new jobs
• Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer
• Securing an Opportunity Area designation
• Supporting local business / setting up a BID
• Improved evening economy

Placemaking
• Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity
• Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax and 

enjoy
• Enhancements and improved access to green space
• Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green
• Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
• Maximising the benefits of CR2
• Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green
• Creating new and improved east-west connections
• Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers
• Links to Alexandra Palace
• Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
• Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services
• Addressing existing deficits in social & community 

infrastructure
• New and improved library
• Leading the way in sustainability

Page 74



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

51

Ground Floor First Floor Typical Upper Floors 

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 1
Proposed uses 151126

Ground Floor First Floor Typical Upper Floors 

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 1
Proposed uses 151126

Ground Floor First FloorGround Floor First Floor Typical Upper Floors 

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 1
Proposed uses 151126

Upper Floors

Proposed land use

Council accommodation runs across 
six floors

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 1

Leisure uses sit below residential

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub
AAP / IF Boundary
Town centre boundary
Proposed extension to town centre boundary

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Page 75



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

52

Registry services 
elsewhere

CR2

CR2

Residential led town centre

In this option the High Road is developed in two segments, 
one to the north of the current Mall and one to the south, with 
the expectation that these would develop complementary 
offers and support a range of leisure options. In this option 
the eastern segment of the Mall would be completely 
redeveloped, the bridge removed, and better links to Noel Park 
explored. The larger, western segment would have its central 
east – west connection opened up to function as a ‘street’ 
within the retained structure but targeted façade, lighting and 
programming changes brought into effect to upgrade the 1970’s 
character of the offer. This would include curating outdoor 
markets, popup street food events and other happenings 
alongside the re-skinning of the building, and the better 
management of the service yards, which impact negatively on 
near-by residential areas. To support a coordinated offer and 
town centre management, a Business Improvement District 
(BID) is proposed. 

This option anticipates a fifteen-year period of redevelopment 
targeting most Council owned sites and many failing town 
centre sites to build a coherent and pleasant town centre that 
would enhance dwell times and the night time economy while 
providing a large residential offer early on. It should be noted 
that while this option is residential led, it would not be able 
to provide the higher levels of housing option 4 can achieve 
through its more comprehensive approach.

Outputs
• At Wood Green underground station a typical range of 

heights will be 6-12 storeys with a tower of  up to 25 floors
• At Turnpike lane taller buildings of 11-15 storeys could 

define the arrival point
• Heights of up 15 storeys could also define the head of the 

Penstock Foot Tunnel
• Town centre heart developed to the south-west of the 

crossroads, but constrained below and west of the High 
Road and Station Road 

• Residential led mixed-use change 
• Town centre and residential quarters equipped with high 

speed broadband connectivity and WiFi hubs 
• Business Improvement District (BID) set up in two clusters 
• Town centre and new residential areas served by a new 

decentralised energy hub
• Car parking provided in strategic indoor locations
• Council front of house and new library provided on the 

current library site
• Council back-of-house and civic services located on 

Coburg Road
• Eastern segment of the Mall redeveloped
• Connect new public space on the High Road to a 

new public space to the north of the Clarendon Road 
development

• Convenience retail cluster developed below the current 
Mall, supported by the new Crossrail 2 stations

• Town centre residential development brought forward 
on Station Road, above the retrofitted bus depot, on the 
Mecca Bingo site, the former civic centre, on Clarendon 
Road and along the south-eastern fringe of the High Road. 
There is also the potential to use part of the former civic 
centre as a future hotel and consider a residential gateway 
development at Turnpike Lane opposite the underground 
station. 

Option 2 recognises the enormous potential of the enhanced 
connectivity to provide a new cluster of residential quarters 
drawing on the North London offer typified by quality town 
centres and shopping, high quality public spaces, leafy streets 
and innovative food & beverage offers. In this option, Wood 
Green could become the new Crouch End, with an influx of new 
people helping to drive change in the local retail and service 
offers. Careful management and affordable housing will be 
required to build a mixed and balanced community. 

The option anticipates a fairly tightly defined town centre heart, 
generally constrained below Station Road and west of the High 
Road with a very minimal registration of the new cultural quarter 
businesses on the High Road itself. The Council front office  is 
located on the High Road in this proposal, on the current  site 
of the library, which could also be re-provided in an associated 
development. The Council back office and civic accommodation 
would be located on Coburg Road and registry services 
elsewhere.

Residential development is fully encouraged in this option, both 
on the full range of town centre sites, including (above retail 
and other uses) along the High Road down to Turnpike Lane, 
and as a proportionately higher mix within the proposed live/
work development of the cultural quarter. The current Council 
accommodation on Station Road is fully redeveloped for 
residential use with retail and community uses at ground level. 

A residential development above a reconfigured Arriva bus 
depot is also proposed, with a small strip of restaurant or café 
space provided on the High Road as a buffer to the depot. 

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 2

Work

Retail / F&B

Residential

Council 

Residential above

Page 76



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

53

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 2

Key public spaces
Development blocks 
New and existing routes 
AAP boundary

Targets  

Net new homes   5,000

Council HQ   Front of house and new library on current library site
                                                            Back-of-house and civic services on Coburg Road
    Registry services located elsewhere

Early year Facilities  3*

Primary Schools   3.1 additional Entry Forms*

Secondary Schools  2.8 additional Entry Forms*

* These figures are based on high level capacity testing and will require further verification.

Option 2 - Block plan

Page 77



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

54

Viability issues
Option 2’s proposals raise a greater level of challenge to viability 
relative to option 1 since the increased quantum of retail and 
workspace will pose greater challenges in terms of deliverability 
than option 1 especially regarding low values relative to cost. 
Particular sites where there are likely to be challenges to 
achieving viability include:

• The Bus Depot and Station Road, where the site includes 
retention and over-development of the Arriva bus depot 
which would be expensive due to the reconfigration 
construction and engineering costs.

• The Cultural quarter, which includes a greater amount of B1 
space than option 1.

• The Mall, where a significant cost would be incurred in the 
redevelopment of the eastern part of the Mall, its basement 
car parking and servicing and generally in refurbishment 
and re-cladding of the retained building west of the High 
Road. 

• Sites that are largely residential-focused have a higher 
likelihood of achieving viability.

Examples of other delivery considerations related to this option 
are set out below:

Crossrail 2. This option assumes Crossrail 2 will be delivered to 
serve Turnpike Lane and Alexandra Palace. Should CR2 not be 
delivered, it will make it more difficult to market the housing and 
workspace offer which will impact upon values achievable.

Land assembly.  The scale of proposals in this option are 
greater than option 1 and may still require significant land 
assembly to realise redevelopment of many of the sites 
identified. For example, redevelopment of the area around the 
library and Morrisons car park. This is likely to require use of 
Council CPO powers together with relocation of significant 
occupiers such as Morrisons and the implementation of road 
stopping up orders.

Bus depot over-development. Unlocking one of the most 
significant development opportunities with Council-owned 
land on Station Road would require re-provision and over-
development of the bus depot site for residential development 
(bus depot remains on site but reconfigured to achieve 
efficiencies and better drive-in arrangements). This is likely to 
require temporary relocation of the depot which has significant 
cost, time and legal implications.

Infrastructure. Significant new residential (and to a lesser extent 
commercial) development will increase requirements to upgrade 
utilities and social infrastructure, such as schools and health, in 
the Wood Green area. This will require CIL and potentially other 
financial contributions. 

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 2

New Council accommodation.  Option 2 would realise new 
front of house Council accommodation including democratic 
services on the existing Wood Green Library site combined 
with a new library and other community space.  Consolidated 
Council office functions will be delivered on the ‘Clarendon 
Square Gateway’ - now referred to as the Clarendon Road site 
(SA 26).  Delivery may require some land assembly where 
existing Council ownership does not deliver all of the proposals.  
The Council may need to consider use of CPO powers. If not 
all land can be acquired via negotiation. However, this presents 
significant opportunities to deliver a town centre in line with the 
Council’s strategic objectives and potentially, to realise value to 
be reinvested in Wood Green.

Timescale: 10-15 Years.  The proposals are likely to take more 
time to realise than option 1 due to the quantum of development 
being higher. Options 3 and 4 pursue greater levels  of 
development.

Page 78



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

55

5

6

3 7

8 9 10

1 2 3 4

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure 1 - Wood Green Common
2 - Chocolate Factory 1
3 - New public space
4 - Chocolate Factory 2
5 - The redeveloped Civic Centre
6 - Station Road
7 - The partially redeveloped Mall (east side only)
8 - St Mark’s Church
9 - Noel Park Estate
10 - Turnpike Lane Station

10

1

3 4 3 2

6

9

8

7

5

Option 2 - looking south

Option 2 - looking north

Page 79



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

56

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 2

Alteration to Town centre boundary
The boundary has been extended westwards towards the 
cultural quarter to strengthen this key east-west route, 
increasing active frontage and providing a more diverse town 
centre offer beyond the High Road.

The boundary has been extended to incorporate the northern 
side of Station Road to maximises development opportunities 
presented on this site and create a more active route towards 
Alexandra Palace.

Assessment against the objectives
The list below illustrates how this option responds to each of 
the strategic objectives, ranked from High, Medium to Low with 
‘High’ indicating the greatest alignment with the objectives and 
‘Low’ the least.

Improving the Town centre
• Delivery of up to 5,000 new homes
• Delivery of 1500 new jobs
• Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer
• Securing an Opportunity Area designation
• Supporting local business / setting up a BID
• Improved evening economy

Placemaking
• Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity
• Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax and 

enjoy
• Enhancements and improved access to green space
• Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green
• Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
• Maximising the benefits of CR2 
• Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green
• Creating new and improved east-west connections
• Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers
• Links to Alexandra Palace
• Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
• Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services
• Addressing existing deficits in social & community 

infrastructure
• New and improved library
• Leading the way in sustainability

Page 80



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

57

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 2
Proposed uses 151126

Community

Council

Education

Residential

Retail

Retail foyer

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 2
Proposed uses 151126

Community

Council

Education

Residential

Retail

Retail foyer

Ground Floor First Floor

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 2
Proposed uses 151126

Community

Council

Education

Residential

Retail

Retail foyer

Upper Floors

Proposed land use

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 2

Leisure uses sit below residential

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub
AAP / IF Boundary
Town centre boundary
Proposed extension to town centre boundary

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Page 81



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

58

Registry services 
elsewhere

Comprehensive redevelopment 

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

Work

Retail / F&B

Residential

Council 

Residential above

Sites near the current cross roads will be redeveloped as 
medium to high density residential blocks, with retail, tech/ 
maker outposts or community uses on the lower levels. The 
civic centre is also identified as a site for significant residential 
development. 

Rather than being constrained the option suggests  that both 
sides of the High Road and Station Road are fully absorbed into 
the changes proposed, maximising the potential opportunity of 
Crossrail 2. Of central importance to this option is the long term, 
complete redevelopment and reconfiguration of the Mall and 
the Arriva bus depot (with some of it’s operations relocated to 
the Mecca Bingo hall site) replaced with ground floor retail and 
community use and housing above, all helping to re-establish 
strong street structures and to create better connections. 

This option anticipates a fifteen to twenty year period of 
comprehensive redevelopment that would target all Council 
owned sites and poorly defined and out-of-date town centre 
sites to build a coherent, economically vibrant, well connected 
and pleasant town centre that would present many attractions 
and destinations and pave the way for a redefined town centre.

Outputs
• At Wood Green station a typical range of heights will be 

6-12 storeys with a possible tower of up to 25 floors
• At Turnpike lane taller buildings of 11-15 storeys could 

define the arrival point
• Heights of up 15 storeys could also define the head of the 

Penstock Foot Tunnel
• High level of change across all sectors and maximised 

provision of housing and new jobs locally
• Town centre heart ‘deepened’ and redefined to include the 

redeveloped cultural quarter to provide a mix of residential 
and workspace uses, the latter for new businesses, cultural 
industries, tech startups and makers 

• Town centre heart ‘shifted’ to the south and the west away 
from the crossroads toward a key new public space located 
where the current library stands 

• Town centre equipped with high speed broadband 
connectivity and WiFi hubs 

• Town centre and new residential areas served by a new 
decentralised energy hub.

• New singular Business Improvement District (BID) 
established 

• New improved links westward from the High Road and 
Station Road towards Alexandra Palace

• Mall completely redeveloped with mixed retail below and 
residential above

• Arriva depot retained & redeveloped with residential above
• A concentrated and managed indoor car parking and cycle 

parking offer
• Connection from new public space on the High Road to a 

new public space to the north of the proposed Clarendon 
Road development 

• Council front and back office and civic services located 
in the vicinity of the existing Wood Green library to help 
revitalise the High Road and registry services located 
elsewhere

• Retail corridor strengthened and enhanced, anchored by 
Crossrail 2, with potential pedestrian loops through the 
redeveloped ‘cultural quarter’

This option addresses the need for a high level of transformation 
in an extended Wood Green town centre. 

Taking the Wood Green Crossrail 2 proposals as a key driver  for 
change, this option suggests that the heart of the town centre 
shifts down and to the west and that the centre of gravity of the 
High Road shifts further south (toward Turnpike Lane) to benefit 
from two Crossrail 2 stations located at Alexander Palace and 
Turnpike Lane. In this option the town centre is completely 
reconfigured to build a better retail environment and food and 
beverage (F&B) offer on the High Road, to deliver a significant 
quantity of high-density housing and to relocate the Council. 
Under this option the front and back of house facilities will be 
relocated in the vicinity of the existing Wood Green library near 
a major new public space to help revitalise the High Road. 
Registry services will be relocated elsewhere away from the 
Council’s, front and back of house accommodation in a location 
appropriate for ceremonies. 

This option will seek to add ‘depth’ to the town centre by 
locating a mixed ‘live/work’ environment west of the High Road, 
incorporating the Chocolate Factories and other established 
workplaces in the ‘cultural quarter’. 

The option suggests that the retail offer is maximised by 
attracting an anchor store to sit adjacent  a major new public 
space opened up off the High Road and  by extending flexible 
and adaptable retail spaces down the  High Road toward 
Turnpike Lane. This would allow for the  later inclusion of large 
floor plate retail or smaller convenience ‘grab and go’ retail offer 
according to demand once Crossrail 2 has been built out. To 
support a comprehensive offer and town centre management a 
single Business Improvement District  (BID) is anticipated. 

Page 82



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

59

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

Targets 

New homes   5,500
Balance housing mix (size & tenure)
Council HQ   Council front and back office and civic services 
    consolidated on the existing Wood Green library site
Early year Facilities  4*
Primary Schools   3.4 additional Entry Forms*
Secondary Schools  3.1 additional Entry Forms*

* These figures are based on high level capacity testing and will require further verification.

Key public spaces
Development blocks 
New and existing routes 
AAP boundary

Option 3 - Block plan

Page 83



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

60

Viability issues
Option 3 proposes the second highest level of transformation 
out of the four options in terms of the scale and quantum of new 
development proposed including the complete redevelopment 
of The Mall and part relocation of the Arriva bus depot to the 
Mecca bingo site and redevelopment around and over the 
retained depot.  These are likely to bring the most significant 
challenges in terms of deliverability and viability. These 
challenges will particularly relate to sites such as:

• Bus depot and Station Road – due to the reconfiguration 
and part retention of bus depot before residential can be 
built above.

• Mecca Bingo site – due to the cost of part re-provision of 
the bus depot

• Cultural quarter – due to the greater extent of B1 space 
proposed under this option than options 1 and 2.

The greater quantum of residential development associated 
with The Mall redevelopment under this option could assist in 
reducing viability risk to this site.

Examples of other delivery considerations related to this option 
are set out below:

Crossrail 2. This option assumes Crossrail 2 will be delivered 
to serve Turnpike Lane and Alexandra Palace. Should CR2 not 
arrive in Wood Green, it will make it more difficult to market the 
proposed housing and workspace offer in option 3 which will 
impact upon values achievable.

New connections westward from the High Road The 
proposition may require significant land assembly and 
potentially use of Council CPO powers and will therefore have 
cost and timescale implications.  

The Mall and High Road new retail. Under this option it is 
proposed that in the long term The Mall is redeveloped to 
provide ground and first floor retail with residential above whilst 
the rest of the retail along the High Road delivers modern new 
retail floorplates to meet retailer requirements, with residential 
above. Large scale redevelopment will have timescale, cost, 
viability and feasibility implications compared to, for example,  
enhancement or refurbishment of existing properties, but a more 
transformational effect on Wood Green.  Careful consideration 
will need to be given to the level of retail floorspace re-provision 
to ensure that it aligns with the demand profile for Wood Green 
and reflects evolving trends in retail, for example internet 
shopping.

Land assembly. The scale of proposals in this option are similar 
to option 4 and will bring significant land assembly requirements 
if redevelopment of many of the sites as envisaged is to be 
realised. For example, redevelopment of the area around the 
library and Morrisons supermarket. This is likely to require use 
of Council CPO powers, relocation of significant occupiers such 
as Morrisons and road stopping up orders. Consideration will 
also need to be given in this area to CPO of land and legal rights 
in relation to any land required for a new Crossrail 2 station and 
associated infrastructure. 

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

Relocated bus depot. To unlock one of the most significant 
development opportunities adjacent to Council-owned land 
on and around Station Road, this would require the part re-
location of the bus depot to the Mecca Bingo site whilst also 
overdeveloping part of the existing and upgraded bus depot 
facility.  Both sites would have high density residential above. 
There are likely to be significant cost, time, legal and operational 
implications.

The Mall. In this option The Mall will be completely redeveloped 
to provide new ground and first floor retail with residential 
above. In order to achieve this proposal some land assembly of 
the eastern half may be required.  

Infrastructure. An increase in new residential (and to a 
lesser extent commercial) development will bring significant 
requirements to upgrade utilities and social infrastructure, such 
as schools and health facilities in the Wood Green area.  This will 
require CIL and other financial contributions. 

Consolidation and re-provision of new Council 
accommodation.  Option 3 will realise new consolidated 
Council accommodation, including flexible democratic space 
and a new library, on the existing Wood Green Library site, in 
a standalone building facing a public square.  As the Council 
already owns some of the land required, this reduces some of 
the issues around deliverability. Delivery of many of the Council’s 
proposals on either its land or that which it may acquire will 
require delivery mechanisms to be set up with the private sector 
- for instance Joint Vehicle arrangements. This will have cost, 
legal and time implications. 

Option 3 presents significant opportunities to deliver in line with 
the Council’s strategic objectives although the infrastructure to 
development ratio, given the medium range densities, suggest 
that it may be challenging to realising value to be reinvested in 
Wood Green.  

Funding. The Council may need to utilise a public or private 
sector borrowing facility and private sector investment in order 
to realise the scale of development implied in this option and 
within the timescales required. 

Timescale: 15-20 Years.  The proposals will take longer to 
realise than options 2 and 3 due to the land assembly and 
redevelopment issues to be worked through and the quantum of 
development to be physically delivered. 

In summary, Option 3 provides the opportunity to deliver 
very high levels of transformation to redefine and ‘reimagine’ 
Wood Green. Option 3 respond to this opportunity whilst it is 
recognised that it introduces significant delivery challenges.

Page 84



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

61

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

5

6

3 7

8 9 10

1 2 3 4

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure 1 - Wood Green Common
2 - Chocolate Factory 1
3 - New public space
4 - Chocolate Factory 2
5 - The redeveloped Civic Centre
6 - Station Road
7 - The redeveloped Mall
8 - St Mark’s Church
9 - Noel Park Estate
10 - Turnpike Lane Station

10

1

3 4 3 2

6

9

8

7

5

Option 3 - looking south

Option 3 - looking north

Page 85



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

62

Alteration to Town centre boundary
The boundary has been extended to incorporate both the north 
and south sides of Station Road to encourage retail activity 
and active frontages on a key route. It has also been extended 
westwards towards the cultural quarter to encourage depth to 
the High Road and strengthen the key east-west route that has 
been proposed; increasing secondary frontages and providing a 
more diverse town centre.

The eastern end of Turnpike Lane has also been included to 
provide a stronger relationship between this local shopping 
centre and Wood Green town centre.

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

Assessment against the objectives
The list below illustrates how this option responds to each of 
the strategic objectives, ranked from High, Medium to Low with 
‘High’ indicating the greatest alignment with the objectives and 
‘Low’ the least.

Improving the Town centre
• Delivery of up to 5,500 new homes
• Delivery of 1500 new jobs
• Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer
• Securing an Opportunity Area designation
• Supporting local business / setting up a BID
• Improved evening economy

Placemaking
• Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity
• Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax and 

enjoy
• Enhancements and improved access to green space
• Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green
• Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
• Maximising the benefits of CR2
• Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green
• Creating new and improved east-west connections
• Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers
• Links to Alexandra Palace
• Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
• Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services
• Addressing existing deficits in social & community 

infrastructure
• New and improved library

Page 86



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

63

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 3 
Proposed uses 26 November 2015

* Provision for 3-storey bus depot 

* * * * 

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 3 
Proposed uses 26 November 2015

* Provision for 3-storey bus depot 

* * * * 

Ground Floor First Floor

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

WGIF Scenario 3 
Proposed uses 26 November 2015

* Provision for 3-storey bus depot 

* * * * 

Upper Floors

Proposed land use

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 3

Leisure uses sit below residential

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub
AAP / IF Boundary
Town centre boundary
Proposed extension to town centre boundary

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Page 87



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

64

Complete transformation

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

major new public space opened up off the High Road, and  by 
extending flexible and adaptable retail spaces down the  High 
Road toward Turnpike Lane. This would allow for the  later 
inclusion of large floor plate retail or smaller convenience ‘grab 
and go’ retail offer according to demand once Crossrail  2 has 
been built out. To support a comprehensive offer and town 
centre management a singular Business Improvement District  
(BID) is anticipated that would be extended off the High Road to 
anchor much of the new workspace in the cultural quarter. Sites 
near the current cross roads will be redeveloped as residential 
areas, with retail, tech/maker outposts or community uses 
on the lower levels. The civic centre is identified as a site for 
significant residential development. In this option it is proposed 
that the entire Arriva bus depot is relocated away from the area, 
and residential development is maximized on the site.

This option anticipates a fifteen to twenty year period of 
comprehensive redevelopment that would target all Council 
owned sites and poorly defined and out-of-date town centre 
sites to build a coherent, economically vibrant, well connected 
and pleasant town centre that would present many attractions 
and destinations and become a flagship for Haringey.

Outputs
•  Density and height will shift towards the existing Wood 

Green library site to capitalise on a centrally located 
Crossrail 2 station and a major new square. Heights could 
range from 18-35 storeys

• High level of change across all sectors and maximised 
provision of housing and new jobs locally

• Town centre heart ‘shifted’ to the south and the west away 
from the crossroads toward a key new public space located 
where the current library stands 

• Town centre heart ‘deepened’ and redefined to include the 
redeveloped cultural quarter to provide a mix of residential 
and workspace uses, the latter for new businesses, cultural 
industries, tech startups and makers 

• Town centre equipped with high speed broadband 
connectivity and WiFi hubs 

• Town centre and new residential areas served by a new 
decentralised energy hub.

• New Business Improvement District (BID) established 
• New improved links westward from the High Road and  

Station Road towards Alexandra Palace
• Concentrated and managed indoor car / cycle parking
• Connection from new public space on the High Road to a 

new public space to the north of the proposed Clarendon 
Road development

• Council back office and civic services located near northern 
edge of the Clarendon Road development to attract footfall 
and to support the development of new businesses and 
incubators in the ‘cultural quarter’. Front of house is located 
in the vicinity of the existing Wood Green library to help 
revitalise the new square and the High Road. Registry 
services to be located elsewhere

• Retail corridor strengthened and enhanced by Crossrail 
2 through the inclusion of anchor store(s) and pedestrian 
loops through the redeveloped ‘cultural quarter’ 

• Town centre residential development maximised
• Vue cinema site redeveloped as part of the Crossrail 2 

works with re-provision of cinema and town centre uses at 
street level, and residential development maximized above

This option is similar to that proposed for Option 3 but promotes 
a complete transformation of the town centre. This will be 
achieved through significant interventions aimed at unlocking 
the development potential of the wider town centre area 
including radical changes in the layout of existing urban blocks. 
The option promotes relocation of the town centre to a major 
new public square arranged above a single, central Crossrail 2 
station in the vicinity of the current library. 

Around this square taller buildings would be located while the 
depth of both sides of the High Road would expand to provide 
larger retail floor plates with greater potential for residential 
use above. Under this option The Mall would be redeveloped 
to maximise the uplift of the Crossrail 2 station while the 
Hornsey Water Treatment Works site is identified as a long-
term opportunity to strengthen and cement better links with 
Alexandra Park and Palace.

The option places an emphasis on economic regeneration, 
striving to significantly increase and enhance the amount of 
workspace and retail spaces while also delivering a significant 
uplift in housing at over 6,000 new homes (circa 1,500 additional 
homes above the baseline minimum of 4,600). Under this 
option the Council’s front office is relocated in the vicinity of the 
existing Wood Green library while back-office and civic functions 
anchor a new mixed-use quarter centred around Coburg Road 
which will include the Chocolate Factory and Clarendon Road 
development, creating better, well used east-west linkages. High 
density residential development lines both Station Road and the 
High Road transitioning in scale to take accord of the existing 
suburban hinterland.

As with Option 3 this option suggests that the retail offer is 
maximised by attracting an anchor store to sit adjacent  a 

Registry services 
elsewhere

Work

Retail / F&B

Residential

Council 

Residential above

Page 88



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

65

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

Targets
New homes   6,000 + 
Balance housing mix (size & tenure)
Council HQ   Front of house/civic on High Road
    Back of house in ‘cultural quarter’ (west of High Road)
    Registry services located elsewhere
Early year Facilities  4*
Primary Schools   4 additional Entry Forms*
Secondary Schools  3.1 additional Entry Forms*

* These figures are based on high level capacity testing and will require further verification.

Key public spaces
Development blocks 
New and existing routes 
AAP boundary

Option 4 - Block plan

Page 89



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

66

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

Viability issues
Option 4 proposes the highest level of transformation out 
of all the options in terms of the scale and quantum of new 
development proposed including the complete redevelopment 
of The Mall and relocation of the Arriva bus depot to an alternate 
location outside (but near) the town centre. This is likely to bring 
the most significant challenges in terms of deliverability. These 
challenges will particularly relate to sites such as:

• Bus depot and Station Road site – due to the cost of 
relocating the Arriva bus depot out of Wood Green town 
centre.  Particularly new site acquisition and facility 
construction.

• Cultural quarter – due to the greater extent of B1 space 
proposed under this option than options 1, 2 and 3.  

Examples of other delivery considerations related to this option 
are set out below.

Workspace viability. This option includes delivery of the highest 
quantum of workspace in the cultural quarter and Wood Green 
area generally compared to the other three options.  This is 
likely to be the most challenging in viability terms due to the 
requirement for a subsidy through residential development, in 
addition to other requirements such as affordable housing and 
CIL.

Crossrail 2 benefits. In line with options being consulted on 
by TfL in late 2015, this option assumes Crossrail 2 (CR2) will 
be delivered as one single station located in the centre of Wood 
Green town centre, on the High Road. If CR2 does not happen, 
it will be extremely challenging to deliver option 4’s more 
transformative proposals.

New connections westward from the High Road. The 
proposition may require significant land assembly and potential 
use of Council CPO powers, which will have associated cost, 
political and timescale implications.

The Mall and High Road new retail. Under this option 
it is proposed that in the long term the whole of The Mall 
is redeveloped to provide ground and first floor retail with 
residential above whilst the rest of the retail along the High 
Road also delivers new modern retail floorplates to meet retailer 
requirements. Large scale redevelopment will have timescale, 
cost, viability and feasibility implications compared to, for 
example, enhancement of existing properties. However, the 
approach will bring much greater benefits for Wood Green town 
centre.  Careful consideration will need to be given to the level 
of retail floorspace re-provision to ensure that it aligns with the 
demand profile for Wood Green and reflects evolving trends in 
retail, for example internet shopping.

Land assembly. The scale of proposals in these options are 
greatest and will therefore bring significant land assembly 
requirements if redevelopment of many of the sites as envisaged 
is to be realised. For example, redevelopment of the area around 
the library, Arriva bus depot and Morrisons supermarket. This 
is likely to require use of Council CPO powers, relocation of 
significant occupiers such as Morrisons and achieving road 
stopping up orders, all with associated cost, legal, timescale 
and political implications. Consideration will also need to be 
given in this area to CPO of land and legal rights in relation to 
any land required for the new Crossrail 2 station and associated 
infrastructure in the town centre. 

Relocated bus depot. Unlocking one of the most significant 
development opportunities adjacent to Council-owned land 
on and around Station Road will require re-location of the 
bus depot out of Wood Green to an unidentified location, to 
deliver high density residential above. Significant cost, time, 
legal and operational implications are implied. A key feasibility 
and deliverability consideration will be securing a site of a size 
which meets Arriva’s operational requirements in an acceptable 
location.

The Mall. In this option the Mall will be completely redeveloped 
for ground and first floor retail with residential above and 
basement car parking below. In order to achieve this proposal 
land assembly of the eastern half may be required. Just over 
200 homes will also have to be reprovided for the inhabitants of 
‘Sky City’, located above the Mall’s car parking decks.

Infrastructure. Significant new residential (and to a lesser 
extent commercial) development will significantly increase 
requirements to upgrade utilities and social infrastructure, such 
as schools and health centres, in the Wood Green area.  This will 
require CIL and other financial contributions.

New Council accommodation. Option 4 will realise new 
front of house (including democratic services) Council 
accommodation on the existing Wood Green Library site, in a 
standalone building facing a major, new, public square.  Back 
office functions will be re-provided in a new office on the 
Clarendon Square Gateway (SA26) site (now referred to as 
Clarendon Road).  This may require Council land assets for 
disposal to be identified and sufficient value generated to realise 
accommodation proposals.  

Timescale: 20-30 Years.  The proposals will take the longest 
to realise out of the four options due to the extent of the land 
assembly and redevelopment issues to be worked through and 
the quantum of development to be physically delivered. 

In summary, option 4 provides the opportunity to deliver very 
high levels of transformation to redefine and ‘reimagine’ Wood 
Green. High level viability assessments have also suggested 
that this is one of the most robust options. For these reasons, 
and having regard to the infrequency of such redevelopment 
opportunities, option 4 is currently the councils preferred option. 
(See assessments on page 68 and from 70 - 74).

Page 90



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

67

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

5

6

3 7

8 9 10

1 2 3 4

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure 1 - Wood Green Common
2 - Chocolate Factory 1
3 - New public space
4 - Chocolate Factory 2
5 - The redeveloped Civic Centre
6 - Station Road
7 - The redeveloped Mall
8 - St Mark’s Church
9 - Noel Park Estate
10 - Turnpike Lane Station

10

1

3 4 3 2

6

9

8

7

5

Option 4 - looking south

Option 4 - looking north

Page 91



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

68

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

Assessment against the objectives
The list below illustrates how this option responds to each of 
the strategic objectives, ranked from High, Medium to Low with 
‘High’ indicating the greatest alignment with the objectives and 
‘Low’ the least.

Improving the Town centre
• Delivery of 6,000 + new homes 
• Delivery of 1,500 + new jobs
• Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer
• Securing an Opportunity Area designation
• Supporting local business / setting up a BID
• Improved evening economy

Placemaking
• Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity
• Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax and 

enjoy
• Enhancements and improved access to green space
• Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green
• Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
• Maximising the benefits of CR2
• Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green
• Creating new and improved east-west connections
• Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers
• Links to Alexandra Palace
• Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
• Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services
• Addressing existing deficits in social & community 

infrastructure

Alteration to Town centre boundary
The boundary extension matches that proposed for Option 3.

Page 92



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

69

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

WGIF Scenario 4
Proposed uses 1511126

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

This drawing and the details contained therein are copyright and are not to be reproduced without the 
permission of Fluid Design Ltd. All dimensions relating to actual site conditions are to be checked on site 
prior to any works being commissioned or executed. Contractors are not to scale from this drawing and 
should refer any query in respect of dimension to the Architects.
032a

project no:

scale: date:

revision:  

drawn by: checked by:

purpose of drawing:

drawing title:

dwg no:

FLUID
148 curtain road london EC2A 3AR  t: 020 7729 0770 / f: 020 7729 0778
e: mail@fluidoffice.com

1341

Option 4

Investment Framework

1341_20

NA

ASu

B

08/12/15

ASp

project title: Wood Green Investment Framework

drawing name: Option 4 Use Plans

REVISION HISTORY

APPROVEDDATEDESCRIPTIONREV

Amendments to reflect 
Accomodation Schedule Rev 01

23/11/15  A

Amendments to reflect latest 
design thinking and revised 
central area layout

B 8/12/15  

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

WGIF Scenario 4
Proposed uses 1511126

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

This drawing and the details contained therein are copyright and are not to be reproduced without the 
permission of Fluid Design Ltd. All dimensions relating to actual site conditions are to be checked on site 
prior to any works being commissioned or executed. Contractors are not to scale from this drawing and 
should refer any query in respect of dimension to the Architects.
032a

project no:

scale: date:

revision:  

drawn by: checked by:

purpose of drawing:

drawing title:

dwg no:

FLUID
148 curtain road london EC2A 3AR  t: 020 7729 0770 / f: 020 7729 0778
e: mail@fluidoffice.com

1341

Option 4

Investment Framework

1341_20

NA

ASu

B

08/12/15

ASp

project title: Wood Green Investment Framework

drawing name: Option 4 Use Plans

REVISION HISTORY

APPROVEDDATEDESCRIPTIONREV

Amendments to reflect 
Accomodation Schedule Rev 01

23/11/15  A

Amendments to reflect latest 
design thinking and revised 
central area layout

B 8/12/15  

Ground Floor First Floor Upper Floors

WGIF Scenario 4
Proposed uses 1511126

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Workspace

Energy hub

This drawing and the details contained therein are copyright and are not to be reproduced without the 
permission of Fluid Design Ltd. All dimensions relating to actual site conditions are to be checked on site 
prior to any works being commissioned or executed. Contractors are not to scale from this drawing and 
should refer any query in respect of dimension to the Architects.
032a

project no:

scale: date:

revision:  

drawn by: checked by:

purpose of drawing:

drawing title:

dwg no:

FLUID
148 curtain road london EC2A 3AR  t: 020 7729 0770 / f: 020 7729 0778
e: mail@fluidoffice.com

1341

Option 4

Investment Framework

1341_20

NA

ASu

B

08/12/15

ASp

project title: Wood Green Investment Framework

drawing name: Option 4 Use Plans

REVISION HISTORY

APPROVEDDATEDESCRIPTIONREV

Amendments to reflect 
Accomodation Schedule Rev 01

23/11/15  A

Amendments to reflect latest 
design thinking and revised 
central area layout

B 8/12/15  

Spatial Development Strategy Options - Option 4 (Preferred Option)

Ground Floor First Floor

Upper Floors

Proposed land use

Leisure uses sit below residential

* Provision for 3-storey bus depot 

Council accommodation

Education / Culture

Residential

Retail / Food & beverage

Transport

Workspace

Decentralised energy hub
AAP / IF Boundary
Town centre boundary
Proposed extension to town centre boundary

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Community / Health

Leisure

Ground Floor

Community

Council

Education / culture

Residential

Retail

Transport

Potential town centre boundary extension

Scenario One

First Floor Upper Floors

IF Boundary

Potential IF boundary extension

Town centre boundary

Workspace

Energy hub

Page 93



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

70

High
Medium
Low

Assessment of the Options - Assessment against the objectives

Objectives Op 1 Op 2 Op 3 Op 4
Improving the Town centre
Deliver a minimum of 4,600 new homes (6,000)

Delivery of new jobs

Enhanced retail, leisure and cultural offer

Securing an Opportunity Area designation

Supporting local business / setting up a BID

Improved evening economy

Placemaking
Creating a town centre with depth and a coherent identity

Creating a new square and/or places for people to relax and enjoy

Enhancements and improved access to green space

Addressing negative perceptions of Wood Green

Linking and celebrating existing assets

Creating a connected place
Maximising the benefits of CR2

Increasing PTAL rating throughout Wood Green

Creating new and improved east-west connections

Maintaining/improving footfall/visitor numbers

Links to Alexandra Palace

Easing movement along the High Road

Capital of Haringey
Re-invented Council presence/access to Council services

Addressing existing deficits in social & community infrastructure

New and improved library

Leading the way in sustainability

The table above illustrates how the option respond 
to each of the strategic objectives, ranked from High, 
Medium to Low with ‘High’ indicating the greatest 
alignment with the objectives and ‘Low’ the least.

Page 94



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

71

Assessment of the Options - Delivery of strategic targets

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4

Delivery of
Strategic Targets

Housing This option would 
contribute to the delivery 
of the least new housing 
particularly due to only 
redeveloping few of the 
major opportunity sites 
compared to options 2, 3 
and 4

This option would 
contribute to the fastest 
delivery of new housing of 
all options given the focus 
and site selections.

This option would 
contribute to the delivery 
of the second highest 
quantum of new housing 
(5,000 new units) 
particularly on the major 
opportunity sites, though 
likely to be less than 
option 4 - which proposes 
to maximise the potential 
for residential - whilst 
equal to option 2.

This option would 
contribute to the 
delivery of the greatest 
quantum of new housing 
particularly on the major 
opportunity sites, through 
focusing development 
at high densities in the 
centre of the High Road 
and around the new 
Crossrail 2 station.

Economic 
growth

Smaller scale 
improvement in 
economic growth due 
to the reduced scale of 
redevelopment proposed 
compared to options 2, 3 
and 4.

Large scale improvement 
in economic growth 
due to the scale of 
redevelopment proposed, 
particularly compared to 
option 1.  For example 
due to job creation, 
greater consumer 
spending and high 
commercial (retail and 
leisure) rents.

Large scale improvement 
in economic growth 
due to the scale of 
redevelopment proposed 
- particularly compared 
to option 1 - due to 
job creation, greater 
consumer spending and 
high commercial (retail 
and leisure) rents.

Large scale improvement 
in economic growth 
due to the scale of 
redevelopment proposed 
- particularly compared 
to option 1 - due to 
job creation, greater 
consumer spending and 
high commercial (retail 
and leisure) rents.

Environmental
Improvement

Smaller improvements in 
the quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved 
than options 2, 3 and 
4 due to the reduced 
scale of redevelopment 
proposed.

Though more 
redevelopment being 
proposed than option 1, 
greater improvements in 
the quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved 
though perhaps less than 
options 3 and 4.

Though more 
redevelopment is being 
proposed than option 1, 
greater improvements in 
the quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved.

Though more 
comprehensive and 
greater quantum 
redevelopment being 
proposed than option 
1 and 2, greater 
improvements in the 
quality of environment are 
likely to be achieved.

Page 95



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

72

Assessment of the Options - Town centre Health

This section relates the options to their potential contribution 
to enhancing the town centre’s performance in relation to key 
metrics used in the GLA’s TCHC reports and their potential 

role in assisting the maintenance of Wood Green’s role as a 
Metropolitan Centre.

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4

Town centre 
Health

Retail This option is likely to 
realise a more limited 
improvement in retail 
compared to options 
2, 3 and 4 through 
focusing on delivering 
improvements to existing 
retail floorspace north 
to south along the High 
Road. This will have a 
more modest effect on 
the status of Wood Green 
as a Metropolitan Town 
centre in the London Plan 
on key measures such 
as total retail floorspace, 
financial performance 
(rental revenue) and the 
% of Comparison Goods 
to Convenience Retail 
floorspace.

This option is likely to 
realise an improvement in 
retail in quantitative terms 
between Option 1 and 
Option 3 through focusing 
on delivering new retail 
development at ground 
and first floor level on the 
eastern half of the Mall 
and a new retail cluster 
(with residential above) 
along the southern half 
of the High Road ahead 
of the arrival of a new 
Crossrail 2 station at 
Turnpike Lane.
This will have the benefit 
of helping to maintain the 
status of Wood Green 
as a Metropolitan Town 
centre in the London Plan 
on key measures such 
as total retail floorspace, 
financial performance 
(rental revenue) and 
the % of Comparison 
Goods to Convenience 
Retail floorspace. Careful 
consideration will need 
to be given to the level 
of retail floorspace re-
provision to ensure that 
it aligns with the demand 
profile for Wood Green.

This option is likely to 
realise some of the 
greatest improvement in 
the retail offer through 
focusing on delivering 
new retail development 
with residential above 
on both sides of the 
High Road maximising 
the retail opportunity 
that exists between the 
proposed new Crossrail 2 
stations at Turnpike Lane 
and Alexandra Palace, 
rather than focusing 
on improvements in 
a small area as per 
Option 1. This will have 
the benefit of helping 
to maintain the status 
of Wood Green as a 
Metropolitan Town centre 
on key measures such 
as total retail floorspace, 
financial performance 
(rental revenue) and 
the % of Comparison 
Goods to Convenience 
Retail floorspace. Careful 
consideration will need 
to be given to the level 
of retail floorspace re-
provision to ensure that 
it aligns with the demand 
profile for Wood Green.

This option is likely 
to  realise the greatest 
improvement in the retail 
offer in Wood Green 
through focusing on 
delivering development 
on both sides of the High 
Road maximising the 
retail opportunity that 
exists around one new 
centrally located Crossrail 
2 station on the High 
Road. Detailed points 
relating to station design 
and channelling of footfall 
will need to be addressed 
at the appropriate time 
to ensure that this 
opportunity is maximised.
This will have the benefit 
of helping to maintain 
the status of Wood 
Green as a Metropolitan 
Town centre on key 
measures such as total 
retail floorspace, financial 
performance (rental 
revenue) and the % of 
Comparison Goods 
to Convenience Retail 
floorspace. Careful 
consideration will need 
to be given to the level 
of retail floorspace re-
provision to ensure that 
it aligns with the demand 
profile for Wood Green.

Leisure This option is likely 
to realise some 
improvement in the 
leisure offer for Wood
Green through improving 
the quality of the A3 and 
A5 offer. In particular 
cafes and restaurants 
around a new public focal 
point near the existing 
Wood Green Library 
site could present one 
particular opportunity.

This option is likely 
to realise some 
improvement in the 
leisure offer for Wood
Green through improving 
the quality of the A3 and 
A5 offer. In particular 
cafes and restaurants 
around a new public focal 
point near the existing 
Wood Green Library 
site could present one 
particular opportunity.

This option is likely 
to realise almost the 
greatest improvement in 
the leisure offer for Wood
Green through improving 
the quality of the A3 and 
A5 offer. In particular 
cafes and restaurants 
around a new public focal 
point as well as along the 
High Road.

This option is likely to 
realise the greatest
improvement in the
leisure offer for Wood 
Green through improving 
the quality of the A3 and 
A5 offer. In particular 
cafes and restaurants 
around a new public focal 
point as well as along the 
High Road, and peppered 
in the cultural quarter.

Page 96



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

73

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4

Town centre 
Health

Housing and 
development 
capacity

Option 1 would deliver 
a more limited quantum 
of residential due to it 
focusing on only the 
Morrisons site, River Park 
House, the former Civic 
Centre, Clarendon Road 
development, above new 
retail on the High Road 
and on a gateway site at 
Turnpike Lane.

This Option 2 presents
the opportunity to deliver 
a focused residential 
offer on key sites such 
as River Park House, the 
former Civic Centre, a re-
worked Arriva bus depot, 
Mecca Bingo, Cultural 
quarter, Clarendon Road 
development and the 
eastern side of The Mall.

Option 3 presents the 
opportunity to  deliver a 
significant quantum of 
residential development 
on key sites such as the 
existing Wood Green 
Library site, The Mall, 
River Park House and 
Station Road sites, 
Arriva bus depot, Mecca 
Bingo, the former Civic 
Centre, Cultural quarter 
and Clarendon Road 
development.

Option 4 presents
the opportunity to deliver 
the maximum amount  of 
residential at the highest 
level of density on key 
sites such as The Mall, 
the existing Wood Green 
Library site, River Park 
House and Station Road 
sites,  Arriva bus depot,  
Mecca Bingo former Civic 
Centre, Cultural quarter 
and Clarendon Road 
development.

Transport This option assumes 
that Crossrail 2 will be 
delivered as two stations 
at Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace further 
improving the current 
PTAL levels.

This option assumes 
that Crossrail 2 will be 
delivered as two stations 
at Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace further 
improving the current 
PTAL levels.

This option assumes 
that Crossrail 2 will be 
delivered as two stations 
at Turnpike Lane and 
Alexandra Palace further 
improving the current
PTAL levels.

This option assumes 
that Crossrail 2 will be 
delivered as one new 
station in the centre of 
the High Road notably 
improving the existing 
PTAL levels.

Quality of
environment

Smaller improvements in 
the quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved 
than Options 2, 3 and 4.

Through greater 
redevelopment being 
proposed than Option 1, 
greater improvements in 
the quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved 
though perhaps less than 
options 3 and 4.

The comprehensive 
nature of Option 3’s 
redevelopment  proposals 
is likely to lead to greater 
improvements than 
Options 1 and 2.

Through the more
Comprehensive 
redevelopment   
proposals in this 
option, the greatest 
improvements in the 
quality of environment 
are likely to be achieved 
compared to the 
other options which 
have smaller scale 
interventions.

Financial
performance

Improvements in the 
retail and leisure offer 
will attract better quality 
tenants and likely drive 
rents upward. This 
will therefore improve 
the overall financial 
performance of Wood 
Green and viability of 
new development. Where 
improvements to the 
retail and leisure offer 
are reduced, so will the 
improvements in financial 
performance.

Improvements in the 
retail and leisure offer 
will attract better quality 
tenants and likely drive 
rents up notably. This 
will therefore improve 
the overall financial 
performance of Wood 
Green.

Options 3 and 4 present 
the greatest opportunity 
to deliver improvements 
in the retail and leisure 
offer which will attract 
better quality tenants 
and likely drive rents 
up significantly. This 
will therefore improve 
the overall financial 
performance of Wood 
Green. However, over-
supply in any particular 
use can suppress the 
rental values that can be 
achieved so care needs 
to be taken identifying 
the optimum quantum of 
uses for Wood Green.

Option 4 is likely to deliver 
the greatest improvement 
in the retail and leisure 
offer in Wood Green. This 
will help to attract better 
quality tenants and drive 
up rents significantly. 
This will therefore 
improve the overall 
financial performance 
of Wood Green. 
However, oversupply in 
any particular use will 
suppress the rental values
that can be achieved so
care needs to be taken 
identifying the optimum
quantum of uses for
Wood Green.

Page 97



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

74

Option 1 Option 2 Option 3 Option 4

Policy Theme

Principal of Development As the most sensitive 
development option – risk 
of falling short of both 
homes and jobs targets

Likely to achieve  baseline 
housing target but perhaps 
not capitalise on additional 
benefits
 
As a residential led town 
centre focus – risk that 
the option falls short of 
the jobs target or fails to 
identify a robust economic 
strategy.

Likely to achieve  baseline 
housing and jobs target 
but perhaps not capitalise 
on additional benefits

Likely to exceed the 
baseline jobs target and 
housing target of 4,600 
new homes
 
New growth is focused on 
the existing library site due 
to the proposed central 
location of a new Crossrail 
Station

Density No risk identified at this 
stage – further capacity 
testing required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further capacity 
testing required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further capacity 
testing required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further capacity 
testing required

Town centre Role of Wood Green High 
Road is enhanced
 
Potentially not ambitious 
enough in terms of 
growth given the arrival 
of Crossrail 2. A potential 
missed opportunity.

Residential led 
development - potential to 
undermine existing status 
of the Metropolitan Town 
centre?

Policy Compliant - Wood 
Green Metropolitan Town 
centre will be the principal 
focus of growth

Policy Compliant - Wood 
Green Metropolitan Town 
centre will be the principal 
focus of growth

Employment Policy Compliant 
– employment-led 
regeneration at the heart of 
the proposals

Policy Compliant – 
although potential risk that 
residential led regeneration 
will undermine 
employment aspirations.

Policy Compliant 
– employment-led 
regeneration at the heart of 
the proposals

Policy Compliant 
– employment-led 
regeneration at the heart 
of the proposals

Townscape and height More sensitive to its 
setting and surrounding 
townscape.

Potential over 
development risk – further 
capacity testing required 
to understand urban 
design impacts

Potential over 
development risk – further 
capacity testing required 
to understand urban 
design impacts

Potential over 
development risk – further 
capacity testing required 
to understand urban 
design impacts

Social Infrastructure No risk identified at this 
stage – further SIF analysis 
required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further SIF analysis 
required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further SIF analysis 
required

No risk identified at this 
stage – further SIF analysis 
required

Assessment of the Options - Urban renewal & Intensification

Green - aligned with policy
Amber - potential divergence from current policy
Red - contrary to policy

This table provides a high level policy assessment of the 
proposals for urban renewal and Intensification as set out in the 
emerging options.

Page 98



Wood Green Area Action Plan
Issues and Options Report

75

Policy Source and Context
This information sets out the policy sources and context which 
the adjacent table has been based upon

Principal of Development
Amended Policy SP1: Managing Growth
 Draft Alterations to Strategic Policies 2011-2026 (formerly 
the Core Strategy) February 2015

The Council will maximise the supply of additional housing to 
meet and exceed its strategic housing requirement of 19,802 
homes over the plan period 8,200 homes from 2011-2026 
(820 per annum).

 The Council will promote Haringey Heartlands (Clarendon Road 
development) and Wood Green Metropolitan Town centre as 
‘Growth Areas’ and suitable locations to help meet and exceed 
the boroughs strategic housing requirement.

Density
SP2: Housing
Haringey Local Plan: Strategic Policies (2013-2026)

London Plan Density Matrix

Town centre
SP10: Town centres
Haringey Local Plan: Strategic Policies (2013-2026)

Wood Green Metropolitan Town centre will be the principal focus 
of growth accommodating an extensive range of the types of 
development set out above, which should help to shape Wood 
Green into a thriving and vibrant centre for North London

Employment
SP8: Employment

The Council will secure a strong economy in Haringey and 
protect the borough’s hierarchy of employment land, Strategic 
Industrial Locations, Locally Significant Industrial Sites and 
Local Employment Areas.

In particular, the council will:
·     Protect B uses; and
·     Support small and medium sized businesses

Townscape and height
SP11: Design
SP12: Conservation

SP11: Design
All new development should enhance and enrich Haringey’s 
built environment and create places and buildings that are high 
quality, attractive, sustainable, safe and easy to use.
 
SP12: Conservation
The Council shall ensure the conservation of the historic 
significance of Haringey’s heritage assets, their setting, and the 
wider historic environment.

Social Infrastructure
SP16: Community Facilities

The Council will:
Expect development that increases the demand for community 
facilities and services to make appropriate contributions towards 
providing new facilities or improving existing facilities.

Page 99



Page 100



 

Page 1 of 11  

 
Report for:  Regulatory Committee 
 
Item number:  
 
Title: Planning Services 2015 review 
 
Report  
authorised by :  Stephen Kelly 
 
Lead Officer: Emma Williamson, emma.williamson@haringey.gov.uk, 5507 
 
Ward(s) affected: N/A 
 
Report for Key/  
Non Key Decision: for information 
 
 
1. Describe the issue under consideration 

A report on the work of the Planning Service in 2015 
 
2. Recommendations  

That this report be noted 
 

3. Reasons for decision  
Not applicable 

 
4. Alternative options considered 

This report is for noting and as such no alternative options were considered 
 
5. 2015 work report  
 
Development Management 
 

 Applications to date 3704 

 Applications in same period 2014 3433 

 Number of cases on-hand 762 (581 this time last year) 

 Appeals decided 68 

 Appeals dismissed 43 (63%) 

 Cumulative performance 
o Majors  100% (17/17) 
o Minors 81% (323/397) 
o Others  86% (1402/1635) 
o PSO 81% (1147/1414) 

 
Performance overview 
 
5.1 The sustained effort and commitment of the team through the year has seen 

continued improvements in performance - with the focus on minor and others 
applications and PSO realising a significant improvement from the summer 
onwards – supported by the planning support teams who have been able to 

Page 101 Agenda Item 6

mailto:emma.williamson@haringey.gov.uk


 

Page 2 of 11  

achieve significant improvements in validation and registration times alongside 
changes to the process for officer allocation. The service performance in Q3 of 
2 days for validation and registration represents some of the highest 
performance in London and is a significant improvement on 4 days earlier in the 
year (Jan- Oct), despite the increased application numbers and the reduction in 
staff in April with the introduction of the corporate customer contact centre.  

 
Pre-application advice 
 
5.2  In line with the commitment in the MTFS, the service implemented revised 

charges for pre-application advice – with for the first time the move to a charged 
service for householders. To date (December 2015) there have been 147 
requests for householder pte-application meetings (providing £23k of income. 
The service has been successful in delivering more accountable responses 
(avoiding previous claims about advice received verbally by the “duty planner” 
service which was not routinely captured) but this has placed additional 
workloads on both support staff and officers that have been hard to contain. 
Over the next quarter, the service expects to review the performance of the pre-
application service with users in time for the anniversary of its introduction as 
well as review the process to see where efficiencies can be created.   

 
5.3 The use of pre-application advice for other larger proposals has also continued 

to grow. Where the proposals are for larger applications, the Council has 
steered applicants towards “Planning Performance Agreements” based around 
a programme of activity and agreed application timetables. The calculation of 
costs for such PPA‟s has been improved by the publication (in April) of new 
charges – including individual staff costs. Income from pre-application advice 
and planning performance agreements has accordingly grown to £175k for pre-
apps and £81k for PPAs. 

 
Systems Thinking (Planning Solutions Team) 
 
5.4 Over 2015, the Planning team engaged with the Planning Advisory Service and 

Wolverhampton‟s Chief Planner to rethink our way or working using the 
„Systems Thinking‟ method. This work focused around process re-design aimed 
at improving productivity and effectiveness of officers allowing reduced decision 
times for customers/applicants and reduced workloads (applications on hand) 
for individual officers. A project team trialled this way or working with some live 
cases and subsequently the service bid for, and has been awarded, 
“transformation” funding from the corporate transformation programme. This 
funding has enbabled the creation of a small team of dedicated officers (the 
systems thinking team) which is implementing this approach in 2 wards. This 
approach will be rolled out across the borough incrementally in 2016. 

 
Resources Review 
 
5.5 Planning Advisory Service provided funding for a consultancy to carry out a 

„Resources Review‟. The Resource Reviews has been designed to support 
authorities in being more effective and efficient given challenges for local 
planning authorities to reduce their net cost to the Council.  The aim of the 
resource review is to help councils understand, with evidence some of the 

Page 102



 

Page 3 of 11  

resourcing options and opportunities that exist across the development 
management service.   
 

5.6 The Resources Review considered the main resourcing aspects of service 
delivery, including: 

 Understanding costs and income levels across the development 
management service. 

 Understanding the volumes/variety of work and the effect on resources. 

 Spotting opportunities to reduce costs and/or increase revenue. 

 Ceasing to offer services or delivering them differently. 

 Evidencing the effect that changes/opportunities identified will have. 

 Identifying ways in which the service delivery can be improved so that the 
reputation and confidence in the service is enhanced 

5.7 The final report from the Resources Review is expected shortly. Preliminary 
findings suggest that Haringey is an efficient service recovering some 75% of 
the cost of providing the service through fees – whilst officer workloads are 
some of the highest observed in the study. The findings of the review will be fed 
into the ongoing improvement programme. 

 
Planning Quality Framework 
 
5.8 Haringey is taking part in the Planning Quality Framework which is coordinated 

by Planning Advisory Service. This provides us with an opportunity for us to 
compare our performance data with other similar local authorities and also for 
us to gather customer satisfaction data. 

 
Quality Review Panel 
 
5.9 In April 2015, following a nationwide competition that attracted over 60 

applications from design specialists across the Country, the service established 
its new “Quality review Panel” with independent chair, Peter Studdert.  The 
panel members were shortlisted to some 25 members from across the built 
environment spectrum. The process has been designed to be self funding and 
since May reviews have taken place on 20 schemes. The QRP is one part of 
the Council commitment to improving the quality of new development (see 
below) and has been positively received by members of the Planning 
Committee and applicants.     

 
Planning Decisions 

 
5.8 The planning Committee has met 13 times over 2015 and considered a total of 

48 applications. It has approved 44 and refused 4. Of the applications refused, 
2 have subsequently been the subject of an appeal, both of which were allowed. 
In one of these cases partial costs were awarded against the Council. Further 
details on appeals April-December 2015 are included in the appendices.  

 
5.9 Reflecting the growing interest in the borough, the work of the committee has 

grown in scale and significance over the year. Notable applications in 2015 
include Highgate Magistrates Court in January and St Anne‟s Hospital Site in 
March 2015. The ambitious plans for Alexandra Palace were also received and 

Page 103



 

Page 4 of 11  

resolved to grant in February 2015.  The ambitious plans for Tottenham 
Hotspurs‟ stadium have seen 4 applications considered by the committee. In all, 
the planning committee have approved applications for 1,184 new homes over 
2015. 

 
Planning Enforcement 

 
 Complaints received 2014 966 

 Complaints received 2015 895 

 Enforcement notices served 2014 115 

 Enforcement notices served 2015 105 

 Enforcement appeals lodged- 73 enforcement appeals lodged (42 pending, 4 

withdrawn) 

 Enforcement appeal decisions- of these 73 appeals lodged 19 notices upheld  

and 8 allowed. 

5.10 The planning enforcement team has seen significant change in 2015, with the 
departure of the former team leader in December 2014 and a review of 
performance and monitoring systems that highlighted poorer than expected 
performance. The work of the team since that time has focused upon improved 
monitoring and targeted action that seeks to ensure that complaints are 
investigated and complainants advised of outcomes in a timely manner. Over 
the year, performance has improved from 72% 768/1063 average January-
November of complaints being notified within 8 weeks to 97% (35/36)  in 
December. A workshop with members was held to discuss priorities for the 
Enforcement service and a new Enforcement Policy will be consulted on in 
2016. 

 
5.11 The enforcement team also received £46,000 in Proceeds of Crime Acts fines 

together with some convictions and fines from prosecutions. Considerable staff 
turnover through the year has nevertheless impacted upon the delivery of the 
Industrial Living Project - with the departure of the dedicated enforcement 
officer in May and the re-deployment of the project manager to mainstream 
enforcement management activities. The recruitment planned (see below) in the 
New Year, is hoped to provide additional capability to re-engage on the delivery 
of this project.  

 
PLANNING POLICY 
 
Haringey Local Plan 
 
5.12 Following preliminary work on Haringey CIL and issues and options stages of 

the Local Plan in 2014, 2015 seen both a preferred option consultation on the 
local Plan (in January – February) and the preparation and approval of the Pre-
submission drafts of a suite of planning documents covering an update to the 
strategic polices DPD, and replacements for the saved UDP polices with a 
Development Management Polices, Site Allocation and Tottenham Area Action 
Plan DPD‟s. This has required engagement with a range of land interests, 
alongside reviewing and summarising almost 700 individual representations 
making in excess of over 6,000 individual comments/proposed changes to the 

Page 104



 

Page 5 of 11  

plan.  The schedule of responses to the plan which accompanied the Full 
Council meeting, during which the revised documents were approved for 
consultation, ran to 1,380 pages.  

 
5.13 The service has also supported the preparation of the Joint North London  

Waste Local Plan through towards the anticipated publication of a preferred 
option for the waste plan in spring 2016. Collaboration with the GLA has seen 
Wood Green meanwhile, emerged as a potential “Opportunity Area” in the 
future London Plan and prompted preparation of an Area Action Plan 
(scheduled for consideration in January) to underpin the aspirations contained 
in a new vision for the Metropolitan Centre – reflecting the likely renewed focus 
on the location through the emerging Crossrail 2 proposals.  

 
Neighbourhood Planning 
 
5.14 The policy team have also supported the Highgate Neighbourhood Forum in the 

progression of the Highgate Neighbourhood plan which is currently out for 
consultation prior to submission to the Council next year. The policy team have 
also provided advice and support for the recently recognised Neighbourhood 
Forum for Crouch End, who are expected to begin work on the preparation of a 
Neighbourhood Plan for that area in 2016. 

      
S106/CIL 
 
5.15 Investments in infrastructure have seen some £1,040,162 spend through 2015 

as well as £2,607,609 collected in CIL revenue – the majority of which 
(£1,853,081) being provided to the Mayor. Projects supported by S106 
payments in 2015 include:  

 
 

Legible London Signs in Archway area £15,000 

Expenditure on the Wood Green Investment Framework 
Project 

£80,000 

Feasibility Study and design of a CPZ in the Muswell Hill 
area 

£40,000 

Road Safety measures on Bishopswood Road and 
Hampstead Lane, N6 including new raised zebra crossings 

£120,000 

Highway Improvement Works on Leeside Road N17 and 
Land fronting Watermead Way, N17 

£11,946 

Highway Works at Hornsey High Street £773,215 

Total 1,040,161 

 

5.16 The planning service has also participated in a recent (December) scrutiny 
review of the spending of S106 and CIL receipts. The expectation is that in 
accordance with the recommendations of an independent audit of the service, a 
new CIL/S106 investment process – to reflect the growing need to manage the 
dispersement of unassigned CIL payments, will be implemented in 2016.   

 
5.16 The planning service has also participated in a recent (December) scrutiny 

review of the spending of S106 and CIL receipts. The expectation is that in 
accordance with the recommendations of an independent audit of the service, a 

Page 105



 

Page 6 of 11  

new CIL/S106 investment process – to reflect the growing need to manage the 
dispersement of unassigned CIL payments, will be implemented in 2016. 

   
Conservation 

 
5.17 The Conservation “team” comprising one full time and one temporary officer 

has had a busy year; in addition to supporting regeneration colleagues and the 
Alexandra Palace Trust in securing £2m and £16m respectively from the HLF, 
the team has also supported officers from across the regeneration and property 
teams secured £10,000 from Heritage of London Trust Operations (HOLT ops) 
for the Wood Green drinking fountain and trough and £80,000 for the 
restoration of the Tottenham Green War Memorial. The service has also 
advised the property team on Hornsey town hall, and Bruce Castle and the 
regeneration team on implementation of the West green/North Tottenham Shop 
front grant scheme.  

 
5.18 Greater engagement with Historic England (formerly English heritage) has seen 

support for the Noel Park community in the assessment of their neighbourhood 
and production of a draft Noel Park Conservation Area Management Plan 
(reflecting ongoing work with Homes for Haringey in the area) as well as further 
funding to support the ongoing appraisal and preparation of management plans 
for the North Tottenham and Scotland Green Conservation Areas.    

 
5.19 In 25 September 2014 the service hosted a visit by the “London Advisory 

Committee” of Historic England at the Bernie grant Arts centre. The Council had 
sought advice from the LAC on managing the heritage interests of the Area 
whilst enabling regeneration of the area. The recommendations of the LAC 
have been considered in the context of both the emerging Local Plan and the 
conservation area appraisals now underway.   

 
5.20 Meanwhile, the Principal Conservation Officer has also provided advice in 

respect of 102 planning and listed building applications over the year, including 
attending 2 informal hearings as part of the Councils planning team. In addition, 
she has provided advice on several pre-application meetings along with input 
into appeal statements. She has also provided input in the various local plan 
policy documents with regard to proposals that may impact the borough‟s 
historic environment.   

 
Transportation 
 
5.21 The team has made major contribution to supporting planning officers in dealing 

with their very high number of planning applications as well as providing input at 
the pre-application stage. The team provided comments to over 400 
applications. A significant amount of staff time was dedicated to the application 
for Spurs football ground which gained a committee resolution to grant planning 
permission in December.  

 
5.22 The team has supported the delivery of regeneration in Tottenham and Wood 

Green through the provision of transport planning advice and participation in a 
range of delivery groups. It has lead on the Council‟s input to Crossrail 2 which, 
if approved, would transform access and capacity across much of the Borough.  

 

Page 106



 

Page 7 of 11  

5.23  The team has worked with the Smarter Travel team to deliver personalised 
travel planning in the Harringay/St Ann‟s area of the borough. The team is 
leading on measures to mitigate the impact of motor traffic such as setting up a 
car club contract, supporting the use of electric vehicles through BluePoint 
London and point to point car hire through Drive Now. 

 
5.24 Following a successful bid in October TfL has allocated £2.3m LIP funding for 

transport projects in December for delivery in 2016/17.  Transport planning has 
led on planning of cycle routes, provided input to bus service planning and 
commenced work on developing a Transport Strategy. 

 
BUILDING CONTROL 
 

 Fee earning Applications received 2015 - 1322 

 Fee earning Applications received 2014 - 1305 

 Fee income from applications 2014 – £582k 

 Fee income from applications 2015 – £637k 

5.25 Against a challenging background, the Building Control Service has continued 
to provide valued customer services. Applications over the year have increased, 
and the reach of the service has increased, (following a protocol for BC across 
London) with the service inspecting and considering 28 applications for 
development beyond the Borough boundary.  

 
5.26 Dangerous Structures have again been ever prevalent, both within normal office 

hours and outside office hours, with the team has been “called upon” over 200 
times this year, from emergencies including partial demolition of buildings by 
vehicles to rectifying poor workmanship where adequate temporary support was 
not provided. Notable enforcement cases have included the need to mass fill an 
unauthorised and unsafe basement in South Tottenham to removing partially 
collapsed scaffolding.  

 
5.27 BC consult – as a means of providing affordable expert advice to Council 

services, and in respect of Party Wall Agreements, the service has provided 
charged consultancy support to a number of projects in 2015, including 
feasibility studies, party wall awards and numerous structural surveys and 
repairs.  

 
MEMBER DEVELOPMENT 
 
5.28 In line with a commitment given to support member‟s development, over 2015, 

the Planning service has organised a number of “off site” training tours. Starting 
the year at the offices of Allies and Morrison, visits to the Olympic Athletes 
village, Lime wharf in Islington and A number of sites in Bow, plus a seminar on 
the top floor of Brook House were arranged. Visits were well attended, and 
members have been invited to suggest further venues and destinations for 
2016.   

 
Planning community conference 17 October 2015  
 

Page 107



 

Page 8 of 11  

5.29 The inaugural planning community conference was held at the Civic centre on 
Saturday 17 October. Invitations were sent out to a large number of local 
groups representing amenity societies across the borough with around 40 
attendees attendin to hear from officers on the priorities and challenges facing 
the service – as well as the emerging policy framework and the range of 
services proposed to be provided by the Planning Service in the future.   

 
Planning Protocol 
 
5.30 A review of the Planning Protocol was undertaken and a session with members 

was held. It is proposed that ward members be given speaking rights at 
Planning Committee pre-application briefing meetings. Due to pressure on 
resources the revised protocol has not yet been produced for agreement. This 
will be before the February Regulatory Committee. 

 
STAFFING 
 
5.30 Like much of the South east, the demand for planning officers reflects the 

record applications numbers across the region. Competition between local 
planning authorities (and the private sector) for experienced planning officers 
and for building control professionals is high. Through 2015, the Planning 
Service has begun a re-structure aimed at providing a positive career pathway 
for all officers within the service (and to allow local people to access the 
service) and as a means to undertake a recruitment campaign in early 2016 in 
an attempt to attract permanent staff to a number of senior planning and 
enforcement roles. The scarcity of skills and high demand mean that the new 
structure has been created with the expectation that there will continue to be a 
changing demand for skills as economic fortunes improve or decline. A number 
of anticipated major applications also prompt a need for additional capacity at 
peak times to manage performance and workloads of officers (within the 
existing budget envelope). The first round of internal recruitment has 
successfully seen the appointment of 4 staff to permanent roles (replacing posts 
filled by agency staff) as well as the promotion of 3 existing permanent staff to 
management roles.  Phase 2 of the re-structure will engage with the Building 
control service and seek to provide a similar pathway and flexibility for the 
future and is expected to begin in February. 

  
Local Government Ombudsman 
 
5.31 The service has received 3 findings of maladministration from the local 

government Ombudsman in 2015, one in relation to Connaught House, one in 
relation to Muswell Hill Place and one in relation to development in South 
Tottenham. Following both findings, the service has taken corrective action in 
an attempt to restore trust and confidence in the community, and to learn the 
lessons from the investigation process.   

 
 
 
PERFORMANCE  
 
5.32 The service has committed to be top quartile in London for speed, quality and 

cost. The service is top quartile for Majors and Minors. The attached appendix 

Page 108



 

Page 9 of 11  

explains how the service is progressing in the realisation of this objective and 
reflects reporting undertaken to the corporate performance board. (see 
appendix). These figures are April-November (financial year to date). 

 
CHALLENGES 
 
5.33 Notwithstanding that the service has made significant progress in 2015, there 

remain significant challenges facing the Planning Service in 2016.  
 
Funding 

5.34 The stability of fee income is hard to predict – and is heavily dependent upon 
the state of the economy and investor/development activity. The government 
have consistently declined to increase planning fees to reflect the full cost of 
providing the service (and to mirror building control services) with the 
consequent effect that despite application numbers increasing, the service has 
been unable to fund a corresponding increase in staff. The reliance upon 
“earned” income as the service seeks to meet the MTFC requirements has 
accordingly increased. This income is sensitive to market and wider economic 
conditions. This is particularly important as the funding provided overall to the 
Council declines.  

 
Skills  
 
5.35 Demand for experienced planning and building control professionals is at a 

record high – reflecting the loss to the profession of senior staff during the last 
downturn, and the unprecedented demand and competition for staff – especially 
in the south East of England where growth pressures are highest. Attracting 
and retaining staff to Haringey will continue to be challenging and whist the 
service is seeking to broaden its offer, there is an expectation that temporary 
staff will be continue to be required to manage peaks in workload and budget 
pressures.  

 
Density and growth 
 
5.36 The emerging Local Plan and growing need for housing in London reflect a 

need for higher density developments that pose a range of challenges for 
communities, and decision makers. The preparation of an up to date local plan 
is one part of the services responses, along with new process and policy 
commitments to ensuring high quality development. Nevertheless, ensuring that 
the borough can grant planning permission for an appropriate number of new 
homes (and that these homes get built) remains of critical significance if the 
Borough is to be able to manage and control growth as required by the NPPF. 
Housing completions in the borough fell below the Boroughs target in 2014/5 
and are expected to do so again in 2015/16. If the borough cannot secure an 
appropriate increase in delivery in the year ahead, there is a risk that, on 
appeal, substandard or poor quality homes will be approved.  

 
Affordable housing 
 
5.37 Significant pressure on the provision of new affordable housing is being created 

through policy and viability pressures. The government‟s announcement of and 
emphasis on new “affordable ”home ownership products in the Housing Bill and 

Page 109



 

Page 10 of 11  

the recent consultation on changes to the definition of affordable housing in the 
NPPF mean that challenges to the delivery of genuinely affordable rented 
housing is set to increase further in the year ahead. This risks further impacting 
the communities‟ confidence in the planning service and the Council to deliver 
homes that meet their needs. The planning service, is seeking to collaborate 
with other London boroughs on a protocol for assessment of viability and 
Scrutiny Committee have committed to investigate the issue of viability in a 
forthcoming review – to help guide policy and practice in the borough. Officers 
nevertheless anticipate that, in the event that national changes to the NPPF are 
executed, level of affordable homes to rent delivered through the S106/planning 
process will decline further. 

 
Supporting businesses and the economy 
 
5.38 The Borough‟s housing growth targets have put pressure on traditional 

employment spaces – particularly with the advent of a range of “permitted 
development” regimes that remove traditional controls from changes of use. 
Whilst the Council has responded with a commitment towards an Article 4 
direction for loss of business space, the viability of new employment space 
means that to create additional workspace will require some form of subsidy 
(potentially from higher value development) – if it is to be affordable. S106 
agreements meanwhile have the scope to provide a pipeline of apprentice and 
post construction opportunities. Securing such commitments will continue to be 
challenging given the limited resources of the Council, and the multiple 
partnerships required to realise these objectives. The Planning Service is 
nevertheless embarking on work with the Economic Regeneration Team to 
develop a new programme and process to maximise new space for target 
business sectors and to ensure that construction and post occupation training 
and employment opportunities can be captured for local communities.  

 
Infrastructure delivery 

 
5.39 The review of the local Plan is being accompanied by a new infrastructure 

investment plan. Meanwhile, the Council is also developing its capital strategy  - 
outlining the targeted investment required to support health and education, 
transport, energy and the range of community infrastructure that is associated 
with growth. The public sectors ability to plan for and manage infrastructure 
delivery is mixed. The creation of an up to date local plan provides an 
opportunity for the council and its partners to collaborate around a single growth 
plan but capacity and timetables for such investments, and the fragmented 
nature of delivery still provides challenges. The level of CIL funding available 
across the borough varies. Whilst rates in the west are high, the level of growth 
in that area is low. Meanwhile in Tottenham CIL rates are very low, whilst levels 
of anticipated growth are high. CIL and Ss106 will not cover the cost of all 
infrastructure. A review of CIL rates and the schedule of infrastructure required 
will nevertheless take place in 2016 to ensure that CIL and s106 can better 
support the delivery of infrastructure to meet the communities‟ future needs.  

 
6. Contribution to strategic outcomes 

 
The Planning Service contributes to outcomes in Priority 4 and 5. 
 

Page 110



 

Page 11 of 11  

7. Statutory Officers comments (Chief Finance Officer (including 
procurement), Assistant Director of Corporate Governance, Equalities) 
 
Not applicable 
 

8. Use of Appendices 
 
Development Management and Planning Enforcement performance data 
 

9. Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
 

Planning Applications are on the Planning Register on the Council‟s website and the 

Local Plan Documents are also on the Council‟s website. 

 

Page 111



This page is intentionally left blank



Planning service - towards ‘Top quartile in London/England’ 

November 2015 

DM Board (Speed, Quality & Cost stats) 

P
age 113



Summary dashboard 

Speed Quality Cost 

Workforce / Caseloads 

Performance on majors measured over the two 
years rolling is now in the top quartile. 
 
Performance on minors and others is still variable 
but has improved since the dip in the summer  
and is now in the top quartile in London.  
 
Performance on discharge of conditions is 
improving although further improvement is 
needed.  An initial meeting with consultees has 
been held and these are being followed up 
individually. 

 

The number of applications on hand continues to rise  and correspondingly the caseloads for officers also continues to rise. Although  additional 
staff were employed to make inroads into the backlog these staff have been needed to  deal with the rising number of cases.  

 
Preliminary results from 
the Resources Review 
suggest that DM is at 75% 
cost recovery 

Amber
/Red 

Amber Amber
/Green 

One major application has been overturned at appeal and 
one had a split decision in the last two years. 
 
Performance on validation has significantly improved.  A 
spreadsheet to allow automatic allocation has been 
developed and implemented which has led to substantial 
improvements in performance in validation.  
 
Although enforcement  requires further work to reach 
target. Substantial improvements have been made in all 
areas. 
 
This is Amber because of enforcement. 

P
age 114



Speed Indicators 

•Major planning applications decided within 13 weeks over a 2 year period 
 
•Percentage of Major applications determined within 13 weeks 
 
•Percentage of minor applications determined within 8 weeks 
 
•Percentage of others applications determined within 8 weeks 
 
•Percentage of Approval of details (Discharge of conditions) determined within time 
 
•Average number of days to make a decision 

P
age 115



0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

D
ec 1

0
 - N

o
v 1

2
 

Jan
 1

1
 - D

ec 1
2

 

Feb
 1

1
 - Jan

 1
3

 

M
ar 1

1
 - Feb

 1
3

 

A
p

r 1
1

 - M
ar 1

3
 

M
ay 1

1
 - A

p
r 1

3
 

Ju
n

e 1
1

 - M
ay 1

3
 

Ju
ly 1

1
 - Ju

n
e 1

3
 

A
u

g 1
1

 - Ju
ly 1

3
 

Sep
 1

1
 - A

u
g 1

3
 

O
ct 1

1
 - Sep

 1
3

 

N
o

v 1
1

 - O
ct 1

3
 

D
ec 1

1
 - N

o
v 1

3
 

Jan
 1

2
 - D

ec 1
3

 

Feb
 1

2
 - Jan

 1
4

 

M
ar 1

2
 - Feb

 1
4

 

A
p

r 1
2

 - M
ar 1

4
 

M
ay 1

2
 - A

p
r 1

4
 

Ju
n

e 1
2

 - M
ay 1

4
 

Ju
ly 1

2
 - Ju

n
e 1

4
 

A
u

gu
st 1

2
 - Ju

ly 1
4

 

Sep
t 1

2
 - A

u
g 1

4
 

O
ct 1

2
 - Sep

 1
4

 

N
o

v 1
2

 - O
ct 1

4
 

D
ec 1

2
 - N

o
v 1

4
 

Jan
 1

3
 - D

ec 1
4

 

Feb
 1

3
 - Jan

 1
5

 

M
ar 1

3
 - Feb

 1
5

 

A
p

r 1
3

 - M
ar 1

5
 

M
ay 1

3
 - A

p
r 1

5
 

Ju
n

e 1
3

 - M
ay 1

5
 

Ju
ly 1

3
 - Ju

n
e 1

5
 

A
u

gu
st 1

3
 - Ju

ly 1
5

 

Sep
t 1

3
 -A

u
g 1

5
 

O
ct 1

3
 -Sep

 1
5

 

N
o

v 1
3

 -O
ct 1

5
 

D
ec 1

3
 -N

o
v 1

5
 

Haringey Performance 

Target 

Performance on major applications determined on time measured 
over a two year time period has consistently and significantly 
improved.   
 
DCLG Measurement for designation of poorly performing planning authorities – speed of decision on 
major planning applications decided within 13 weeks over a 2 year period 
Threshold: 40%  Current performance: 98% 
  

Parliament published revised criteria in September 
2015 to raise the threshold to 50% 

DCLG Threshold 
for designation 

P
age 116



 How Haringey  
 compares to  
 London authorities 
2014-2015 

 
 

Haringey Mean Rank Worst BQ Median TQ Best 

 % Majors  
 determined in 13  
 weeks 

100 75.7 1/33 43 64 78 88 100 

% Majors granted 90 87.9 15/33 67 85 89 94 100 

Performance on major applications determined within timescale 
has been well within the top London quartile since April 2014. 

Percentage of Major applications determined within 13 weeks 
 Target: 65%  Current performance: 100% (cumulative for current  financial year) 

* Applications subject to a PPA or an 
agreed extension of time are included in 
these figures.  

Today 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

A
p

r-
1

3
 

Ju
n

-1
3

 

A
u

g-
1

3
 

O
ct

-1
3

 

D
ec

-1
3

 

Fe
b

-1
4

 

A
p

r-
1

4
 

Ju
n

-1
4

 

A
u

g-
1

4
 

O
ct

-1
4

 

D
ec

-1
4

 

Fe
b

-1
5

 

A
p

r-
1

5
 

Ju
n

-1
5

 

A
u

g-
1

5
 

O
ct

-1
5

 

D
ec

-1
5

 

Fe
b

-1
6

 

A
p

r-
1

6
 

%
 

Month 

Percentage of planning applications processed in 13 weeks (Major)  
Year to date 

Rolling 12 mth avg 
Trajectory (flat + impact) 
Trajectory (flat + impact + seasonal) 
Target 
Actual 
Top London quartile 

Good performance is high 

P
age 117



Percentage of Minor applications determined within 8 weeks 
Target: 65%  Current performance: 81% (cumulative for current financial year) 

Performance on minor applications determined within 8 weeks is well 
above the corporate target and is close to being consistently within the 
London upper quartile. However performance remains volatile. 

* Applications subject to a PPA or an 
agreed extension of time are included in 
these figures.  

 How Haringey  
 compares to  
 London authorities 
2014-2015 

 
 

Haringey Mean Rank Worst BQ Median TQ Best 

 % Minors 
 determined in  8 
 weeks 

77 69.5 8/33 33 67 71 77 86 

% Minors granted 74 76.6 19/33 62 71 76 83 100 

Today 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

A
p

r-
1

2
 

Ju
n

-1
2

 

A
u

g-
1

2
 

O
ct

-1
2

 

D
ec

-1
2

 

Fe
b

-1
3

 

A
p

r-
1

3
 

Ju
n

-1
3

 

A
u

g-
1

3
 

O
ct

-1
3

 

D
ec

-1
3

 

Fe
b

-1
4

 

A
p

r-
1

4
 

Ju
n

-1
4

 

A
u

g-
1

4
 

O
ct

-1
4

 

D
ec

-1
4

 

Fe
b

-1
5

 

A
p

r-
1

5
 

Ju
n

-1
5

 

A
u

g-
1

5
 

O
ct

-1
5

 

D
ec

-1
5

 

Fe
b

-1
6

 

A
p

r-
1

6
 

Ju
n

-1
6

 

A
u

g-
1

6
 

O
ct

-1
6

 

D
ec

-1
6

 

Fe
b

-1
7

 

%
 

Month 

Percentage of planning applications processed in 8 weeks (Minor)  

Rolling 12 mth avg 

Trajectory (flat + impact) 

Trajectory (flat + impact + seasonal) 

Target 

Actual 

London top quartile 

Good performance is high 

P
age 118



Percentage of others applications determined within 8 weeks 
Target: 80%  Current performance: 89% (cumulative for current financial year) 

Performance on ‘others’ applications determined within 8 weeks is 
above corporate target and is close to being within the London top 
quartile. 

* Applications subject to a PPA or an 
agreed extension of time are included in 
these figures.  

 How Haringey  
 compares to  
 London authorities 
2014-2015 

 
 

Haringey Mean Rank Worst BQ Median TQ Best 

 % Others 
 determined in  8 
 weeks 

81 79.7 17/33 41 75 81 86 95 

% Others granted 87 80.8 6/33 62 76 81 85 98 

Note: From this financial year 
Certificate of Lawfulness 
applications now fall under the 
‘PS0’ category; therefore there will 
be less received / determined 
planning cases in the ‘Other’ 
category and more in the ‘PS0’ 
category 

Today 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

A
p

r-
1

3
 

Ju
n

-1
3

 

A
u

g-
1

3
 

O
ct

-1
3

 

D
ec

-1
3

 

Fe
b

-1
4

 

A
p

r-
1

4
 

Ju
n

-1
4

 

A
u

g-
1

4
 

O
ct

-1
4

 

D
ec

-1
4

 

Fe
b

-1
5

 

A
p

r-
1

5
 

Ju
n

-1
5

 

A
u

g-
1

5
 

O
ct

-1
5

 

D
ec

-1
5

 

Fe
b

-1
6

 

A
p

r-
1

6
 

%
 

Month 

Percentage of planning applications processed in 8 weeks (Other)  

Rolling 12 mth avg 

Trajectory (flat + impact) 

Trajectory (flat + impact + seasonal) 

Target 

Actual 

Top London quartile 

Good performance is high 

P
age 119



0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

December January February March April May June July August  September  October November 

AoD on time 

Target 

Linear (AoD on time) 

% of Approval of details (Discharge of conditions) determined within time 
Target: 100% Current performance: 77% (monthly) 

Performance on discharge of conditions determined within 8 weeks 
has improved in 2014/15 and is on an upward trend but remains 
below the service set target of 100%. 

Performance on discharge of 
conditions will be the main focus on 
the Improvement Plan going 
forward. 

 The Government has introduced regulations 
following the Infrastructure Bill which would allow 
applicants to serve a notice after 6 weeks  on 
certain applications for a decision within 8 weeks or 
deemed approval would be given.  Regulations 
came into force on 15th April 2015 

P
age 120



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

 
8 Major planning applications determined so far in 2015-2016 with current 
performance at 100%. Most decisions on Major applications were made 
between 91 and 190 days. Average days to make a decision is 162 days.  
 

Days taken from receipt of a valid application to date of decision issued 
 

Majors performance Apr-Nov 2015-2016 

14 of the 20 decisions 
(70%) were decided 
within a PPA   

142 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

Majors performance 2014-2015 

• Average days: 142 
 
•Most days taken: 286 
 
•Least days taken: 58 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  140 
 
•Most decisions between 
91 and 172 days 

•Average days: 157 
 
•Most days taken: 385 
 
•Least days taken: 90 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  135 
 
•Most decisions between 
91 and 168 days 

6 of the 10 decisions 
(60%) were decided 
within a PPA   

157 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

P
age 121



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

 
236 Minor planning applications determined so far in 2015-2016 with 
current performance at 82%. Most decisions on Minor applications were 
made between 56 and 84 days. Average days to make a decision is 92 
days.  
 

70 of the 371 decisions 
(19%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time   

83 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

500 

Minors performance Apr-Nov 2015-2016 

Days taken from receipt of a valid application to date of decision issued 
 

Minors performance 2014-2015 

• Average days: 83 
 
•Most days taken: 438 
 
•Least days taken: 27 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions between 
56 and 91 days 

• Average days: 103 
 
•Most days taken: 873 
 
•Least days taken: 45 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions between 
56  and 98 days 

62 of the 291 decisions 
(21%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time   

103 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

900 

1000 

P
age 122



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

 
983 Others planning applications determined so far in 2015-2016 with 
current performance at 88%. Most decisions on Other applications were 
made on 56 days. Average days to make a decision is 69 days.  
 

200 of the 1858 decisions 
(11%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time  

67 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

Others performance Apr-Nov 2015-2016 

Days taken from receipt of a valid application to date of decision issued 
 

Others performance 2014-2015 

• Average days: 67 
 
•Most days taken: 659 
 
•Least days taken: 9 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions between 
56 and 62 days 

• Average days: 69 
 
•Most days taken: 873 
 
•Least days taken: 23 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions made on 
56 days 

134 of the 1160 decisions 
(12%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time  

69 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

900 

1000 

P
age 123



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

 
88 PS0 planning applications determined so far in 2015-2016 with current 
performance at 84%. Most decisions on PS0 applications were made 
between 42 and 56 days . Average days to make a decision is 64 days. 
 

33 of the 979 decisions 
(3%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time  

72 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

Days taken from receipt of a valid application to date of decision issued 
 

PS0 performance Apr-Nov 2015-2016 PS0 performance 2014-2015 

• Average days: 72 
 
•Most days taken: 538 
 
•Least days taken: 0 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions between 
42 and 73 days 

• Average days: 65 
 
•Most days taken: 539 
 
•Least days taken: 0 
 
•Most frequent day 
number:  56 
 
•Most decisions between 
42 and 56 days 

32 of the 1008 decisions 
(4%) were decided 
within  an extension of 
time  

*PS0 (includes discharges of conditions, trees, prior approval, non-material  amendments , COLs, etc) 

65 

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

P
age 124



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Quality 

•The extent to which major applications are overturned at appeal over a two year period 
 
•Days to make valid 
 
•Days from declared Valid to Decision issued 
 
•Percentage of Planning Enforcement Complaints on which a decision is taken within 8 weeks 
 
•Percentage of complainants notified  about the progress of the enforcement complaint 
decision within 8 weeks 
 
•Number/percentage of Acknowledged enforcement complaints with in 24hrs 
 
•Customer satisfaction 

P
age 125



Performance is well below the DCLG threshold, with only 1 major 
application overturned on a non-determination appeal in June 2015. 

Quality of decisions – DCLG measurement  (the extent to which major applications are overturned at appeal over a 
two year period) 
Threshold: 20% Current performance: 2% 

  

DCLG Threshold 
(20%) 

1 major  application was 
overturned on a non-
determination appeal in June 
2015 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

D
ec 1

0
 - N

o
v 1

2
 

Jan
 1

1
 - D

ec 1
2

 

Feb
 1

1
 - Jan

 1
3

 

M
ar 1

1
 - Feb

 1
3

 

A
p

r 1
1

 - M
ar 1

3
 

M
ay 1

1
 - A

p
r 1

3
 

Ju
n

e 1
1

 - M
ay 1

3
 

Ju
ly 1

1
 - Ju

n
e 1

3
 

A
u

g 1
1

 - Ju
ly 1

3
 

Sep
 1

1
 - A

u
g 1

3
 

O
ct 1

1
 - Sep

 1
3

 

N
o

v 1
1

 - O
ct 1

3
 

D
ec 1

1
 - N

o
v 1

3
 

Jan
 1

2
 - D

ec 1
3

 

Feb
 1

2
 - Jan

 1
4

 

M
ar 1

2
 - Feb

 1
4

 

A
p

r 1
2

 - M
ar 1

4
 

M
ay 1

2
 - A

p
r 1

4
 

Ju
n

 1
2

 - M
ay 1

4
 

Ju
ly 1

2
 - Ju

n
e 1

4
 

A
u

g 1
2

 - Ju
ly 1

4
 

Sep
 1

2
 - A

u
g 1

4
 

O
ct 1

2
 - Sep

 1
4

 

N
o

v 1
2

 - O
ct 1

4
 

D
ec 1

2
 - N

o
v 1

4
 

Jan
 1

3
 - D

ec 1
4

 

Feb
 1

3
 - Jan

 1
5

 

M
ar 1

3
 - Feb

 1
5

 

A
p

r 1
3

 - M
ar 1

5
 

M
ay 1

3
 - A

p
r 1

5
 

Ju
n

e 1
3

 - M
ay 1

5
 

Ju
ly 1

3
 - Ju

n
e 1

5
 

A
u

gu
st 1

3
 - Ju

ly 1
5

 

Sep
 1

3
 - A

u
g 1

5
 

O
ct 1

3
 - Sep

 1
5

 

N
o

v 1
3

 - O
ct 1

5
 

D
ec 1

3
 - N

o
v 1

5
 

Total Major 
Planning Application 
Decisions 

Appeals Overturned 
on Major Planning 
Applications 

DCLG threshold 

P
age 126



Performance is currently 4%. 
The DCLG threshold is 5% 

Quality of decisions – DCLG measurement  (the extent to which minor applications are overturned at appeal over a 
two year period) 
Threshold: 5% Current performance: 4% 

  

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

900 

D
ec 1

2
 - N

o
v 1

4
 

Jan
 1

3
 - D

ec 1
4

 

Feb
 1

3
 - Jan

 1
5

 

M
ar 1

3
 - Feb

 1
5

 

A
p

r 1
3

 - M
ar 1

5
 

M
ay 1

3
 - A

p
r 1

5
 

Ju
n

e 1
3

 - M
ay 1

5
 

Ju
ly 1

3
 - Ju

n
e 1

5
 

A
u

gu
st 1

3
 - Ju

ly 1
5

 

Sep
 1

3
 - A

u
g 1

5
 

O
ct 1

3
 - Sep

 1
5

 

N
o

v 1
3

 - O
ct 1

5
 

D
ec 1

3
 - N

o
v 1

5
 

Total Minor 
Planning Application 
Decisions 

Appeals overturned 
on Minor 
applications 

DCLG threshold 

P
age 127



0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

% valid after 5 working days 

% valid within 4-5 working days 

% valid within 1-3 working days 

% valid on receipt 

Applications valid on receipt 
 

Between October 2014 and November 2015, 62% of applications 
submitted were valid on receipt and 18% became valid within 1-3 
days of the original received date.  

Top 3 reasons for 
invalidity: 
1. Awaiting cheque payment 
(60%) 
2. Dimensions and / or scale 
bar missing (30%) 
3. Incorrect application form 
(10%) 

P
age 128



4 4 5 4 5 6 2 2 1 2 2 2 
0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 

Total registered 

Average working days 
taken to register a 
valid application 

Days taken to register a valid application per month 
 

The introduction of an automatic allocations system has dramatically 
reduced the number of days, with performance within the 3 working 
day target since June 2015. 

Volume of valid applications registered against average days per month 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 

Registered in 6 or more 
working days of a valid 
application 

Registered on working 
day 4 / 5 of a valid 
application 

P
age 129



 
Performance for those planning enforcement complaints where a 
decision is taken within 8 weeks is volatile. Performance in August 
significantly improved and is close to the corporate target. 
 
% of Planning Enforcement Complaints on which a decision is taken within 8 weeks  
Target: 90% Current performance: 88% (monthly) 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

Dec-14 Jan-15 Feb-15 Mar-15 Apr-15 May-15 Jun-15 Jul-15 Aug-15 Sep-15 Oct-15 Nov-15 

% of 8 week 
performance 

Target 

P
age 130



36 43 36 63 69 76 65 79 61 56 67 60 

0.00% 

10.00% 

20.00% 

30.00% 

40.00% 

50.00% 

60.00% 

70.00% 

80.00% 

90.00% 

100.00% 

December January February March April May June July August September October November 

Target 

% 
Acknowle
dged in 1 
working 
day of 
receipt 

Performance improved following a dip in march; however, 
over the last two months performance has slightly fallen.  

this dip related to staff 
leave 

The march dip was due to 
training and transition to CST 

Total  complaints 
registered per month 

P
age 131



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Customer satisfactions surveys for April – October 2015 showed that 
agents are overall 81% satisfied with the Planning Service 
 

2367 surveys were sent to agents who had received a planning decision between the 1st of April 2015 and 
the 31st of October 2015 : 147 surveys were completed (6%) 
4 questions were asked in regards to helpfulness, use of time, use of information and clarity of decision 
 

45% 

36% 

11% 

8% 

Very Satisfied 

Satisfied 

Not satisfied 

Very Dissatisfied 

Overall satisfaction rating of 81% from agents 
 
Highest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to clarity of decision – 87% 
 
Lowest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to use of peoples time – 23% 
 
 

Some positive comments received including: 
 
•Pleasing to have a planning officer that can be readily contacted by Agent. A service that some London 
Boroughs do not provide and seriously aggravates working relationship and progress on applications 
•Planning officer was very helpful and adopted a pro-active approach to assist in gaining a consent. We have 
not experienced such a positive attitude in councils elsewhere. 
•Very happy with the positive approach of the council. Would rate Haringey planning department as one of 
the best for being positive with most of the planning applications, very well time managements. polite and 
helpful staff. 
 

P
age 132



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Customer satisfactions surveys for April – October 2015 showed that 
applicants are overall 75% satisfied with the Planning Service 
 

643 surveys were sent to applicants who had received a planning decision between the 1st of April 2015 and 
the 31st of October 2015 : 52 surveys were completed (8%) 
4 questions were asked in regards to helpfulness, use of time, use of information and clarity of decision 
 

Overall satisfaction rating of 75% from agents 
 
Highest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to clarity of decision – 85% 
 
Lowest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to use of peoples time – 37% 
 
 

Some mixed comments received including: 
 
•The Officer was incredibly polite and very thorough 
•On very simple domestic cases I do wonder if the process could be a bit faster - though ours was finalised 
within the 8 week timescale so I'm not complaining 
•Try to get more things online so the process can be tracked with estimated dates for various stages to be 
completed. 
•It is hard to understand what is allowed and what isn't allowed, and the extent to which the allowable is 
predictable and quantifiable or a matter of local habits and tastes. 
 

43% 

32% 

6% 

19% 

Very Satisfied 

Satisfied 

Not satisfied 

Very Dissatisfied 

P
age 133



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Customer satisfactions surveys for April – October 2015 showed that 
neighbours are overall 59% satisfied with the Planning Service 
 

2087 surveys were sent to neighbours who had commented on a planning application, which had been  
decided between the 1st of April 2015 and the 31st of October 2015 : 240 surveys were completed (11%) 
4 questions were asked in regards to helpfulness, use of time, use of information and clarity of decision 
 

Overall satisfaction rating of 59% from 
neighbours 
 
Highest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to use of information – 68% 
 
Lowest scoring question from agents was in 
relation to use of peoples time – 48% 
 
 Some mixed comments received including: 

 
•I think the planning dept. could engage a lot more with those people who take an interest in these 
applications 
•Please keep up the good work, I hope my comments don't come across as too negative they are meant to 
be constructive comments on what I'm sure is a difficult area to work in 
•Communicate your decisions and reasons through social media ie Twitter 
•I was extremely impressed with how this case was handled and how professional your officers were 
considering they are so very busy. 
 

19% 

40% 

19% 

22% 

Very Satisfied 

Satisfied 

Not satisfied 

Very Dissatisfied 

P
age 134



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Workforce / Caseloads 

•Caseload (average number of applications on hand per officer by quarter) 
 

P
age 135



Corporate Delivery Unit 
 

Caseload (average number of applications on hand per officer by quarter) 
Target: Not set Current performance: average of 65 cases for each of the 12 member of staff 

Caseloads continue to rise 
and the number of on-hand 
applications also continues 
to rise. Resources brought in 
to deal with backlog have 
been used to deal with the 
rising number of 
applications 

Q1 2015/16 saw a return to the highest caseload levels seen since 
2013/14. The increase in planning officer caseload over the last 
three quarters mirrors the increase in applications.  

This is a crude measure of 
caseloads, calculated as 
follow: 
On hand (PSOs, Majors, 
Minors, Others) / FTE Case 
officers, this does not 
include the pre-application 
caseload, enquiries and 
appeals 

56 

44 
43 

52 

65 65 

53 

58 

65 

76 

8 9 
12 12 11 11 11 12 10 11 

0 

10 

20 

30 

40 

50 

60 

70 

80 

90 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

2013 / 2014 2014 / 2015 2015 / 2016 

P
age 136



0 

200 

400 

600 

800 

1000 

1200 

1400 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Withdrawn 

Determined 

Received 

‘Withdrawn’ includes 
applications dealt with under 
the finally disposed of 
procedure  

A healthy ratio would be the 
number on hand at the end of the 
quarter being about half of the 
applications received.   

Applications received, determined and withdrawn per quarter  

Over the last two quarters there has been a return to receiving more 
applications than are determined. Applications on hand at the end of quarter 
have increased over the last three quarters. 

Numbers on hand include majors, 
minors, others and PSO’s only.  Q3 
of 2014/15 saw more applications 
determined than received so that 
the number of cases on hand had 
started to fall but it has risen again in 
quarter 4 and again in quarter 1 

A large volume of Majors / Minors / Others / 
PS0 applications were cleared as ‘Not 
Determined’ during Q2 of 2012/13 to clear 
backlog.  Backlog started to grow again in Q1 
and Q2  of 2014/15. 

821 
915 

549 
483 

343 
444 

397 

512 
618 

713 718 

581 

695 
783 

839 

0 
100 
200 
300 
400 
500 
600 
700 
800 
900 

1000 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

2011 / 
2012 

2012/13 2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 

Applications on hand at end of quarter 

P
age 137



T
his page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING APPEALS REPORT  

A Review of Appeal Decisions Received April 2015 – December 2015  

1.0 Purpose of Report 

1.1 This report examines how planning decisions made by the Council at both a 

delegated and committee level stand up against appeals and identifies what 

lessons can be learnt.  A planning decision may be overturned via an appeal 

which is usually decided by the Planning Inspectorate, (the executive agency 

of the Department for Communities and Local Government). Both delegated 

and committee decisions can be overturned via this process. A very small 

percentage are also decided by the Secretary of State, these tend to be the 

very large or contentious proposals.  

1.2 This report examined appeal decisions received between April 2015 and 

December 2015. Whilst the appeal decisions were received during this period, 

some of the applications were submitted to the council for consideration from 

2013 onwards. 

2.0 Types of Appeals  

2.1 There are 3 procedures that an appeal can follow, written representations, a 
hearing or an inquiry.  Nearly all appeals are decided by the Planning 
Inspectorate via the written representations procedure. A very small 
percentage are decided by the Secretary of State, these tend to be the very 
large or contentious proposals. When refusing an application, the local 
planning authority should consider carefully whether it has a sufficiently strong 
case, capable of being argued at appeal, on the basis of the material before it. 

 
Written Representations 
 
2.2 With this procedure the Inspector considers written evidence from the 

appellant, the Local Planning Authority and anyone else who has an interest 
in the appeal. The planning issues associated with this type of appeal are 
usually less complex. Householder appeal are heard through a specific written 
representation procedure and there is no option to submit further information 
by either the Council or third parties.  

 
Hearing 
 
2.3 Planning hearings are an effective way of presenting planning arguments to 

an Inspector in person, without the more formal atmosphere of an Inquiry. 
They also allow the inspector to examine important issues in depth by asking 
questions of the parties involved. Hearings are usually completed in one day 
or less, so they are suitable for relatively straightforward appeals and those 
where there is little or no public interest. However, local residents may go to 
the hearing and give their views to the inspector. 

 

Page 139



Inquiry 
 
2.4 Around 5% of the planning appeal & other casework the Planning 

Inspectorate deals with is conducted through a Public Inquiry. An Inquiry is 
open to the public and provides for the investigation into, and formal testing 
of, evidence, usually through the questioning (“cross examination) of expert 
witnesses and other witnesses. Parties may be formally represented by 
advocates. The site may be visited before, during or after the inquiry. 
Statutory parties are entitled to participate in an inquiry. Interested parties can 
attend and may participate in an inquiry at the discretion of the Inspector. 

 
3.0 The Awarding of Costs 

3.1 Where the council is considered to have behaved unreasonably, and this has 

directly caused another party to incur unnecessary or wasted expense in the 

appeal process, they may be subject to an award of costs. 

3.2 The aim of the costs regime is to: 

 encourage all those involved in the appeal process to behave in a 

reasonable way and follow good practice, both in terms of timeliness and 

in the presentation of full and detailed evidence to support their case 

 encourage local planning authorities to properly exercise their 

development management responsibilities, to rely only on reasons for 

refusal which stand up to scrutiny on the planning merits of the case, not 

to add to development costs through avoidable delay, 

 discourage unnecessary appeals by encouraging all parties to consider a 

revised planning application which meets reasonable local objections. 

3.3 Partial costs have been awarded against the Council in the Hollybank Appeal 

in relation to the transport reason for refusal. The developer has submitted a 

costs schedule of £12,000 which the Council is currently considering. 

4.0 Making Decisions - Reasons for Refusal 

4.1 All reasons for refusal should be clear and comprehensive and if the elected 

members’ decision differs from that recommended by their planning officers it 

is essential that their reasons for doing so are similarly clear and 

comprehensive. Clear reasons for refusal will help continued discussions and 

may mean that an agreement can be made without the need for an appeal.  

However, should an applicant appeal the reason for refusal will need to be 

clear and strong enough to stand up to the scrutiny of the planning inspector. 

 

 

5.0 Haringey’s Performance in relation to Appeals 

Page 140



5.1 Between April 2015 and December 2015, 114 planning appeals were decided.  

Of these, 29 Appeals were allowed (25.4 % of total) and the council’s decision 

overturned. Of these decisions 5 were Committee Decisions, with the 

remainder decided under delegated powers. The majority of these 

applications were either minor or householder applications. 

Table 1: Planning Appeals April 2015 to December 2015 by decision 

Total 
Dismissed 

% of Total  Total 
Allowed 

% of Total Total 
Split 

% of Total  

76 66.6666667 29 25.438596 4 3.50877193 

 

Total Not 
Determined 

% of 
Total 

Total 
Withdrawn 

% of Total Total 
Deferred 

% of Total 

1 0.877193 3 2.631578947 1 0.87719298 

 

5.2 The tables above illustrate that of the appeals made to the Planning 

Inspectorate 79 (67%) were dismissed and the Council’s decision upheld.  

Approximately 5 cases 4.4% were either withdrawn, not determined or 

deferred. An Addition 4 (3.5%) were split decisions where aspects of the 

appeal were decided in the council’s favour and others in the appellants.  

6.0 Committee Decisions 

6.1 Of the 29 decisions overturned by the Planning Inspectorate 4 were decisions 

taken by the Planning Committee against the recommendation of Planning 

Officers. These sites are as follows: 

 2 Wakefield Road, N15 (HGY/2014/1173) Demolition of existing building 

providing a 6 bedroom HMO (house in multiple occupation) and erection of 

a new building to provide 7 flats 3x1, 3x2 and 1x3 bed with amenity space, 

communal amenity space and covered cycle storage and refuse storage. 

Reason for refusal- overdevelopment, substandard accommodation sizes 

and level of amenity space 

 

 The Alexandra, 98, Fortis Green, N2 (HGY/2014/1543) Conversion of 

Public House with ancillary accommodation above to provide 2 x 3 bed 

single family dwellings. Reason for refusal- damaging to the value and 

significance of this heritage asset, and would cause harm to the character, 

identity and distinctiveness of Fortis Green Conservation Area. 

 

 Holly Bank Cottage, Holly Bank, N10 (HGY/2013/2606) Demolition of 32 

garages and Holly Bank Cottage and construction of 6 x 2 storey dwellings 

comprising 1 x 4 bed and 5 x 3 bed units, car parking and associated 

Page 141



landscaping. Reason for refusal- impact on conservation area, highway 

safety, substandard room size and lack of affordable housing contribution.  

 

 The Nightingale, 40, Nightingale Lane, N8 (HGY/2014/0091) Variation of 

condition 2 (plans) attached to planning permission HGY/2012/1258 to 

increase the number of units from 7 to 9. Reason for refusal- overlooking, 

density, traffic. 

6.2 Examination of the cases reveals a number of themes which are consistent 

across many of the appeals allowed.  With regard to conservation areas, the 

inspector concluded that the proposed developments at 2 Wakefield Road, 

and Hollybank Cottage would ‘harmonise’ and ‘assimilate’ with their 

respective surroundings. The interventions were seen as less than significant 

and as such preserved the character and appearance of the conservation 

areas. 

6.3 In relation to the Alexandra Public House, whilst recognising the buildings 

contribution to the conservation area, the inspector gave significant weight to 

the fact that the building was neither listed nor locally listed and that a request 

to English Heritage for its inclusion on the register had been denied. The 

inspector also noted that the site was not formally designated as an ‘Asset of 

Community Value’ and no clear evidence was submitted to demonstrate how 

the development would negatively impact the local community. As such, 

limited weigh was given to this objection. 

6.4 In terms of living space and the quality of accommodation, the inspector 

clearly noted that slight shortfalls in minimum space standards are not enough 

to warrant a refusal, particularly where this is offset in other areas of the 

proposal.  The provision and access to communal space was considered, for 

example, to offset the lack of private balconies for two units within the 

proposed development at No 2 Wakefield Road. 

6.5 In the case of Holly Bank Cottage, a condition requiring compliance with Level 

4 of the Code for Sustainable Homes was considered unreasonable since a 

Written Ministerial Statement has confirmed the code is no longer mandatory. 

Within the same decision, the inspector also clarified that due to the West 

Berkshire Judgement, contributions for off-site affordable housing from 

smaller developments can be sought. 

7.0 Delegated Decisions. 

7.1 A number of similarities have been identified across the allowed appeals.  In 

terms of the impact of developments on the amenity of neighbouring 

properties, in several cases inspectors acknowledged some harm to 

neighbours but considered this not ‘significant’ enough warrant a refusal.  

Specifically, in terms of overlooking, the inspector clarifies that a degree of 

Page 142



inter-visibility between properties is common and acceptable within an urban 

context. Screening options including boundary fencing and planting were 

recognised as acceptable mitigation methods. The inspector also asked for 

specific properties to be named where harm caused would be significant. 

7.2 In terms of conservation areas, high quality, contemporary design was 

recognised as justification for the loss of an original property at No18 

Stormont Road. Inspectors have stated the importance of assessing the 

impact on the conservation area as a whole and not just the immediate 

locality. The architectural diversity of the surroundings was also given weight 

with the overall impact of a development given weight as opposed to specific 

details. 

7.3 In terms of the impact of additional parking pressures inspectors have 

dismissed decisions given a lack of specific evidence given to back up 

objections from the council.  In addition, the remote operation of taxis was 

given considerable weight within an appeal to the rear of Nos734-744 

Lordship Lane for the operation of a min cab office. Conditions imposed 

regarding a limit to vehicles permitted on the site were seen as sufficient to 

warrant approval of this application. 

7.4 The lack of up-to-date surveys of Town Centre A1 (retail) occupancy levels 

was indentified within an appeal at No224 Muswell Hill Broadway where the 

inspector was presented with an alternative survey to the council’s 2012 

figures.  Thus, an update of statistics is required in order to implement saved 

UDP Policy TCR3 which states that ‘proposals to change the use from 

existing Class A1 retail will be allowed provided that, where appropriate as a 

general guideline, the resulting proportion of A1 units  does not fall below 65% 

in the primary frontage’ 

7.5 Two major applications have been subject to appeal.  Land at Plevna 

Crescent & Ermine Road N15, was refused under delegated powers and a 

split decision was awarded at appeal.  No42 residential units at Plevna 

Crescent were allowed.  The inspector states that this aspect of the proposal 

would enhance the site and SINC overall and would improve access to nature 

for local residents.  The significant benefits of affordable housing were also 

recognised. No53 dwellings at Ermine Road were dismissed with the 

inspector recognising the harm the development would cause to the 

implementation of Crossrail 2. 

 

8.0  Summary  

8.1 Between April 2015 and December 2015, the council received the decisions 

of 114 planning appeals.  Of these, 29 Appeals were allowed (25.4 % of total) 

Page 143



and the council’s decision overturned. Of these decisions 5 were Committee 

Decisions, with the remainder decided under delegated powers. The majority 

of these applications were either minor or householder applications. Of the 

remaining applications 79 (67%) were dismissed and the Council’s decision 

upheld.  Approximately 5 cases 4.4% were either withdrawn, not determined 

or deferred. An additional 4 (3.5%) were split decisions where aspects of the 

appeal were decided in the council’s favour and others in the appellants.  

 

Gareth Prosser, Deputy Team Leader December 2015 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 144



 

 

APPENDIX 

The results of appeals for this period are laid out below by application type.  

Table 1:  Major Applications 

Majors  (2)  

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn  Split 

1 0 0 1 

 

Table 2:  Minor Applications 

Minors 43 

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn Split Not Determined Deferred 

11 28 0 2 1 1 

 

Table 3:  Other Applications 

Others 13 

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn Split 

5 6 2 0 

 

Table 4:  PS0 Applications  

PS0 13 

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn Split 

2 10 1 0 

 

Table 5:  Householders 

Householders 43 

Allowed Dismissed Withdrawn Split 

10 32 0 1 

 

 

 

 

Page 145



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	5 Wood Green Investment Framework & Area Action Plan: Broad Options for Regulation 18 Consultation
	WG IF AAP consultation plan
	Wood Green Area Action Plan Issues and Options Report

	6 Planning Services 2015 review
	November Regulatory committee
	APPEALS REPORT regulatory january


